
Corporate Parenting Board
Date: Thursday, 14 November 2019
Time: 2.30 pm
Venue: Committee Room 2, County Hall, Dorchester, 

DT1 1XJ
Membership: (Quorum 3) 
Toni Coombs (Chairman), Richard Biggs (Vice-Chairman), Ryan Holloway, Stella Jones, 
Andrew Kerby, Cathy Lugg, Andrew Parry and Elaine Okopski

Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, South Walks House, South Walks Road, 
Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1UZ (Sat Nav DT1 1EE)

For more information about this agenda please contact Liz Eaton, Democratic 
Services Officer  Tel: 01305 225113 - liz.eaton@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

For easy access to the Council agendas and minutes download the free 
public app Mod.gov for use on your iPad, Android and Windows tablet. Once 
downloaded select Dorset Council.

 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting with the exception of any items 
listed in the exempt part of this agenda. Please note that if you attend a committee 
meeting and are invited to make oral representations your name, together with a summary 
of your comments will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.  Please refer to the 
guide to public participation at committee meetings for more information about speaking at 
meetings. 

There is a Hearing Loop Induction System available for public use on request.  Please 
speak to a Democratic Services Officer for assistance in using this facility.

Recording, photographing and using social media at meetings

Dorset Council is committed to being open and transparent in the way it carries out its 
business whenever possible.  Anyone can film, audio-record, take photographs, and use 
social media such as tweeting and blogging to report the meeting when it is open to the 
public, so long as they conform to the Protocol for filming and audio recording of public 
council meetings.

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A
Page No.

1  APOLOGIES

To receive any apologies for absence.

2  MINUTES 5 - 16

To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 4 September 
2019.

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any Declarations of Interest.

4  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

To receive any questions or statements on the business of the 
Committee from Town and Parish Councils and members of the public.

5  URGENT ITEMS

To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) b) 
of the Local Government Act 1972.  The reason for the urgency shall 
be recorded in the minutes.

6  QUALITY ASSURANCE  AND AUDIT UPDATE REPORT - 2.45 PM 17 - 32

To consider the report by the Executive Director of People – Children.

7  IRO ANNUAL REPORT - 2.55 PM 33 - 50

To receive a report from the Executive Director of People – Children.

8  ASPIRE ADOPTION AGENCY ANNUAL REPORT - 3.10 PM 51 - 88

To receive the Annual Report by Aspire Adoption Agency.



9  CCG ANNUAL REPORT INCLUDING EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING - 3.25 PM

89 - 144

To consider the CCG Annual Report and view a short film on 
Emotional Health.

10  ANNUAL COMPLAINTS UPDATE - PEOPLE CHILDREN - 3.50 PM 145 - 162

To consider a report by the Corporate Director, Legal and Democratic.

11  FOSTERING SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT - 4.05 PM 163 - 178

To receive a report from the Executive Director of People – Children.

12  UNREGULATED PLACEMENTS UPDATE - 4.15 PM 179 - 188

To receive a report from the Executive Director of People – Children.

13  VERBAL UPDATE ON URGENT REVIEW TO ENSURE EHCP'S 
ARE DELIVERED - 4.25 PM

To receive a verbal update from officers.

14  VERBAL UPDATE ON MEASURING OF "ANY OTHER REASON 21" 
- 4.30 PM

To receive a verbal update from officers.

15  EXEMPT

To consider passing the following resolution:

To agree that in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 to exclude the public from the meeting in relation to the business 
specified in items 16 and 17 because it is likely that if members of the public 
were present, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as 
defined in the paragraphs detailed below of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act 
and the public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information to the public.

16  JOINT HEALTH AND DORSET COUNCIL BRIEFING REPORT - 4.35 
PM

189 - 202

To receive a joint report from the Designated Nurse for Looked after 
Children and the Executive Director of People – Children.



17  CLICC - REVIEW OF SATISFACTION SURVEY AND RECEIVE 4 
CHALLENGE CARDS - 4.40 PM (REQUIRE APPROX 20 MINS)

203 - 230

To consider the Satisfaction Survey and make comment on the 
Challenge Cards.



DORSET COUNCIL - CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON WEDNESDAY 4 SEPTEMBER 2019

Present: Cllrs Toni Coombs (Chairman), Richard Biggs (Vice-Chairman), 
Ryan Holloway, Stella Jones, Andrew Kerby, Cathy Lugg and Andrew Parry

Apologies: Antonia Dixey (Chief Executive, Participation People), Lynn Giles 
(Dorset Advocacy and Independent Visitors Service) and Jan Hill (Foster Carer) 

Also present: Cllr Pauline Batstone, Chairman of the Council and Theresa Leavy 
(External Consultant)

Officers present (for all or part of the meeting):
Maggie Aldwell (Service Manager, Care and Protection), David Alderson (Senior 
Advisor, Schools and Learning Service), Mark Blackman (Assistant Director - 
Schools and Learning), Stuart Dawson (Head of Revenues and Benefit), Karen 
Elliott (Designated Safeguarding Manager), Madeleine Hall (Corporate Parenting 
Officer), Ann Haigh (Participation Worker, Participation People), Tanya Hamilton-
Fletcher (Service Manager Care & Support), Martin Hill (Foster Carer), Gerri 
Kemp (Senior Manager, Schools and Learning Service), Elaine Okopski (Dorset 
Parent Carer Council), Sarah Parker (Executive Director of People - Children), 
Stuart Riddle (Senior Manager), Mary Taylor (Acting Assistant Director for Care 
and Protection) and Liz Eaton (Democratic Services Officer)

22.  Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 15 July 2019 were confirmed and signed.

23.  Matters Arising

Minute 16 – Children’s Placements – Use of Unregulated Placements – 
Progress Report on Action Taken
One member referred to the visit to the caretaker’s bungalow in Wimborne 
and confirmed the facility was in a good area, comfortable and hoped it would 
become a regulated placement.

Minute 17 – Looked After Health Briefing Update – Escalation of Performance 
of initial Health Assessments – Quarter 4 and Initial Health Assessments
The Chairman read out an email correspondence from Penny Earney the 
Designated Nurse for Looked After Children explaining the scoping exercise 
for a new IHA Paediatric model to provide a service outside school would take 
considerable time.  This would commence in September and take 
approximately four months to complete.  For this reason she requested the 
time frame be rescheduled.

It was noted the time frame had been rescheduled as minuted.

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



2

24.  Declarations of Interest

No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest were made at the meeting.

25.  Public Participation

There were no public questions or statements received at the meeting.

26.  Audit Report

The Corporate Parenting Board considered a report by the Executive Director 
of People – Children on Audit of Looked After Children and Children who are 
Disabled Case Files.

The Chairman confirmed it was good to see that things were improving and 
that officers were understanding things more but commented that there did 
not seem to be information about what action was being taken.  The 
Executive Director of People – Children confirmed there had been a 
significant improvement in the audit process and a new process for audits 
going forward had been scoped which would, in the future, include members 
of Corporate Parenting Board enabling Corporate Parents to have a thorough 
understanding of the work carried out with young people and can discuss the 
challenges they have.  Audit reports would be brought to future meetings of 
the Board and there would be an audit week where auditors could meet 
officers and speak with young people and foster carers in a proactive way.  

One member asked whether the figures in table 3 were national figures.  The 
Designated Safeguarding Manager confirmed the audits were carried out by 
managers who looked at Ofsted definitions to decide where they thought the 
judgements should be.  Reference was made to the inadequate ratings and 
whether they were sporadic or in specific teams.  The Designated 
Safeguarding Manager confirmed they were fairly sporadic and explained the 
procedure for reporting those judgements to ensure improvements could be 
made.

The Chairman asked if there were any trends showing in the type of 
inadequate judgements.  No trends were being found but the quality of 
supervision was important.

Resolved
That the Designated Safeguarding Manager produce a detailed report for 
consideration at the Board meeting on 9 October 2019.

27.  Performance Progress - Service Development

The Corporate Parenting Board considered a report by the Executive Director 
of People – Children on Performance Progress – Service Improvement.

A brief update was given on the Blueprint for change which was well on the 
way to completion.  It was hoped the new structure would be shared with staff 

Page 6



3

week beginning 9 September 2019 to be followed by formal consultation with 
a view to the new service across the whole of the Directorate being 
implemented next year.  The Executive Director of People – Children 
explained she would be visiting the Children in Care Council on 5 September 
2019 to discuss with them to ensure they would be happy with the changes 
that were going to be implemented.

Members enquired if there was still a shortage of Social Workers in the 
Dorchester area and queried that the Blueprint for Change was another 
restructure on top of recent restructures.  Officers explained there were still 
some agency staff working in the west area but it was hoped permanent staff 
would be recruited and that the restructure would entice people to apply for 
social work positions.  The restructure was taking longer than LGR but one 
positive was that staff were involved in the restructure and Youth Workers 
were back in the structure.

One member thought New Belongings sounded a little like a good news story.  
Officers explained new belongings was developed by Coram Voice who would 
develop a model for care leavers and an action plan for young people.

The Chairman felt this would feed into a future report on how well the 
Corporate Parenting Board were doing.  She asked what the timescale was 
for New Belongings.  Officers confirmed they had just started having 
discussions with Coram Voice regarding how this would work in Dorset.

Noted  

28.  Children in Care and Care Leavers Performance Overview - Quarterly 
report

The Corporate Parenting Board considered a report by the Executive Director 
of People – Children on Children in Care and Care Leavers Performance 
Overview.

Officers informed the Board they had recently had a meeting with a 
representative from Housing, Communities and Local Government.  With 
regard to rough sleeping, interviews had been held for a post that would 
ensure care leavers were living in suitable accommodation.  At present there 
were 26 care leavers attending university with a PA supporting those young 
people.  Not all young people went to university at 18 some were aged 20 and 
21 with support being provided to them all.  

Officers were working with care leavers and piloting a new SMS Text which 
would be rolled out soon.  Officers  were hoping to promote this service by 
working with Friends of Care Leavers, a separate charitable group, as there 
was a requirement to keep in touch with care leavers at least 6 times a year.  
Officers confirmed the Council had a statutory requirement to keep in touch 
up to the age of 21 but did offer support for 21 to 25 year olds.

Page 7



4

Members questioned the threshold for suitable accommodation and asked 
what the category “Any Other Reason” meant.  Officers explained that “Any 
Other Reason” would have to be looked at again to find out what they were as 
33 had transferred to BCP.  They would come back to the Board with that 
information.

The Chairman referred to the number of young people who were NEET and 
the figure was almost double from last year which was worrying.  Officers 
confirmed this area required improvement and were hoping young people 
would be encouraged into employment or training.  The Council needed to 
improve on the roles and apprenticeships for young people, they should be 
actively encouraged to take up employment with the Council.

The Virtual School Head mentioned that in relation to work the Virtual School 
was supporting and funding a sixth form co-ordinator and programme called 
“Whatever’s Next”, where young people can be guided in specific 
departments, for example park rangers etc they were also linking with other 
providers of apprenticeships and work experience to ensure appropriate 
matches were made.

Resolved
That officers provide the Board with information on “Any Other Reason” 21, 
page 34 of the report and whether the figure referred to the number of young 
people that had left.  The information to be provided at the next meeting of the 
Board on 9 October 2019.

29.  SEND Service Annual Report

The Corporate Parenting Board considered a report by the Corporate Director 
for Schools and Learning on SEND Annual Report.

Officers informed the Board the number of SEND Looked After Children was 
around the national average although the service was seeing a demand in 
EHCP’s and delivering joint planning and training was an area of focus.  The 
report gave an overview of wider developments and referenced the joint 
SEND strategy which showed the number of Dorset EHCP’s and that 93% 
had been completed within the statutory 20 weeks.

The Chairman mentioned receiving the report was timely as the report from 
the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s investigation into a 
complaint had just been published.  She referred to paragraph 82 where the 
Ombudsman concluded the Council had failed repeatedly to issue EHCP’s 
and asked how things would progress going forward.

Officers confirmed they would be looking very carefully at the Ombudsman’s 
report and ensure the practice and procedures fit in really well in terms of 
outcomes for children and Looked After Children. The report related to 
recurring problems and related to young people out of mainstream education.  
The challenge the Directorate had in terms of restructure was that there was 
an increasing number of complex children that should be in a place where 
they might learn and the Council did not have that type of placement.

Page 8



5

One member referred to Appendix A the distribution of EHCPs for Looked 
After Children across the Key Stages – July 2019 and mentioned that for 
Foundation, KS1 the numbers were fairly low compared with post 16 and 
suggested that the council must know who the young children were likely to 
be before they reached education age.  He also asked whether the 
relationship with Public Health was better.  The Virtual School Head 
responded that early screening of young people coming into school in 
reception and year one was happening in conjunction with the SEN team 
Education Psychologists to see what their needs were to ensure there was 
early intervention, screening then took place on a yearly basis.  Officers were 
working with pre-school providers to ensure screening took place as early as 
possible.  The working relationship with Public Health was very efficient.

One member mentioned one of the best ways to achieve a good education 
was to ensure the children stayed in the same school rather than changing 
schools and asked if that happened. The Executive Director of People – 
Children confirmed that officers spent a lot of time ensuring the children 
stayed in schools.

In answer to a question relating to SEND children outside of the Dorset area 
being further disadvantaged.  The Virtual School Head mentioned a From a 
Distance Ofsted report published in 2012/13 gave priority to children living out 
of county to ensure they remained in constant education.  The SENCO made 
sure there was liaison with out of county professionals and ensured any 
screening took place as quickly as possible.

The Portfolio Holder for Children, Education and Early Help asked for a 
separate briefing meeting to be arranged to include the Chairman, to 
understand where there was a policy issue.  The Virtual School Head 
undertook to arrange the meeting to be held during the middle of October 
2019.

The Chairman mentioned the report referred to what was needed to be done 
and enquired about the budgetary impact.  The Corporate Director for Schools 
and Learning referred to the chart on page 52 of the report and confirmed the 
service was demand led and there were no additional funds.  The number of 
children requiring an EHCP was going to increase and the service would need 
more resource but in reality the service required another £10m per year to 
start to address historic deficits that had grown.  The recent 7% increase in 
funding helped.

The Chairman asked what was the effect of the high needs block.  The 
Corporate Director for Schools confirmed that this block of money was being 
stretched in excess of £5m yearly.  The pressure comes partly from high 
numbers of looked after children in specialist placements where they have an 
Education and Health Care Plan (EHCP). This pressure is being seen by 
other counties nationally. The number of EHCPs is increasing and further 
national government resource is needed to fill the deficit. 

Page 9



6

One member asked what the NHS were doing to support Looked After 
Children.  The Executive Director of People – Children mentioned there was a 
significant onus on local government, it was a challenge for local authorities 
and the Council was in negotiations with the CCG regarding some local plans.  
The Corporate Parenting Officer stated there was a corporate parenting duty 
for the Council’s health partners to work with the Council and members could 
assist in reminding them of their duty when they were in contact with them.

Members wanted to ensure there was a focus within each year group on 
youngsters with an EHCP and whether going forward social workers should 
be alerted and considered the Virtual School Head carry out an urgent review 
to ensure EHCP’s were being delivered.

Resolved
1. That the Virtual School Head arrange a meeting with the Chairman, 
Portfolio Holder for Children, Education and Early Help and relevant officers to 
discuss where there was a policy issue during the middle of October 2019.
2. That the Virtual School Head undertake an urgent review to ensure 
EHCP’s were being delivered and report back to the Board at its meeting on 
the 14 November 2019. 

30.  MASH Update

The Corporate Parenting Board considered a report by the Executive Director 
of People – Children on MASH Update.

Officers informed the Board that they had been working with Professor David 
Thorpe from Lancaster University and his team to develop and implement his 
‘front door’ model which did away with written referrals that did not provide all 
the information or  provided information that was very sterile and officers had 
to make decisions on that written information.  The model was based on a 
much more questioning style of referral looking at what children required and 
what service should be best to meet that requirement, and creating a much 
more consultative and advice style of service.  There would be no change in 
families wishing to contact the Council.  The information was looked at by 
numerous people at the ‘front door’ and when a professional telephoned they 
would be put through to a social worker.  It was hoped  re-referral rates would 
be reduced and ensure the family were supported by people who knew best.  
The other benefit would be to free-up social workers’ time and reduce their 
case loads.  This would reduce children coming into care and those requiring 
child protection plans and was a positive change on how officers received and 
made decisions.

The Chairman asked how long it would take.  Officers confirmed there were 
two distinct benefits to the system the first was support and help and advice to 
partner agencies, the other was to free up social work staff so that they could 
work effectively with families and commit to working with the families and 
working with children to effect changes.

One member asked if they would still keep notes on conversations.  Officers 
confirmed that when receiving phone calls they would still be recorded on the 

Page 10



7

system but as professionals they would write to whoever had called on what 
they thought had been discussed.

The Chairman asked that the Board receive an update on the model and 
suggested an update in 6 months’ time from October 2019 and she confirmed 
she would like to arrange a visit to see how this worked.  Officers confirmed 
they would invite CPB members to visit the model at the beginning of 
November 2019.

Resolved
1. That officers provide the Corporate Parenting Board with an update 
report at their meeting in 6 months’ time on the 23 April 2020.
2. That officers arrange for members of the Corporate Parenting 
Board to visit the MASH at the beginning of November 2019.

31.  Child Exploitation and Missing Children

The Corporate Parenting Board considered a report by the Executive Director 
of People – Children on Child Exploitation and Missing Children.

Officers informed the Board that significant progress had been made since the 
last report presented to the Board, an exploitation toolkit had been 
implemented which was multi-agency and all practitioners could use.  There 
had been a Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) risk assessment in Dorset for a 
long time which worked very well but did not include county lines.  This newer 
toolkit was an adaptation of CSE assessment and looked at CSE, 
radicalisation, trafficking, slavery, sexual exploitation or criminal exploitation.  
A multi-agency audit had been carried out which showed that risks missed 
previously were now being picked up and where progress had not been made 
this could now be seen in a way that could not before. Where problems were 
in schools, measures could now be put in place in those particular schools.  
Officers were also educating families to ensure they stayed safe.

One member asked what could be done to ensure children, especially out of 
area children, received return to home interviews.  Officers mentioned these 
were the most vulnerable children and it was a difficult task to be able to work 
with them.  Young people needed to be spoken to quickly by someone 
independent of the care system and officers were looking to see if they could 
commission someone to conduct the interview and ensure there was nothing 
wrong in the placement that made a young person run.

Martin Hill, Foster Carer gave an example of a young girl they looked after for 
a week on respite who had run away a couple of times so that she could 
contact her boyfriend.  The social worker was very good at putting her at ease 
and any information gathered and collected was shared with the foster carers.  
Officers mentioned there were 2 dedicated workers carrying out these 
interviews and feeding information back to carers and social workers so that 
the risk of running away was reduced.  An RHI report was completed every 
time a young person went missing and a CSE screening tool was carried out 
to ensure no risk of exploitation had taken place.  There was still concern at 

Page 11



8

the high rate of declines for an RHI and officers would need to be more robust 
in engaging people at the right time.

The Chairman requested that this be monitored and a further update report on 
progress be presented to the Board in a few months’ time.

Resolved
That officers provide the Board with an update report on progress in a few 
months’ time at the meeting being held on 9 December 2019.

32.  Council Tax - Support for Care Leavers

The Corporate Parenting Board considered a report by the Executive Director 
of People – Children on Council Tax – Support for Care Leavers.

Officers informed the Board there had been a longstanding campaign from the 
Children’s Society to urge local authorities to exempt young people from 
Council Tax as generally they were more likely to get into financial problems 
than the rest of the population.  In terms of what had happened since the 
campaign started, Council Tax was exempt for young people living in 
Scotland and Wales, 102 local authorities, both unitary and two tier 
authorities, in England had adopted the approach.  Officers recommended 
that the Council should apply the discount to care leavers as set out in the 
report.

Members were hugely supportive of the report and felt that educating young 
people around financial matters should start very early.

A general discussion on the process of implementing the proposal took place.

One member was concerned that the financial calculations had been based 
on a Band D property as he did not think that care leavers would be living in a 
Band D property.

The Head of Revenue and Benefits commented that was the worse case 
scenario and would be part of further work to be undertaken so that the 
Council could make the final decision before March 2020.

The Chairman thought the report ought to go to Cabinet in January 2020 and 
commented on the recommendations in the report as follows:

Recommendation (a) those under our Corporate Parenting responsibility.  Did 
the Board feel this should be Dorset Care Leavers or did the Board 
recommend it would be for everyone who was a Care Leaver in Dorset 
regardless of what their authority  provided for them.  They may have come 
from another authority living as a Care Leaver in Dorset, whose responsibility 
would they be in terms of this discount.  The Head of Revenues and Benefits 
considered if the Council opened the discount to all Care Leavers living in 
Dorset, the Council would not necessarily know that a Care Leaver had 
moved from another authority.  The Corporate Parenting Officer confirmed 
that all local authorities had the opportunity to introduce the scheme and the 

Page 12



9

proposal should be for Dorset Care Leavers only.  The Corporate Parenting 
Board agreed with this suggestion.

Recommendation (b) and (c) the Board agreed as set out in the report, 
although one member asked what happened if there was a dispute over a 
Care Leaver’s age.  It was explained that age assessments were completed if 
there was ambiguity.

Recommendation (d) one member thought this might encourage Care 
Leavers to get in touch.

Recommendation (e) the Board agreed, although the Chairman considered 
that where the Care Leaver lived in shared accommodation, they must pay 
their individual Council Tax.

The Chairman asked officers to amend the recommendations appropriately 
and to provide a more realistic estimate of the cost.  She asked for a report to 
go to Cabinet as soon as possible with clearance from the Executive Director 
of People – Children and the Lead Member.
Resolved 
1. That Recommendation (a) should apply to all Dorset Care Leavers.
2. That Recommendations (b), (c) and (d) as set out in the report were 
agreed. 
3. That Recommendation (e) as set out in the report was agreed but 
ensure where the care leaver lived in shared accommodation they paid their 
individual Council Tax.
4. That officers amend the recommendations in the report 
appropriately and provide a more accurate estimate of the cost so that 
Cabinet would approve the agreement. The report to be presented to Cabinet 
as soon as possible with clearance from the Executive Director of People – 
Children and the Lead Member.

33.  Urgent Items

There were no urgent items for consideration.

34.  Unregistered Placements Update

The Corporate Parenting Board considered a report by the Executive Director 
of People – Children on Unregistered Placements.

Officers had an update to the report - there were now 3 children in 
unregistered placements.  Two of the children are in Dorset Council property 
and one was in a long standing placement.  The Council were in discussions 
to see if they could take over the property and register it, the agency were 
happy to enter into discussions to enable the young person to stay in that 
property.  The Executive Director of People – Children confirmed the courts 
were supporting the young person to stay in the property which was where 
they wanted to stay.  The Council needed to get the other 2 properties 
registered.

Page 13



10

One member mentioned he had visited the young person where great 
progress had been made, the property and neighbourhood were fine.

Officers confirmed they were working with Ofsted to inform them of 
unregulated placements and letting them have information about the providers 
of unregistered provision.  Members of staff were now completing 
independent visits similar to the regulation 44 visits on the quality of the 
placement, staff and how the young people were settling in – these were 
unannounced checks.

One member was concerned about placing young people in unregistered 
accommodation and asked that it should be as suitable as possible for the 
young person.  Officers confirmed the accommodation was suitable.  

One member mentioned that the Fostering Panel had cases of young people 
going into unregistered placements and concern was raised but no one had 
reported back on the placements.  The Acting Assistant Director for Care and 
Protection was happy to have the information and look into the placements.

The Corporate Parenting Officer informed the Board the Chair of the Fostering 
Panel would submit their annual report to the next meeting of the Board in 
October and also be in attendance at that meeting.

Noted 

35.  CLiCC - Responses to challenges considered at the last meeting of 
the Board and the Children in Care and Care Leavers Satisfaction 
Survey 2019

The Corporate Parenting Board received the Responses to Challenges 
considered at the last meeting of the Board and the Children in Care and Care 
Leavers Satisfaction Survey from the Participation Worker of Participation 
People.

The Participation Worker thanked councillors for returning their homework and 
confirmed there was still time for those who had not completed the homework 
to do so as none was being set at this meeting.

The Chairman mentioned that some of the questions were proving very 
difficult to find the answers to and meant they had to ask officers to provide 
the information.

The Participation Worker referred to the Challenge Cards and one of the 
questions relating to ideas about how to recruit to CLiCC, although 4 new 
enquiries had been received since the last meeting.  Question 5 related to the 
manifesto and CLiCC were happy to email the link to members of the Board.  
Question 6 related to the emotions a young person felt when coming into 
care, there were still places on the course “What does it mean to be a child in 
care?” which members could book through NEXUS.

Page 14



11

The Satisfaction Survey would be launched in the second week of October 
and would be tested at the Care Leavers Forum but CLiCC wanted to know:

 Will the data collected help you improve your services?
 Is there anything we haven’t asked that we should ask?
 Are there any questions that you feel strongly about that need changing?

The Acting Assistant Director for Care and Protection mentioned the New 
Belongings survey would be launched in September and would welcome a 
discussion with the Participation Worker to ensure launch dates did not clash 
and they were not both asking the same questions.

The Participation Worker mentioned the young people were really happy that 
they received good responses to the Challenge Cards.  She had sent the 
Challenge Cards out to those who had not attended the forum but had not got 
a response.  With regard to the business cards Version 2 was the one young 
people liked but felt there   had been some resistance to a photo being on the 
business card.  

The Chairman referred to one Challenge Card which asked how would 
Corporate Parenting Board make foster carers more aware of their ability to 
make decisions and referred to their ‘Delegated responsibility’.

One officer confirmed some work was required with the fostering team and 
the Acting Assistant Director for Care and Protection considered that foster 
carers should be able to make those decisions.

Resolved
That the Acting Assistant Director for Care and Protection meet with the 
Participation Worker to ensure launch dates for the New Belongings and 
Satisfaction Survey did not clash and they were not both asking the same 
questions.

Duration of meeting: 2.30  - 5.00 pm

Chairman

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



 
Date of Meeting: 14 November 2019 
 
Lead Member:  Andrew Parry - Lead Member for Children’s Services… 
 
Lead Officer:  Sarah Parker, Executive Director – People Children

Executive Summary: 
 
This paper provides an update and overall conclusion of the Care and Protection 
monthly audit findings for July, August, September and October 2019. It also 
details any other audits, case or service reviews that have taken place within the 
time period. 
 

Equalities Impact Assessment: 
 
There are no equalities implications arising from this report. 

Budget:  
 
There are no budget implications related to this report. 

Risk Assessment:  
 
This paper does not require a Risk Assessment 

Climate implications: 
None  

Other Implications: 
None 

Recommendation: 
Members to actively consider and comment upon the adequacy of the 
plans/actions in section 12 ‘Moving Forward’ to address the audit outcomes. 

Reason for Recommendation: To be assured that the Quality Assurance 
Framework and auditing programme identifies gaps and areas for development 
and will drive learning and service improvement to strengthen outcomes for 
children. 
 

 

Corporate Parenting Board 

July, August, September and October Audit 
Report (quarterly) 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



Page 2  

Appendices:  
Appendix A –  Data tables. 

Background Papers: None 

Officer Contact: 
Name: Karen Elliott, Designated Safeguarding Manager 
Tel:  
Email: Karen.Elliott@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

1. Introduction  
 
1.1. Case audits help identify good practice as well as highlight areas for 

development, improvement and learning. Audits support our continuous 
professional development and contribute to learning across the whole 
organisation. Auditing is a crucial element of case and service 
improvement and identifies where we need to do things differently to 
improve practice. We want to be sure that both the impact of our work and 
the child’s experience is both positive and sustainable. 
 

2. Monthly Audit Process 
 

2.1. The audit template has seven domains with each domain given a score of 
between 1 to 10 by the auditor, with 1 being no evidence found and 10 
where good evidence has been found. The auditor will also make an 
overall judgement at the end of the audit using the Ofsted judgements 
which are: Outstanding, Good, Requires Improvement and Inadequate.  

2.2. The auditor will consider: the child’s voice, the impact of intervention on 
the specific child being audited, whether approaches have been effective 
and if policies and procedures have been followed appropriately. The 
auditor usually focuses on the last three months of involvement – the 
‘here and now’ but where required the auditor will go back further. 

2.3. The auditors are all peer auditors, so they do not audit their own team 
work.  

2.4. The cohort of children’s case files audited in the monthly manager’s audit 
in August were from the Children Who Are Disabled Team (CWAD) and in 
September from the East and West Districts.  

2.5. No audits were undertaken as part of the monthly manager’s audit in 
October because 29 were carried out in preparation for and during the 
Ofsted Inspection that took place on 1 and 2 October 2019. 

2.6. A different audit tool was used for these audits based closely on Ofsted’s 
Annex F Case tracking template.  The manager auditing was asked to 
make a judgement for each case audited. The final judgement reached by 
managers for these audits is captured in Appendix A in Table 3 A) under 
October. The cohort chosen was dictated by Ofsted and included: LAC, 
CIN and CP. 

2.7. The fostering audit was developed based on the same model as the 
monthly manager’s audit above with seven domains each with a score of 
1 to 10.  The domains are similar to the children’s case file audit, but the 
perspective differs in that we are looking specifically at the impact of the 

Page 18



Page 3  

monitoring, support and guidance provided by the fostering social work 
team to foster carers. The auditor will also make an overall judgement 
using the Ofsted judgements as in the monthly audit above. 

2.8. One of the Fostering Reviewing Officers had been auditing the fostering 
files but left recently, consequently the audit of fostering files did not take 
place in September. 

2.9. The auditor involves the allocated social worker when auditing. The 
auditor contacts the social worker and agrees either to: audit the case 
alongside the social worker, get the perspective from the social worker 
prior to looking at the case on mosaic or speak to the social worker after 
auditing the case on mosaic if not possible to do together.  

2.10. The conversation had with the social worker tries to obtain an 
understanding of context around practice and work undertaken. This 
supports a move away from a deficit model to that of a learning 
organisation with the objective being a supportive process for the social 
worker and an opportunity for case reflection. We know from feedback 
from workers that this style of auditing is a much-preferred method and 
one which workers feel they get value from.  

2.11. The auditor should escalate any urgent safeguarding concerns with the 
Safeguarding and Standards Team. None were identified as requiring 
escalation for immediate attention in the August and September audits.  

2.12. The case audits are uploaded to the child’s file and shared with the social 
worker and their managers for reflection and learning in supervision. 

2.13. The Family Assessment Specialist Team (FAST) audits are undertaken 
monthly looking specifically at the assessments and work carried out by 
the specialist workers in FAST. The overview and scrutiny of these audits 
is undertaken by the Operational Manager for FAST. They commenced in 
March 2018 and overall, they have been very positive. The audits have ten 
domains to enable month on month comparison and identify trends. These 
audits are shared with the social worker and team for reflection and 
learning. 

2.14. The Child Protection (CP) Chairs undertake 10 peer audits each month 
looking specifically at the conference and CP Plan. The audit tool has 9 
domains to enable month on month comparison as well as identifying 
trends much like the FAST audits above. The domains include the voice of 
the child and whether the child was subject to a plan previously. These 
audits are shared with the CP Chairs individually and as a team for their 
reflection and learning. 

2.15. The CP Chairs also undertake 10 audits looking at LAC reviews. The audit 
tool has 8 domains similar to the above which includes the child’s voice 
and the quality of the Care Plan. These audits are also shared with the 
Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) individually and as a team for their 
reflection and learning. 

2.16. Number of cases audited in this period: 
 109 cases were audited in July, August and September as part of 

the monthly managers audit cycle. 
 29 cases were audited relating to the October Ofsted Inspection. 
 8 fostering case records were audited in July and August. 
 9 FAST audits were completed in July and August. 
 29 LAC Review audits were completed through July, August and 

September. 

Page 19



Page 4  

 30 CP Conference audits were completed through July, August and 
September. 

 
3. Audit Compliance (see A and B in Section 1 in Appendix A) 

 
3.1. Audit compliance was 89% in July and remained the same in August but 

dropped significantly in September to 59%.  The Corporate Director 
follows up any non-compliance on an individual basis to consider any 
learning around the barriers that may exist for managers carrying out their 
audit. 
 

4. Audit Scores (see A and B in Section 2 in Appendix A) 
 

4.1. The overall average score across all seven domains was in July and 
August which was 6.2 but fell to 5.5 in September which is very 
disappointing. 

4.2. ‘Evidencing that supervision takes place regularly and that management 
oversight has been used appropriately to ensure effective practice’, fell 
again in August to 5.7 and dropped further still to 5 in September. 

4.3. Although not the lowest scoring domain it remains a concern that this 
continues to score poorly, and it remains the case that the comments are 
around frequency and lack of reflection in supervision taking place. The 
lack of reflective supervision in complex cases will impact on the social 
worker’s professional development. If there is no challenge it does not 
encourage professional curiosity and exploration of all aspects of the 
circumstances for each child and the work undertaken to prevent drift and 
delay. 

4.4. The highest scoring domain for August was around equalities and diversity 
with a score of 6.9. It is often the case that auditors struggle to consider 
equalities and diversity if the child does not have a specific disability or 
come from an obviously different culture or ethnicity. It is therefore not 
surprising that this domain had a good score considering the cohort of 
children’s cases chosen in August was from the Children who are 
Disabled Team. In September the score in this domain fell to 5.4 although 
not the lowest scoring domain. 

4.5. Evidencing that the ‘child’s voice and their experience/needs were 
captured and understood and that this can be seen to have influenced the 
assessment, planning and interventions’, bucked the trend for the last two 
months in that it scored poorly with a score of 6 in August and even lower 
in September with 5.6. Both scores being lower than they have been since 
October 2018. 

4.6. The weakest area in July, August and September was ‘Meetings’ with a 
score of 5.6 and 4.6 respectively. This domain includes consideration of 
the quality of the meeting, if the right people were there, if it was 
purposeful and that the minutes were shared. Where this scored poorly 
the comments were again around the fact that the meeting may have 
taken place but was not written up and minutes distributed in a timely 
fashion. 

4.7. It remains the case that when you speak to the worker it is often clear that 
work is taking place, but it is not always recorded consistently and in a 
timely way. This is evidenced with some back recording onto Mosaic 
taking place when gaps are highlighted in audits and reports. It is 

Page 20



Page 5  

important that there continues to be an emphasis on the expectation that 
work is recorded as soon as it has taken place, so that this becomes fully 
embedded. 
 

5. Audit Judgements (see A and B in section 3 in Appendix A) 
 

5.1. Since April 2019 we are seeing an upward trend of cases being judged as 
‘Requires Improvement’ reaching 64% in October 2019. This is the 
highest percentage since October 2018 and is concerning because it is 
not directly as a result of the percentage of those judged to be 
‘Inadequate’ reducing. 

5.2. In the monthly manager’s audits, there has been little reference to 
chronologies in the audits which indicates a general culture of acceptance 
that one will not be found so no challenge is being offered by managers. 

5.3. The overall themes generally remain similar to those of previous months. 
The audits carried out due to the Ofsted Inspection also revealed similar 
themes and confirmed areas for development including:  

 Chronologies 
 Supervision – timeliness, frequency and quality 
 Case Summaries 
 Plans are not always specific enough 
 Drift and delay in progressing plans 

5.4. The 6 cases chosen by Ofsted as having been previously audited were 
discussed further at a moderation session with a group of managers 
before giving them to Ofsted. 5 judgements were moderated down, and 
one was moderated up. This suggests that it is likely managers 
undertaking the monthly manager’s audit had been over optimistic when 
making a judgement on the grading. 
 

6. Fostering Audit 
 

6.1. (See A and B in section 4 and 5 in Appendix A). August shows an 
improvement on the previous month for the overall average score from 7 
to 7.3 which is good. This is a very small cohort, so hard to draw real 
conclusions however, there were no ‘Inadequate’ judgements again this 
month with 3 judged to be good which is positive.  

 
7. FAST Audit  

 
7.1. The FAST audits overall continue to show positive results. There had been 

some issues with recognising where the reviews are recorded on mosaic 
but there is now a mechanism in place to more easily identify the 
recording of these and as a result in August, we have seen the anticipated 
increase which is very positive.  

7.2. Gathering feedback from families was an area for development identified 
in August with feedback from professionals remaining an issue. No FAST 
audits were received in September. 

 
 
 
 

Page 21



Page 6  

8. CP Conferences Audit  
 

8.1. The July, August and September audits generally show a positive picture. 
The rate of children placed on a CP Plan for a second or subsequent time 
has been higher in Dorset than our comparators so there is a focus on this 
to better understand why. In August 3 cases audited had been on a CP 
plan previously with the auditor concluding that 1 had been previously de 
planned inappropriately. In September, there were again 3 that had been 
on a CP Plan previously but all 3 were considered to have been previously 
de planned appropriately by the auditor. 

8.2. The audits continue to identify that capturing and recording the child’s 
voice needs to improve and that in September the auditors highlighted that 
the Outline Plans were not always specific enough. 

  
9. LAC Review Audit 

 
9.1. Generally, these were also positive. In August, Care Plans were graded 

with 2 Outstanding, 7 Good and 1 Requiring Improvement and similar in 
September with 1 Outstanding, 8 Good and 1 Requiring Improvement but 
there was evidence of challenge by the IRO in that case. It was identified 
that SW reports and consultation forms are not always received in a timely 
way for the LAC Review. 

 
10. Children Subject to a CP Plan and Looked After Children Statutory Visits 

(See A and B in section 5 in Appendix A). 
 

10.1. Previously, the need for improvement was highlighted in terms of LAC and 
CP statutory visits and this continues to remain an area of focus. The data 
shown in the table in the appendix leaves a clear month for any late 
recording on Mosaic to have less of an impact on the accuracy of the data 
available each month.  

10.2. There continues to be a consistent gradual improvement for LAC Statutory 
Visits completed on time although it did fall very slightly this last month 
from 86.11 % to 85.73% completed on time for April through to August. 

10.3. The same improvement had not been evidenced for children subject to a 
CP Plan which had remained almost static or dropped. It is important to 
note however that of those completed late (33.46%), almost half (17.04%) 
were overdue by 1-3 days. 

10.4. The new reports now more accurately reflect when the child was actually 
seen as previously, it would have included a child that was not seen when 
the siblings were visited and seen. This impacts more on the CP Stat visit 
data as LAC stat visits are less often carried out for sibling groups and 
may account for the more recent drop. 

10.5. It is important to understand that for CP statutory visits the reporting 
timescales are at the discretion of the Local Authority. This is set so that 
weekly or fortnightly visits are measured within the required days (7 or 14) 
and not weekly or fortnightly. What this actually means is that if a visit is 
required weekly for example, and the first visit is made on a Monday one 
week and on a Tuesday the following week, it will count as late, but they 
will have been visited once per week. There is a piece of work currently 
being undertaken to try to resolve this issue.  
 

Page 22



Page 7  

11. Actions Identified in Audits 
 

11.1. The South West Audit Partnership (SWAP) has completed an audit on 
actions that were identified in the monthly manager’s audits where the 
judgement was Inadequate or Requires Improvement from January 2019. 
The report is currently with the Executive Director. 

11.2. In September, in addition to the above, all audits completed in the last 6 
months with a judgement of Inadequate were reviewed by social work 
managers. They found that not all actions had been followed up and that 
not all managers were following the correct process to monitor and track 
the actions until completion. 

 
12. Moving Forward 

 
12.1. The audit tool has been redesigned so that it can more effectively identify 

good practice and areas for development with a plan to roll out for the 
November audit.  

12.2. The Quality Assurance Framework has been reviewed following the recent 
Ofsted Inspection in October and a system of regular moderation is being 
built in to the audit programme with a plan to roll out in November. Closing 
the loop on any learning from good practice and identification of areas for 
development has been strengthened with regular workshops and study 
groups being set up for all staff to attend commencing in November.  

12.3. A more effective system of tracking actions identified in audits has been 
set up to ensure that these are monitored appropriately and completed in 
a timely way with immediate effect.  

12.4. We will know when we are making improvements when the monthly audit 
returns consistently show a percentage increase in those that are graded 
‘Good’ and ‘Outstanding’, with fewer ‘Requires Improvement’ and no 
‘Inadequate’ judgements. We will also know from feedback from Children, 
young people and their families as well as seeing improvements in our 
general performance data. 

 
 

 
 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 
11.10.19.  ke                                                                                                                  1 
 

Appendix A 
Monthly Audit Report – August, September and October 2019 

Data Tables 
 
Monthly audit  
 

1. A) Monthly audit compliance                                                       B)                                 
    

 Total sent for 
audit 

Number 
completed 

% 
Completed 

Apr 48 33 69% 
May 2 - - - 
Jun 48 47 98% 
Jul 43 41 95% 
Aug 43 40 93% 
Sept 45 43 96% 
Oct 41 41 100% 
Nov 44 41 93% 
Dec 2 - - - 
Jan 2019 44 41 93% 
Feb 44 38 86% 
Mar 40 38 95% 
Apr 40 35 88% 
May  42 36 86% 
Jun  45 34 76% 
Jul 45 40 89% 
Aug 47 42 89% 
Sept 43 27 63% 

2. No Internal Audits were sent out in May and December 2018.       
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Fe
b-

18

M
ar

Ap
r

Ju
n Ju
l

Au
g

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov Ja

n

Fe
b

M
ar

Ap
r

M
ay

Ju
ne Ju
ly

Au
g

Se
p

Audit compliance

P
age 25



 
11.10.19.  ke                                                                                                                  2 
 

2. A) Monthly audit scores      
Average score for each domain  

Overall 
average 
score  

Month Voice of 
the child 

Parent/Carer 
views 

 Planning/ 
 Interventions 

Meetings Multi-
agency 
working  

Supervision/ 
Management 
oversight 

Equalities/ 
  Diversity 

Apr 5.2 5.2 4.2 4.2 5 4.8 4 4.7 
May 6 5.7 4.3 3.4 3.9 4.9 3.4 4.5 
Jun 4.9 5.3 4.6 3.9 5 5.3 4.7 4.8 
Jul 5 5.7 5.1 5.1 5.3 4.5 5.2 5.1 
Aug 6.3 6.5 5.7 5.7 6.1 4.9 6 5.9 
Sept 6 5.9 5.6 5.2 5.6 5.8 5.5 5.7 
Oct 5.1 6 5.3 5.1 5.4 5 6 5.4 
Nov 6.6 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.2 5.6 6 6.2 
Jan 2019 7 6.8 6.4 5.8 6.4 5.8 6.2 6.3 
Feb 6.3 6.2 5.4 5.6 5.8 5.3 6.1 5.8 
Mar 6.8 6.9 6.2 6.1 6.5 5.6 6.5 6.4 
Apr 7.5 7.2 7.4 7.4 7.5 6.3 7.0 7.2 
May 6.9 6.3 6.2 5.9 6.2 5.6 6.3 6.2 
Jun 7.4 6.9 6.7 7.2 7 5.9 7.1 6.9 
Jul 7 6.5 5.6 5.2 6.4 5.8 6.2 6.2 
Aug 6 6.3 6 5.6 6.6 5.7 6.9 6.2 
Sept 5.6 5.8 4.9 4.6 5.8 5.0 5.4 5.3 

 
2. B) 

P
age 26



 
11.10.19.  ke                                                                                                                  3 
 

             
 
 
3. A) Monthly audit judgements      

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Sc
or

e 
ou

t o
f 1

0

Monthly overall average audit score

Month Outstanding Good Requires 
Improvement 

Inadequate Total 

Apr 7 6% 27 23% 56 48% 26 22% 116 
May 1 4% 4 15% 19 73% 2 8% 26 
Jun 1 2% 16 34% 19 40% 11 23% 47 
Jul 1 2% 15 37% 11 27% 14 34% 41 
Aug 2 5% 14 35% 16 40% 8 20% 40 
Sep 1 2% 18 41% 21 48% 4 9% 44 
Oct 1 2% 8 20% 29 71% 3 7% 41 
Nov 6 15% 18 44% 13 32% 4 10% 41 
Jan 19 3 7% 25 60% 11 26% 3 7% 41 
Feb 2 5% 14 37% 16 42% 6 16% 38 
Mar 6 16% 15 39% 14 37% 3 8% 38 
Apr 10 29% 14 40% 11 31% 0 0% 35 
May 3 8% 20 56% 11 31% 2 8% 36 
Jun 5 15% 16 47% 11 32% 2 6% 34 
Jul 2 5% 19 48% 12 30% 7 18% 40 

P
age 27



 
11.10.19.  ke                                                                                                                  4 
 

 
 
 

 
* Audits completed just prior to and during Ofsted visit in October using different audit tool 

3. B) 

 
 
Fostering Audit 
 
   4. A) Fostering audit score 
 
The seven domains 

Jan 
2019  

Feb March  April  May June July August 

Score Score Score Score Score Score Score Score 

1. Voice of the child 7 6.7 6.5 6 7.3 7.8 6.0 6.8 
2. Parent’s/carer’s/foster carer and foster 

carer’s own children’s views   
7.3 8.3 5.8 5.5 8 7.8 7.3 8.5 

3. Assessment, planning & interventions 7.3 6 5.3 7.3 6.8 7.3 6.3 8.3 
4. Meetings 6.8 6 7 5.5 8.5 8.5 7.7 8.0 
5. Health, education, social and  
    environmental development 

7.5 4.8 7 5.8 8.5 7.0 7.5 6.0 

6. Supervision & management oversight 6.5 6.3 6.3 7.3 8 6.8 7.0 6.5 
7. Equalities & diversity 7.3 6.3 5.5 5 8.5 8.0 7.3 7.3 
Average score across all seven domains 7 6.3 6.2 6 7.9 7.6 7.0 7.3 

(there were no fostering audits in September 2019) 

0

10

20

3

20 17

3

Audit Judgements-August 

0

5

10

15

1

8
12

6

Audit Judgements - September 
2019

0

5

10

15

20

1
6

18

4

Audit Judgements-October* 

Aug 3 7% 20 48% 17 40% 3 7% 42 
Sept 1 3% 8 29% 12 44% 6 22% 27 
Oct * 1 3% 6 21% 18 64% 4 14% 29 

Total  756 

P
age 28



 
11.10.19.  ke                                                                                                                  5 
 

 

4. B) 
 

 
 

 
4. C) Fostering audit judgement 

 
Month Outstanding Good Requires 

Improvement 
Inadequate Total 

Jan 19 0 0% 2 50% 2 50% 0 0% 4 
Feb 1 25% 1 25% 1 25% 1 25% 4 
Mar 0 0% 3 75% 0 0% 1 25% 4 
Apr 1 25% 2 50% 1 25% 0 0% 4 
May 1 25% 3 75% 0 0% 0 0% 4 
Jun 0 0% 3 75% 1 25% 0 0% 4 
Jul 0 0% 2 50% 2 50% 0 0% 4 
Aug 0 0% 3 75% 1 25% 0 0% 4 

 
 
4. D)   

 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

Jan-19 Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug

Av
er

ag
e 

sc
or

e 
ou

t o
f 1

0
Fostering Average score

Total      32 

P
age 29



 
11.10.19.  ke                                                                                                                  6 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
Timeliness of Statutory Visits to Looked After Children (LAC) and Children Subject to a CP Plan (CP) 

5. A)          
 April to June 2018 April to July April to August April to September April to October 
Percentage On time Late On time Late On time Late On time Late On time Late 
LAC 72.9 17.10 75.55 16.89 75.93 17.83 76.54 18.90 78.72 18.22 
CP 58.24 33.44 58.62 32.98 58.37 35.18 58.68 36.29 58.59 36.43 

 
 April to November April to December April to January 2019 April to February April to March 
Percentage On time Late On time Late On time Late On time Late On time Late 
LAC 79.77 17.90 80.35 17.69 80.13 17.30 80.84 17.57 81.17 17.24 
CP 56.49 35.13 60.81 36.32 59.79 35.79 61.10 35.75 61.19 35.66 

 

 April to April April to May April to June April to July April to August 
Percentage On time Late On time Late On time Late On time Late On time Late 
LAC 78.22 10.24 82.59 13.96 85.81 12.33 86.11 12.54 85.73 12.87 
CP 55.75 35.32 60.57 34.79 62.15 34 64.70 35.30 64.04 33.46 

0

1

2

3

O G RI I

0

3

1

0

Fostering Judgements - August 2019

P
age 30



 
11.10.19.  ke                                                                                                                  7 
 

 

5. B)                                                                                               5. C)  

 

 

50
52
54
56
58
60
62
64
66

CP statutory visits on time

 

 

65

70

75

80

85

90

LAC statutory visits on time

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Date of Meeting: 19 November 2019 
 
Portfolio Holder:  Cllr A Parry, Children, Education and Early Help 
 
Director: Sarah Parker, Executive Director of People - Children 
 

Executive Summary: 
This Annual IRO report provides quantitative and qualitative evidence  
relating to the IRO Services in the Dorset Council area as required by statutory 
guidance.  
 

Equalities Impact Assessment: 
 
N/A 

Budget:  
 
None Identified 

Risk Assessment:  
 
N/A 

Climate implications: 
 
N/A  

Other Implications: 
 
None 

Recommendation: 
Members to actively consider and comment upon the adequacy of the Annual Work 
Programme in section 18 
 

Reason for Recommendation: 
To be assured that the Annual Work Program identifies gaps and areas for 
development and will drive learning and service improvement to strengthen 
outcomes for children. 

 

Corporate Parenting Board 

Dorset Council – Children’s Services 

IRO Annual Report 2018/19 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



Appendices: 
 

Background Papers: None 

Officer Contact: 
Name:  Kevin Stenlake 
Tel:  
Email:  

 
 

1. The Contribution of Independent Reviewing Officers to Quality Assuring 
and Improving Services for Children in Care  

 
1.1 This Annual IRO report provides quantitative and qualitative evidence  

relating to the IRO Services in the Dorset Council area as required by 
statutory guidance.  

 
The IRO Annual Report must be presented to: Corporate Parenting Board 
and the Local Safeguarding Children Board. 

 
 

2. Purpose of service and legal context 
 

2.1 The Independent Review Officers’ (IRO) service is set within the framework of 
the updated IRO Handbook, linked to revised Care Planning Regulations and 
Guidance which were introduced in April 2011. The responsibility of the IRO 
has changed from the management of the review process to a wider overview 
of the case including regular monitoring and follow-up between reviews. The 
IRO has a key role in relation to the improvement of care planning for children 
Looked After and for challenging drift and delay.  

 
2.2 The National Children’s Bureau (NCB) research ‘The Role of the Independent 

Reviewing Officers in England’ (March 2014) provides a wealth of information 
and findings regarding the efficacy of IRO services. The foreword written by 
Mr Justice Peter Jackson; makes the following comment: 

 
“The Independent Reviewing Officer must be the visible embodiment of our 
commitment to meet our legal obligations to this special group of children. 
The health and effectiveness of the IRO service is a direct reflection of 
whether we are meeting that commitment, or whether we are failing.” 

 
2.3 The NCB research highlights 
 

Where IROs identify barriers to their ability to fulfil their role, or systemic 
failures in the service to looked after children, they must raise this formally 

Page 34



 

with senior managers. These challenges and the response should be 
included in the Annual Report. 
 

 
3. Key messages – learning and improvement  

 
3.1  This Annual IRO report provides quantative and qualitative evidence relating 

to the IRO service in the Dorset Council area, as required by statutory 
guidance. 

 
3.2     Improvement activities 2018/19 

 
 Provided challenge and supported the improvement in Care Plan completion 

which has improved from well below 50% to 89%. The IRO Service uses a 
measure of Care Plans completed within the last 7 months.  

 
 Assisted with driving up the quality of Care Plans. In June 2018 55% were 

deemed inadequate and 10% Requiring improvement. 
At the end of March 2019 87.5% Good, 7.5% Requiring Improvement and 
4.17% Inadequate.  

    
 Enhanced Monitoring Meetings commenced in August 2018 reviewing the 

following cohorts of children jointly with the Social Care Service  
 

Children subject to section 20 arrangements under the age of 16 

Children Placed with Parents - subject to Care Orders (including Interim) 

Children who have been subject of a placement order for 12 months and are 
not placed for adoption 

 Introduction of a MOSAIC IRO Monitoring Form for each LAC Review, 
enabling a range of factors to be reported – quality of the care plan – social 
work relationship – permanency. 

 
 Working with “Participation People” children/YP in care in terms of responding 

to the young people’s IRO Report Card and recommendations. The Service 
has supported the introduction of Care Space Packs designed by young 
people. 

 
 Produced an Aide Memoire for Statutory Visits to Looked After Children 

supplied to all social workers to help improve the quality of visits/recording. 
 

 Produced a ‘Quality of the Care Plan’ Management Instruction Note (MIN) 
 

3.3 Number of Looked After Reviews 
 

A total of 1241 LAC Reviews were chaired by IROs in the year ending 31st 
March 2019 

  
3.3    Number of children attending reviews 

 
   Children attended 584 of the 1241 LAC, 169 the child was under 4.   

 

Page 35



 

 
 
 
 
 

3.4   Number of advocates 
 

In terms of Looked After Reviews, Advocate attendance, participation codes 
PN2 and PN5, equates to 131. The IRO Monitoring report captures at child 
level whether the child/young person chooses to advocate for themselves, 
has drawn on an Action for Children advocate or has chosen someone 
else.48 children advocate for themselves at their review. 

 
The Advocacy service is commissioned by Dorset Council with Action for 
Children.  

 

 Children are fully aware of the advocacy services available to them and can 
easily access the services should they wish to 

 Children/Young People are able to raise a complaint against the Local 
Authority and are supported to do so if they wish 

 
    Advocacy referrals to Action for Children 2018-19 
 

         
 

3.5 There has been a drive to help children and young people to be more actively 
involved in their looked after reviews through strengthening the use of advocacy. 
A new system was put in place in February 2019 with the expectation of new 
LAC 8y+ using an advocate unless they decide to “opt-out”. At present the opt 
out approach is only being applied to new LAC but has led to an increase in 
referrals in Q1 by 15%. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



 

3 Young people feedback survey: Advocacy  
 

“They are a great group of people and I would recommend them to anybody who 
needs help” 

 “It was good 5 stars” 
“They are very good” 
“She is the best advocate ever” 
“I think the Advocacy helps me get my feelings across”. 
“This has been very helpful and brilliant thank you” 
“I really really like having someone to speak for me” 

  
 
5. Timeliness of Reviews 
 

5.1  Performance improved significantly in 2017-18 with the establishment of a 
separate IRO and CP team. Three IROs being off work for a significant period 
in the September/December 2018 period impacted on review performance. 
This coincided with staffing issues with the central admin team which lead to 
an extended challenging period. There are also some challenges with timely 
responses from some social workers as to confirming review times and invites.  

 
5.2 The other factor which has increase travel and IRO time has been the 

increased use of placements outside of the LA Area, approximately 140 
children. Over the last year this has shown a marked rise and Dorset is now an 
outlier against comparators both national and regional.   

 

                    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Timeliness of Lac 
Reviews Percentage % 

2016-17 76% 

2017-18 96.1% 

2018-19 83.6% 

Page 37



 

5.3      Recovery plan  
 Improved MOSAIC reporting and tracking  
 Introduction of MOSAIC requests for Reviews – introduce 3rd June 
 Escalation process in place regarding LAC Review dates/invites being 

confirmed  
 Regular meetings between IRO Manager and Service Manager for 

Looked After   
 Agency IRO agreed to cover IRO vacancy 
 Admin vacancies filled  

 
 

 
6. Number of Looked After Reviews occurring outside of area. 

 
 32.3% in Private Provision 
 

 
   

41.4% placed outside of area  
 

  
 
 

7. Audits and Service Improvements 
 

7.1 Ingson Audits July 2018 
 

In regards to LAC Review recommendations: - 
        

 Set outcomes or ‘finish lines’.  
 These must flow from the child’s assessed needs 
 Outcomes are where we want to get to when we can say ‘job done’? 
 Use of language must always be understandable, precise and descriptive 

Page 38



 

 For each outcome, set clear, specific and meaningful tasks which are allocated to 
individuals and which have a specific date for completion (or at least a date for 
review) 

 Challenge words associated with drift and inactivity, e.g. support, monitor. 
 

7.2 Training was provided to the IRO Service and the above principles adopted.   
Performance is measured through the Internal Monthly audits.  

 
Partners in Practice Audit in February 2019 

 
a) This led to joint work with Participation People regarding developing a revised 

model of “Dorset LAC Reviews”. Principles proposed and subsequently 
adopted by the Assistant Director 

 
 reclaim the ‘Looked After Reviews’ for the child/young person 
 reduce the number of professionals attending the review 
 have an emphasis on pre- work with the young person before the Review – 

addressing key areas – ensuring the young person can share their views and 
what they wish to discuss at the review 

 
b) Introduction of Case Summaries for all allocated cases on MOSAIC. This 

proposal was put forward by the IRO Service and has been formally adopted. 
Once fully embedded this will enable a more efficient reviewing of key 
outcomes and plans for Looked After children.  

 
c) Improvements in the Enhanced Monitoring meeting with regards to achieving 

Permanence for looked after children. Improved data, increased level of 
challenge regarding drift.  

        
      

7.3 Social Care Monthly Audits 
 

a)  A continued focus on improving the quality of children’s Care Plans – 
ensuring they are outcome focussed – in plain English – clearly capture the 
child’s voice – child’s needs.  

b) LAC statutory visiting – need to continue to drive performance – Target 95%  
 

7.4 IRO Service Internal Audits 
 

a) Need to develop a Mid-way Check-in policy for the IRO Service. A proposal to 
undertake a Mid-Way check in with approximately a 1/3 of the LAC 
population. This will assist in helping to avoid drift within the plan for the child 
and drive towards permanence. 

 
8. Professional Profile of the IRO Service 

 
8.1  The IRO Service sits within the Safeguarding and Standards section of 

Children’s   Services with its core functions consisting of reviewing Care plans 
for children in care and monitoring the Local Authority in respect of its corporate 
parenting and safeguarding responsibilities. 

 
8.2 The IROs are independent but managed within the Children’s Services. They 

are qualified social workers with significant social care experience. The majority 
of the team work full-time. There is a good split gender wise.  

Page 39



 

8.3  IRO Service 2018/2019 Structure consists of 1 FTE Manager and 7.61 IROs. 
 

IROs  Hours per week 

SJ 37 
JAF 37 
KK 37 
DS 37 
Vacancy 37 
DW 30 
RC 25      
SW 23      
GG  18.5 
  
TOTAL  7.61 FTE 
  

 
 
 
 
9. Quantitative information - Looked After population 
 

 
9.1 The Looked After population has been relatively settled around 445 range in 

the April18 to March 19 period.  
 

IRO caseloads have been maintained in the 60 – 70 per FTE range. This is 
within the recommended case load of 50-70 set out in the IRO Handbook. A 
total of 1241 LAC Reviews were chaired by IROs in the year ending 31st 
March 2019, 78.87% within timescale. 

 
Most children and young people who started to be Looked After were in the 
10-15y group.   

 
Children who are disabled form 9% of the looked after population. Increased 
time is required to elicit the wishes and feelings of a child with additional 
needs.  

 
Permanence has remained a focus for the IRO team. Permanence refers to 
the long-term plan for the child’s upbringing and provides an underpinning 
framework for all social work with children. It ensures a framework of 
emotional, physical and legal conditions that gives a child a sense of security, 
continuity, commitment, identity and belonging. 

 
At the end of March 2018, 21 children were recorded as being in confirmed 
long term foster placements.  Following work predominately in the 0-12 team 
this has increased to 48 recorded as being in long term foster placements. 
Further work is planned within the 13-25 Team to ensure that MOSAIC is 
accurately recording all those children placed long term with relatives/friends 
foster carers or with foster carers.  

 
Confirmation of “Long Term Designated Foster Placements” has enabled 
increasing use of lighter touch Looked After Reviews in recognition of those 
permanency arrangements.  

Page 40



 

 
9.2 Looked After population during 2013 to 2019  
 
 

 
 
 
 
9.3 The Looked After numbers have remained consistent around 445 since January 

2018 until the end of March 2019. The reduction in numbers in April 19 relates to the 
transfer of 33 children/young people to the new Council in Bournemouth Poole and 
Christchurch as part of Local Government Reorganisation (LGR). 

 
 

 
 

9.4 The numbers of ‘Looked After Children’ of per 10,000 had reduced to below 
the National average of 64 since May 17 but remained above Statistical 
Neighbours and the South West.  
Following the LGR changes in population in the new Dorset Council, coupled 
with an increased number of new LAC in April/May, the rate of 62.7 per 
10,000 is significantly higher than statistical neighbours at 52.  

Page 41



 

 
The previous Dorset County Council children population was 76,861, the new 
Dorset Council population is 68,138.  

 
9.5 Legal Status  

 
 
 

9.6 Looked After – New by age  
 

 
 
 
 

9.10 Children who are disabled  
 

 
 

The % of children who are disabled has remained consistent around 9%. 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



 

 
10. Entitlements and Advocacy 
 

10.1 The All-Party Parliamentary Group for Looked-After Children and Care Leavers 
Inquiry (2013) asked children and young people what the most important 
entitlements for looked-after children and care leavers were. The All-Party 
Parliamentary Group selected the five that the children and young people said 
were most important for looked-after children and for care leavers.  

 
10.2 % of children have a care plan that says what their needs are now, what will be 

done to meet those needs and the plans for their future.  
 

This area of practice has been a challenge in Dorset and received a major 
focus during 2018. At the end of March 90.78% of children/young people had 
a Care Plan completed within the last 7 months which represents a significant 
improvement from below 50%. 
  

10.3 % of children have a care plan that sets out their views.  
 

The majority fall into good quality and contain the views of children/young people.  
  

Standard of Care Plan 
Rating 

Percentage % March 
2019 

1. Outstanding 0.83 
2. Good 87.50 
3. Requiring Improvement 7.5 
4. Inadequate 4.17 

 
 

10.4 % of children had information about their entitlements, including information 
about decision making processes and professionals’ responsibilities to hold a 
review before any significant decision is made in relation to their care plan.  

 
  Dorset/Participation People launched a new Care pack of information for all  

children/young people looked after in August 2018. This includes information  
regarding decision making, LAC Reviews, IROs, the Dorset Promise and   

  complaints.  
  The information is also available on a new Dorset webpage.  
 
10.5 % of looked after young people aged 16-19 who received a £1,200 bursary to 

support them to stay in full-time education.  
 

No formal IRO disputes were raised as a result of the authority’s failure to 
meet this Entitlement. This is recorded on an individual young person basis 
and not yet available within MOSIAC reports.  
 

10.6     When a social worker visits you, they must speak to you alone unless you 
refuse, it is not appropriate at that time or the social worker is unable to.  

 
The LAC Statutory visiting performance has improved from 76% to 80.11% 
over the last year. The target remains 95%, so still some distance to travel. 
The performance is tracked weekly by the Service and subject to Service 
Improvement Board scrutiny. 

 

Page 43



 

 
 
11. IROs findings on the five entitlements for care leavers 
 

11.1 % of children had information about their entitlements, including their 
entitlement to a £2,000 setting up home allowance.  

 
The Dorset 13-25 team work on a case by case basis rather than a set £2000 
setting up home allowance. The related page on Dorset for you has been 
recently updated to make clearer the ‘Care Leaver offer’ 
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/children-in-care/care-leavers-entitlements 

 
11.2 % of young people had information about their entitlements, including 

information about what the local authority must provide to the young person in 
relation to help with costs of being in education or training up until the age of 
21 (or 25 if the young person is still in education).  

 
See above as to improvements to the information regarding the ‘Care Leaver 
Offer’ 

 
11.3 % of young people had information about their entitlements, including 

information about what help the local authority must provide in relation to the 
costs of getting and keeping a job (up until the age of 21 if the young person 
is in education, employment or training). 

 
This report is not yet available on MOSAIC 
 

11.4     % of young people were given a copy their Needs Assessment and Pathway 
Plan. In a random survey of number young people, number % were satisfied  
that they had been given a full explanation of their Pathway Plan. 

 
This report is not yet available on MOSAIC. Current figures indicate 76.9% of 
young people 16+ have Pathway Plans completed within the last 7 months.  

 
Feedback from the young people survey March 2019 appears to match 
Dorset Council data.  

Page 44



 

 
  

12. Number and percentage of young people are in higher education and provided 
with vacation accommodation (or money towards it).  

 
12.1   Dorset has 25 Care leavers in higher education in the age range 18-25  

 
8 have vacation support identified to meet their needs, the majority 
being in staying put placements.  

   
10 have independent tenancies/privately renting so their tenancies 
continue during the Summer. 

  
6 prefer to make own arrangements to stay with family 
members/friends/partners  

  
1 had a Unite scholarship for 3 free years of accommodation  

 
13. Qualitative information - Achievements and impact of IRO service 

 
 

13.1 Quality of Care Planning  
 

The Quality Care plans has improved during the last year. There is a 
significant decrease in’ inadequate’ ratings which primarily related to 
non- completion. Further joint work is planned between the Social 
Care Teams and IRO Service looking at “What is a good Care Plan?” 

 
Standard of Care Plan 
Rating 

Percentage % Sept 18 Percentage % Mar. 19 

1. Outstanding 3.41 0.83 
2. Good 70.45 87.50 
3. Requiring Improvement 6.82 7.5 
4. Inadequate 19.32 4.17 

Page 45



 

     13.2 Children’s Views/Feedback to IROs – Satisfaction Survey  
 

The ‘Looked After Children’ Satisfaction Survey 2019 undertaken by 
Participation People provides useful feedback to the IRO Service and an 
indication of areas to focus on and improve in the coming year.  

 
 
   13.3 Looked After Reviews Participation  
 
 

                                        
 
 

13.4 IRO Service response  
 

LAC reviews that took place in period for children aged 4 and over who 
participated is 92.17%. The young people’s survey was responded to by 
children/young people over 8y. 

 
Graph showing age of respondence to survey 
 

                     

Page 46



 

13.5 Length of LAC Reviews  
 

                   
 
 
 

13.6  Written record of LAC Reviews received by children/young people 
 

                     
 
14. To improve the delivery and timeliness of LAC review meeting notes to CYP’s. 

 

14.1 There was a change to a ‘letter format’ to the child/young person last year as 
opposed to review Notes. This is more personalised, and child focussed. 
Feedback has been generally positive. As indicated above timeliness needs 
to improve.  

There is a proposal to develop the LAC Review ‘letters’ further into an ‘Easy 
Read/Plain English approach. This would fit with young people’s feedback. 

 

Page 47



 

The Children in Care Council have also offered to help design a template for 
Review notes which can use tools like Pinterest, Snap Chat and Instagram. 
This needs to be considered as part of the review of the Dorset model of LAC 
Review. 

 

15.       Identifying good practice, problem resolution and escalation 

 
15.1   In total IROs have formally recognised 21 instances of good practice during 

2018-19  
 

All formal recognitions demonstrated a range of professional capabilities with 
the following reported most for  

 
 child centred approaches 
 good working relationship with the child 
 achieving a good outcome for the child 
 

16. IRO Escalation TriX Policy  

16.1  IROs have challenged practitioners and managers formally on 38 occasions 
down from   66 last year. These situations been escalated informally first but 
not been resolved. Challenges relate to a mix of issues with the following 
reported most: 

 
1. Care Plan not completed or updated 
2. LAC Statutory visiting not undertaken 
3. Drift in the plans being implemented 
4. Use of unregulated placements   

 
 

Level Responsible Officer Number of escalations  

Level 1: Team Manager / Operational Manager 38 

Level 2: Service Manager 15 

Level 3: Assistant Director Children's Services 4 

Level 4: Director of Children's Services 1 

Level 5: Referral to CAFCASS 0 

 
 

 
17. Supervision and training 
 

17.1 IROs have scheduled monthly formal supervision and informal supervision as 
required. All IROs have an annual Personal Development Review (PDR) and 
are expected to attend regular training.  
Any resource issues that are putting at risk the delivery of a quality service 

Page 48



 

 

The IRO role is not to identify the resources needed to meet a young person’s 
needs but to ensure that the needs of the young person are appropriately 
identified and met.  

17.2 Issues are evident regarding a lack of in-house foster carers leading to a lack  
of choice of placement. This causes issues with matching. As highlighted, there 
is an increased use of out of area LA placements – 140 Private Provider 
placements. 

17.4     A significant number of looked after children have had multiple changes of 
social worker – 3 plus within a 6-month period. This prevents working 
relationship building and good quality life story work. This issue is also raised 
in the Children in Care survey. 

17.5  The most significant IRO escalation relates to the use of unregistered 
placements for under 16s due to lack of placements. As highlighted by Ofsted, 
“Providers who accommodate young people under the age of 16 are operating 
an unregistered setting and therefore operating illegally” 

17.6 Initial Health Assessment (IHA) performance has fluctuated and been a 
concern throughout the year. This has at times been related to high caseloads 
and use of staff with little looked after knowledge.  
 

 
18. Annual work programme for next year April 2019 – March 2020  
 
 

18.1 Establish a ‘Dorset Model of LAC Reviews’ together with young 
people/Participation People  

 
 reclaim the ‘Looked After Reviews’ for the child/young person 
 reduce the number of professionals attending the review 
 have an emphasis on pre- work with the young person before the Review 

– addressing key areas – ensuring the young person can share their 
views and what they wish to discuss at the review 

 

18.2 To review the LAC meeting notes format and improve timeliness of 
completion. Work to be undertaken between Participation People and the IRO 
Service to consider the format of the meeting notes, looking at “strength 
based” approaches and learning from other LAs. 

 
18.3     To have a clear joint focus on permanency with Social Care, an improved 

“Enhanced Monitoring Meeting” with shared data with regards to children 
identified as being in “designated long-term foster placements”. 
Improvements in data with regards to Permanence Plans, the tracking of 
permanence plans.  

 
18.4 Improvements in performance data drawing on the information captured by 

IROs at each LAC Review. The IRO Monitoring Form and data report to be 
prioritised by MOSAIC governance board.  

  
 

18.5 Introduction of a Mid-way check in policy with a target of undertaking check-
ins on a 1/3 of the LAC population. This is aimed at tackling potential drift.  

 
 

 

Page 49



 

19. Blueprint for change – IRO Service workshop regarding structure/service 
improvements 12th November  
 

 Exploration of employing an IRO who lives/is based in the midlands. This 
would go some way to addressing the provision of an IRO service to children 
at a distance and operating more efficiently. Travel time is a significant issue 
with children placed in N Wales, Birmingham, Newcastle etc. 

 Reducing the need for Looked After status. With the proposed introduction of 
a dedicated Edge of Care Service there is an improved opportunity to drive 
the care planning, looking at early rehab for children recently admitted to 
care.   

 Equally there is a need to drive practice with regards to the potential of rehab 
home and exploring placement with parent (PWP) for those whose situation 
has improved following longer periods in care.  

 A reduction in overall LAC Numbers to around 400 would achieve a 
significant saving to the local authority in terms of placement costs, social 
work time, IRO time. The average cost of an internal placement is £375 a 
week £780,000 a year and an external placement £800 a week, 1.6M a year. 
A reduction in 40 looked after would also enable a reduction of 25h of IRO 
time.   

 Improved Permanence tracking by IRO Service/Social Care- Tackling drift – 
pursuing permanence e.g. Adoption/SGO.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



Executive Summary

This is an annual report on the service delivery and outcomes of the Council’s Adoption 
Service, as required in Statutory Guidance and Minimum Standards for Adoption Services. 

Since July 2017, most of the Council’s statutory duties in respect of adoption have been 
delegated to Aspire Adoption. Aspire Adoption is a Regional Adoption Agency, jointly funded 
by the Bournemouth, Christchurch, Poole (BCP) Council and Dorset Council. 

Recommendation:

It is recommended that the Board note the duty to ensure that members are fully aware of 
the activity of the Council’s Adoption Service, and have the opportunity to comment on the 
outcomes and delivery of the service for the period between 01/04/18 and 31/03/19.

Reason for Recommendation:

This report meets legislative and regulatory requirements on reporting and the full annual 
report provides information about adoption activity for the period between 01/04/18 and 
31/03/19. 

Councils have a statutory duty to provide adoption services to all of those affected by 
adoption living in their area. Services to meet those responsibilities are required to meet 
legislative requirements and Minimum Standards for Adoption Services and are inspected 
regularly by Ofsted to ensure they do so. 

As part of the Minimum Standards, reports must be presented to the Council every six 
months, so that Council members can satisfy themselves that the services provided are 
effective and achieve good outcomes for children and others affected by adoption. 

Background Papers: 

Adoption Statutory Guidance 2013 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/adoption-
statutory-guidance-2013 

Minimum Standards for Adoption Services 2014 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file
/336069/Adoption_NMS_July_2014_for_publication.pdf 

Contact:

Name:  Heather Freeman, Aspire Adoption Service Manager

Tel:  01202 451779    Email: heather.freeman@aspireadoption.co.uk

Dorset Corporate Parenting Board

Adoption Annual Report 

Page 51

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/adoption-statutory-guidance-2013
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/adoption-statutory-guidance-2013
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/336069/Adoption_NMS_July_2014_for_publication.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/336069/Adoption_NMS_July_2014_for_publication.pdf
mailto:heather.freeman@aspireadoption.co.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Aspire Adoption 
Annual Report

1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

Page 53



2

Contents

Introduction

1. Local authority statutory responsibilities in respect of adoption

2. Division of roles and responsibilities between Aspire and the local authorities

3. Headline activity data 1 April 2018 to 31 March 19 

4. Finance 

5. Commissioning

6. The national picture

7. Service priorities 

8. Challenges for the year ahead

9. Conclusion

10. Appendix 1 - Aspire Organisational Structure and Staffing

11. Appendix 2 - Governance of Aspire Adoption

12. Appendix 3 - Registered Manager/Responsible Officer and Agency Decision Maker 
(ADM) Role

13. Appendix 4 - Aspire Adoption Panel

14. Appendix 5 - Panel chair’s report January 2018

Page 54



3

Introduction

This is the second annual adoption report for Aspire Adoption, summarising the work of the agency 
in the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. It has been written to ensure that the requirements of 
the Statutory Adoption Guidance 2013 and the Adoption Minimum Standards 2014 are met. 

The 2014 Adoption Minimum Standards can be accessed at 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/336069/Adoption_NMS_July_2014_for_publication.pdf

The 2013 Statutory Adoption Guidance can be accessed at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/adoption-statutory-guidance-2013. 

1. Local authority statutory responsibilities in respect of adoption

1.1 In accordance with the provisions of the Adoption and Children Act 2002, all local authorities 
have a duty to establish and maintain an adoption service in their area, to meet the needs in 
relation to adoption, of children who have or may be adopted, of adults who have been 
adopted, parents and guardians of such children and persons who have or may adopt a 
child. 

1.2 Since 1 July 2017, Bournemouth Borough Council, the Borough of Poole, and Dorset County 
Council have delegated most of those functions, along with some statutory responsibilities 
in relation to special guardianship, to Aspire Adoption, a Regional Adoption Agency. It was 
one of the first Regional Adoption Agencies (RAAs) to be set up nationally. 

1.3 Each local authority retains overall responsibility for their adoption and special guardianship 
services, continuing to have parental responsibility for their own Children in Care, but 
delegating most adoption and some special guardianship functions to Aspire Adoption. 
Regional Adoption Agencies are expected to work closely with colleagues in the voluntary 
adoption sector. Aspire Adoption works in partnership with Families for Children, a 
Voluntary Adoption Agency based in Devon but with an office in Dorset.

1.4 The name “Aspire Adoption” reflects the aspiration to learn, to build on existing good 
practice and achieve practice improvements in the delivery of services for children, adopters 
and others who benefit from or are in need of adoption and special guardianship services in 
the area covered by the Regional Adoption Agency. 

1.5 In the financial year 2018-19, Aspire Adoption was hosted by Bournemouth Borough Council 
and funded by the local authorities of Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole. Future iterations of 
this report will reflect local government reorganisation from 1st April 2019, and the 
formation of Bournemouth, Christchurch, Poole (BCP) Council, and Dorset Council. The Inter 
Authority Agreement which legally underpins the operation of Aspire Adoption is being 
revised to reflect those changes. 

Page 55

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/336069/Adoption_NMS_July_2014_for_publication.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/336069/Adoption_NMS_July_2014_for_publication.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/adoption-statutory-guidance-2013


4

2. Division of roles and responsibilities between Aspire and the local authorities

2.1 Aspire has been delegated all of the local authority statutory responsibilities for adoption, 
other than the court work leading to Care and Placement Orders. 

2.2 Aspire has responsibility for recruiting, assessing and supporting prospective adopters, for 
non-agency adoption work including partner adoptions and intercountry adoptions.

2.3 The local authorities retain overall responsibility for their Children in Care, but have 
delegated case responsibility for the majority of children with adoption plans to Aspire 
following the granting of a Placement Order.

2.4 Aspire is responsible for family finding for all children with adoption plans. The RAA is also 
responsible for preparing children for a move to adoption, for preparing moving calendars or 
diaries, undertaking life story work and creating life story books. 

2.5 Aspire undertakes special guardianship assessments for court on behalf of the local 
authority as part of care proceedings, or in private law applications.

2.6 Aspire provides support to all parties affected by adoption, including adopters, adoptive 
families, adopted adults and birth relatives, and also to special guardians, families created 
through special guardianship, and to the birth families whose children are subject to SGOs. 

2.7 The table below sums up the division of responsibilities between Aspire and the local 
authorities.

Function Regional 
Adoption Agency

Local Authority

RECRUITMENT AND ASSESSMENT

Marketing and Recruitment Strategy 
Adopter Recruitment and Enquiries 
Assessment of Prospective Adopters – all Stage One and Stage 
Two functions 

Completion of Prospective Adopter Report 
Agency Decision Maker for approval of adopters 
Post approval training 
Matching 
Post Placement training for Prospective Adopters 
PERMANANCE PLANNING

Early identification of a child possibly requiring adoption 
Tracking and monitoring the child possibly requiring adoption  
Support and advice to child care social worker on the adoption 
process  

Sibling or other specialist assessments if commissioned by LA 
Direct work to prepare child prior to placement 
Preparation of the Child Permanence Report 
Agency Decision Maker for “Should be placed for Adoption” 
decisions 

Page 56



5

Case management prior to the point agreed by the LA ADM 
Case management from point agreed by the LA ADM 
MATCHING AND PLACEMENT

Family finding 
Looked After Child reviews  
Shortlist and visit potential families 
Organising child appreciation day 
Ongoing direct work to prepare child prior to placement 
Adoption Panel administration and management 
Agency adviser role 
Agency Decision Maker for Matching prospective adopters and 
child 

Placement Planning meeting administration and management 
of introductions 

Support to family post placement and planning and delivery of 
adoption support 

Ongoing life story work and preparation of Life story book 
Independent Review Officer monitoring of quality of child’s care 
and care plan 

Support prospective adopters in preparation and submission of 
application for Adoption Order – including attending at court 

Preparation of later life letter 
ADOPTION AND SPECIAL GUARDIANSHIP SUPPORT 

Assessment for adoption or special guardianship support 
Developing and delivering adoption and special guardianship 
support plans 

Agree and administer financial support to adoptive families pre 
and post Adoption Order 

Adoption and special guardianship support delivery including:
 Support groups
 Social events
 Post adoption/special guardianship training
 Independent Birth Relative services
 Support with ongoing birth relative contact
 Specialist Life Story practitioners
 Adoption counselling and training



Financial support to adopters and special guardians including 
adoption and special guardianship allowances 

SPECIAL GUARDIANSHIP ORDERS
Receipt of application or court request for special guardianship 
Assessment of applicants for Special Guardianship 
NON-AGENCY ADOPTIONS
Step parent/partner adoption assessments 
Intercountry adoption assessments and post approval and post 
order support



Page 57



6

3. Headline activity data 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

3.1 Seventy-five children had decisions made by the local authority Agency Decision Maker that 
they should be placed for adoption (SBPA). However, numbers dropped each quarter, from a 
total of twenty-eight in Q1 to ten in Q4. This was most noticeable in Dorset, where only one 
SBPA decision was made in that quarter.

3.2  Nearly 50% of the children with SBPA decisions in the year were over three, with the only 
child from Dorset with a SBPA decision in Quarter 4 aged eight. 

3.3  Fifty-eight Placement Orders were made by the courts from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. 
Following on from the local authority decision that a child should be placed for adoption, 
Placement Orders give social workers legal authority to place a child for adoption. 

3.4  Quarter 4 saw a fall in numbers of Placement Orders granted compared to the previous two 
quarters, with a differential between the number of local authority decisions that a child 
SBPA and the court making Placement Orders reflecting changes of plan during the court 
process. The highest proportion of changes of plan between SBPA decision and Placement 
Order were in Dorset.

3.5  Fifty children in the care of the local authorities of Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole were 
placed for adoption in the year. Numbers of children placed for adoption dipped in Quarters 
1 and 2 of the year but have since continued to rise steadily, with fifteen children placed for 
adoption in Quarter 4, back to the overall average per quarter since Aspire went live.  

3.6 Thirty eight percent of all of the children placed in the year were over three years of age, 
and over one in three were in sibling groups. The oldest child placed was nearly fifteen years 
old at the point of her placement for adoption with her foster carers. The oldest child placed 
for adoption not with her foster carers was eight years of age. Another youngster who was 
nearly eight at the time of placement was placed for adoption as part of a sibling group of 
three. 

3.7 Eleven children were placed on an Early Permanent (EP) basis in 2018-19, an increase over 
the previous year when 7 children were placed. Early Permanence means that children can 
be placed on a fostering basis with approved adopters who will go on to adopt them if the 
courts agree a Placement Order. All of the children placed on this basis in 2018-19 either 
have or will be adopted by these families. 

3.8  Of the 106 children placed for adoption between July 2017 and the end of March 2019, all 
but one remains in their adoptive placement or have been adopted. There was one 
placement disruption after the child had been with the family for eight months, in March 
2019. A disruption meeting has been held.  

3.9  Reflecting a national concern, there remain a group of priority children for whom Aspire is 
still family finding for internally and nationally.  At the end of March 2019, there were thirty-
six children with Placement Orders but not yet placed. These included six sibling groups of 
two, children with special needs including babies with global developmental delay, and 
youngsters over the age of five, including a girl aged nine. 

Page 58



7

3.10 Seventeen of the thirty-six children were either matched or with foster carers who were 
planning to adopt them.  Two children were in Early Permanent placements and four other 
children are to be adopted by their foster carers, with assessments of those carers underway 
and post adoption support already agreed.

3.11 It has been clear in the last year that the most effective and efficient way to place these 
children is for Aspire to recruit and assess their own families to take children with more 
complex needs. For example, a family are currently being specifically assessed for twins aged 
eight for whom it has been impossible to recruit nationally, another eight-year-old is being 
matched inhouse.  Recruitment activity is the priority in the coming year and is being 
stepped up to increase the overall number of adopters and targeted to recruit families who 
will consider the children currently waiting. 

3.12  A total of seventy four children in care to the local authorities funding Aspire were adopted 
in 2018-19, averaging about eighteen each quarter since Aspire went live.

3.13 National adoption scorecards measure timeliness in adoption activity on a 3-year rolling 
average. They are published by the Department for Education a year later than the activity 
they are reporting on. Care also must be taken as small numbers can result in significant 
swings in averages if just a few children take longer to place for adoption. The outcome for 
the child is a positive one but can reflect negatively on the data. Aspire data for 2018-19 
would suggest that for all three local authorities, of the children adopted in 2018-19, it took 
an average of 157 days between the local authority receiving court authority to place the 
child and the Aspire ADM deciding on a match to an adoptive family. The England average 
from the 2015-18 adoption scorecards is 201 days. It took an average of 461 days between a 
child entering care and moving in with its adoptive family. The England average from the 
2015-18 adoption scorecards is 486 days.

Page 59



8

3.14 Numbers of adopters approved failed to meet sufficiency targets in 2018-19, largely because 
of staff absences in the team due to maternity and adoption leave coinciding with health 
issues for a further 2 members of the team. The introduction in October 2018 of a new case 
management system by Bournemouth Borough Council, Aspire’s host authority, further 
slowed the team down. The number of adopters already approved and waiting helped to 
buffer the fall so that most children placed for adoption were still placed with Aspire 
approved adopters. The numbers of adopters in assessment were back to target levels by 
the end of the year using staff on fixed term and casual contracts and as the permanent 
members of the team returned to work.  

3.15 Numbers of referrals for special guardianship assessments have continued to rise, with 148 
in the year. The team were staffed and funded for no more than 100 referrals a year.  There 
have been 51 withdrawals in the year prior to completion of the assessment, often after a 
significant amount of work has been undertaken. 

3.16 Numbers of adoption and SG support cases have doubled in Quarter 4 compared to the 
previous 2 quarters, for no obvious reason. The majority of these were for adoption support 
rather than special guardianship support though more of the latter were crisis driven 
referrals. Over half of all referrals for adoption and special guardianship support in Quarter 4 
were from Dorset. 

The tables below illustrate adoption and special guardianship activity, quarter on quarter, for each 
local authority since Aspire went live in July 2017. 

Page 60



9

4. Finance

4.1 Aspire is funded by the local authorities for whom it undertakes adoption and special 
guardianship services. The funding agreement was based on existing spend on adoption 
services, plus adjustments for additional responsibilities, tested against 6 agreed drivers.

4.2 The budget framework percentages agreed at the time of go live were for contributions of 
44.6% from Dorset County Council, 38.3% from Bournemouth Borough Council and 17.1% 
from the Borough of Poole. The total annual budget in 2018-19 was £2,002,700, with 
funding of £885,200 from Dorset County Council, £777,900 from Bournemouth Borough 
Council and £339,600 from the Borough of Poole.

4.3 In the Inter Authority Agreement underpinning Aspire, it was agreed that any underspend 
would go into the Aspire Earmarked Reserve. There was £40,000 in the Reserve at the 
beginning of 2018-19 following underspends in the first 9 months after Aspire went live. In 
the Inter Authority Agreement, it was also agreed that any overspend was a shared risk and 
would be split proportionately between the 3 local authorities. 

Page 61



10

4.4 In 2018-19, there was an overspend on the staffing budget in line with agreements made at 
Aspire Management Boards to recruit casual staff and staff on fixed term contracts to 
manage the volume of activity.  Aspire is also expected to cover inflationary growth so was 
required to meet pressures arising from the national pay award for 2018/2019, adding a 
further pressure of around £34,000 to the staffing budgets. Factoring in an additional growth 
element for increments pushed this pressure to £42,000. 

4.5 The pressure on the staffing budget was offset to some extent by underspending in other 
budget areas, and by income generated by selling more Aspire assessed adopters to other 
adoption agencies than was spent buying in families for children for whom Aspire was family 
finding. 

4.6 The overall budgetary position for Aspire for 2018/2019 was a £100,000 overspend. The 
£40,000 in the reserve offset that to some extent, leaving £60,000 to be split between the 3 
local authorities. This translated into £22,980 from Bournemouth Borough Council, £10,260 
from the Borough of Poole and £26,760 from Dorset County Council. 

4.7 Whilst the staffing and interagency budgets remain a potential pressure into 2019-20, Aspire 
can still be seen as providing value for money. Removing children from the care system 
through adoption represents a significant saving for local authorities. The University of 
Bristol have estimated costs of £34,320 a year for every year a child remains in foster care. 
Aspire discharges most of the local authority statutory duties in respect of adoption and 
special guardianship, and had placed 106 children for adoption since July 2017, removing 
them from the care system, for a total budget of just over £2,000,000 a year.  Had these 
children remained in the care system, the total cost per year to the three local authorities of 
all of those children remaining in care would have been over £3.6 million. 

5. Commissioning

5.1 Most of the services which are the responsibility of Aspire are provided by staff directly 
employed by the RAA, other than an independent support service for birth families whose 
children have been adopted, and services provided by external therapeutic providers funded 
by the Adoption Support Fund. 

5.2 The independent support service to birth relatives affected by adoption is commissioned out 
to Families for Children, the Voluntary Adoption Agency which is partnered with Aspire. 
Quarterly contract review meetings are held. The current contract runs to 31st March 2020.

5.3 Applications are made to the Adoption Support Fund (ASF) (funded by central government) 
to pay external providers, when families need therapeutic services which Aspire cannot 
provide in house. Providers are checked out by the Bournemouth Borough Council Access to 
Resources Team (ART) prior to adding to the pan Dorset providers list. The ASF also 
generated some income for Aspire as some therapeutic services provided in house can also 
be claimed via the ASF, generating nearly £12,000 in the year. The future of the fund is 
uncertain after April 2020, dependent on the central government’s Autumn Spending 
Review.

Page 62



11

6. The national picture

6.1 At the beginning of April 2019, Aspire Adoption was one of seventeen RAAs established 
across the country, comprising of 77 Local Authorities, with others due to come on line in 
2019/2020. The Department of Education is still pushing the agenda for regional adoption 
agencies, and at the end of March 2019, only 17 Local Authorities were not part of a 
regionalisation plan to go live by April 2020. The map below shows which RAAs were live or 
planned as at April 2019.

6.2 In the South West of England, Adopt South West (Devon, Somerset, Plymouth and Torbay) 
went live on 1 October 2018, Adoption West (Bristol, BANES, North Somerset, 
Gloucestershire, Wiltshire, South Gloucestershire) went live on 1 March 2019, followed by 
Adopt South (Hampshire and the Isle of Wight, Southampton, and Plymouth), on 1 April 
2019. Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly have not yet engaged in the RAA programme. 

6.3 There are two key areas of pressure for the emerging RAAs. The most immediately pressing 
is in relation to adopter sufficiency. At the end of February 2019, there were 1,032 children 
active on the national Adoption Register with Placement Orders, but no adoptive family 
identified. There were a further 110 children on hold, but only 288 approved adopters active 
on the Register. 

Page 63



12

6.4 Data from the South West Adoption Consortium (SWAC) for the end of March 2019 confirms 
that there were 125 children registered with SWAC and only 54 prospective adopters. 

6.5 National data from the Adoption and Special Leadership Board for the 3rd Quarter of 2018-
19 suggests a slight improvement in Registrations of Interest from prospective adopters and 
in numbers of those in assessment. However, there had also been an increase in the 
numbers of children waiting with a placement order but not yet placed with an adoptive 
family. 39% of the children waiting at 31 December 2018 had been waiting 18 months or 
more. Timescales for placing children for adoption in the adoption scorecards also seem to 
have stalled since 2017.

6.6 The children waiting longest are likely to be older, in sibling groups, of black, Asian, or mixed 
ethnicity (BAME) or with significant developmental delay or disabilities. Work is being 
undertaken at a national level to increase recruitment numerically and to target adopters 
for the children waiting longest.

6.7 The other area of national focus is in relation to adoption support. The future of the ASF is 
uncertain beyond April 2020, dependent on the central government Autumn Spending 
Review, and demand for services is rising. Aspire also has the pressure of having 
responsibility for support to special guardians too where demand is high. Work on this too is 
a priority for RAA Leaders. 

7. Service Priorities for 2019-20 

7.1 Aspire has the following key aims for the coming year-

 Decisions about adoption and special guardianship for children in care are made in a 
consistent way and informed by the evidence about what is in the best interests of the 
child.

 Those children are then matched and placed without delay with suitable and well-
prepared adopters or special guardians;

 Once placed, children and families are given the support they need to thrive.

 To achieve all of the above whilst remaining in budget.

7.2 To help deliver the aims set out above, activities are focused around the following strategic 
objectives: 

 Recruiting a sufficiency of prospective adopters to continue to place the majority of 
Aspire children with families assessed by Aspire, with a surplus of families to ‘sell on’ to 
other local authorities and RAAs, bringing income into the RAA and contributing to 
national sufficiency targets;

Page 64



13

 Targeting recruitment to families who will be able to meet the needs of children waiting 
longest and those with the most complex needs. 

 Developing practice to ensure that all children are well prepared for the move to their 
adoptive family, that introduction plans are child focused and that children and families 
are supported after placement.

 Ensuring that assessments of special guardians are completed within court timescales 
and provide robust independent evidence to the LAs and courts to inform their 
permanence decisions for vulnerable children.

 Developing adoption and special guardianship support services to meet increasing need 
and demand, particularly in the light of continuing uncertainty about the future of the 
Adoption Support Fund.

8. Challenges for the year ahead 

 Being able to recruit the ‘right’ kind of adopters at a time when there are difficulties 
nationally in doing so. If Aspire is unable to do so, there will be pressure on budgets from 
outgoing interagency fees for children exceeding income in from interagency fees for 
adopters who are matched with children from elsewhere.

 Managing the uncertainty around the continuation of the Adoption Support Fund beyond 
2020 and managing demand to free Aspire staff up to develop their skills to deliver 
therapeutic services inhouse. 

 Maintaining current staffing levels and managing capacity across all teams as a result of 
higher than expected demand in all areas of work.

9. Conclusion

9.1 Demand has been high in all areas of work undertaken by Aspire Adoption since the RAA 
went live in 2017. A total of 106 children have been placed in new families through adoption. 
All but one of those placements has been successful. These are some of the most damaged 
youngsters in society. The courts do not make Placement Orders without being completely 
satisfied that a child cannot live with their birth family whatever support is provided to help 
them to turn their lives round. Legally removing parental responsibility and a parent’s legal 
rights in respect of a child permanently is a decision which is only taken when ‘nothing else 
will do.’

9.2 For the children placed for adoption, they have an opportunity to grow up in stable, loving 
homes, where the emotional damage of their early months or years can be repaired, giving 
them the best chance to grow up as healthy, happy individuals. Adopters come in all shapes 
and sizes, some with children by birth, others childless, single, married, in heterosexual or 
same sex relationships. For them, adoption is an opportunity to have a family or to extend 
their existing family. Adoption is life changing for them too. 

Page 65



14

9.3 The impact of these children’s early experiences and having to form new relationships 
means that adoptive families will need ongoing support over the years. Demand for post 
adoption services has been high, with a significant amount of unmet need bubbling up as 
soon as Aspire Adoption went live. Families who had not received a service or who were on 
waiting lists for support services in the build up to the RAA going live overwhelmed the team 
with their needs in the first six to nine months. The backlog has now been cleared but 
demand remains high and at times the team has to operate a waiting list based on priority 
needs. Having clinical psychology support and an education specialist post is seen as 
innovative and has been key in managing and developing post order services. The 
development of group work has also helped to manage demand. However, this remains a 
pressure area for the coming year, particularly given the uncertainty of the future of the ASF.

9.4 Aspire is the only RAA to have included services to special guardians, both assessments and 
support This is a model which the Department for Education have been very interested in, 
with the national focus on permanence for children now including special guardianship. The 
national Adoption Leadership Board (ALB) has now extended its remit to become the 
Adoption and Special Guardianship Leadership Board (ASGLB). Aspire’s experience in 
assessing special guardians and in providing support to special guardians has been called on 
in a number of national debates. Andrew Christie, who chairs the ASGLB, has visited Aspire 
to talk to service users and been very positive about the model. The Department for 
Education are also very interested in the organisational structure of Aspire in this respect. 

9.5 There is also interest nationally in the Aspire model of taking case responsibility for the 
majority of children with adoption plans from the point of the Placement Order. Aspire is not 
the only RAA to have done so but one of a handful of live RAAs to have done so from day 
one. Others are interested in the model but are moving towards integrated services for their 
RAAs incrementally, and so are not at a point where this is an option as yet. 

9.6 Aspire was one of the first to go live, and is seen nationally as one of the most successful, of 
the live RAAs. A longitudinal evaluation of RAAs is underway by the University of Bristol, and 
Ecorys, and feedback from the initial two day visit in November 2018 was positive. There 
was feedback about the ‘wide engagement from RAA staff, participating local authorities 
and stakeholders’. They went on to add that ‘There was a common view that the new 
structure worked well and frequently interviewees considered the connections between the 
RAA, partner LAs and external stakeholders (including the courts) to be one of the defining 
features of their model, and an important part of its success to date….. Shared themes from 
the interviews included the emergence of a more child-centred model, greater consistency 
across processes and pathways (e.g. early permanence), a more stable adopter journey, and 
improved quality (e.g. more robust and accurate assessment and case reporting, improved 
in-house matches, including harder to place cases), evidenced through a range of practice 
examples’ 

9.7 Aspire has been part of two Ofsted inspections, for the Borough of Poole in 2017  and 
Bournemouth Borough Council in 2018. On both occasions, feedback was positive. From the 
Borough of Poole inspection report- ‘Adoption services are good, and permanence through 
adoption is achieved for children from a range of different backgrounds and ages’ 

Page 66



15

‘In the last year, the local authority has been successful in achieving adoption for an 
increasing number of children. This includes older children, brothers and sisters together, 
children from minority ethnic backgrounds and placements for children with complex needs.’ 

From the Bournemouth Borough Council Inspection report- ‘The establishment of the 
regional adoption agency Aspire Adoption, managed by Bournemouth on behalf of three 
local authorities, has led to improvements in adoption performance, the quality of 
assessments and level of support to adoptive carers.’ 

‘Children are well matched with adopters who are able to access a range of therapeutic and 
support services to maximise their understanding of and care for children. Children’s views 
and experiences are captured effectively, and direct and therapeutic input helps prepare 
them for adoption. Support plans are suitably considered and ensure that adopters have 
access to necessary practical and financial support to ensure a successful adoption as far as 
possible. An experienced adoption panel chair and an agency decision-maker provide 
appropriate scrutiny and challenge to adoption applications.’

9.8 Other live RAAs have struggled financially, needing significant injections of cash mainly 
because of overspend on the interagency budget. Despite the slowdown in adopter 
assessments in 2018-19, Aspire has managed to place the majority of Aspire children with 
Aspire assessed adopters, with a surplus of adopters to sell on to other adoption agencies, 
generating income for the RAA. The overspend in 2018-19 was therefore kept to a minimum. 
This is an area where all RAAs remain vulnerable, given that an individual adoption 
placement for a child costs at least £27,000, and in the Aspire model, the interagency 
expenditure has to be found from the overall RAA budget of just over £2 million pounds a 
year. 

Page 67



16

Appendix 1
Aspire Organisational Structure and Staffing

1. Staffing

1.1 There are 44 permanent full time equivalent posts in Aspire, with the permanent staffing 
establishment supplemented by those on casual or fixed term contracts to increase capacity 
where needed. Many of the staff work part time, with the total number of staff comprising of 
social workers, support workers, and business support staff totalling about 65.

1.2 The service is led and managed by the Aspire Adoption Service Manager, Heather Freeman. 
Mrs Freeman is a qualified social worker, has a management qualification and is registered 
with HCPC. 

1.3 The Recruitment & Assessment Team comprises of a team manager, practice manager and 7.0 
FTE social workers. All are registered with the HCPC. 

1.4 The Family Finding, Matching and Placement Team comprises of a team manager, practice 
manager and 5.5 FTE social workers, all of whom are registered with the HCPC, and 3 FTE 
family support workers. 

1.5 The Special Guardianship Assessment team has a team manager, practice manager and 5.5 
FTE social workers. All are registered with the HCPC.

1.6 The Adoption & Special Guardianship Support team has a team manager, practice manager 
and 5 FTE social workers, all of whom are registered with the HCPC. The team also has 3 FTE 
family support workers, a 0.4 FTE clinical psychologist and a 0.8 FTE education specialist.

1.7 There are 2 full time Permanence Coordinators, who also act as Agency Advisers to the Aspire 
Adoption Panel and Aspire Agency Decision Maker, and to the Agency Decision Makers in the 
local authorities in relation to decisions as to whether a child should be adopted. 

Page 68



17

1.8 The service is supported by 6 FTE business support staff including a senior business support 
officer, a panel administrator, and a marketing, media and monitoring officer.

1.9 All of the social workers employed by Aspire are registered with the HCPC, and many of the 
staff, including support workers, have additional qualifications including skills in a variety of 
therapeutic interventions such as theraplay, sensory integration, mindfulness and DDP (Dyadic 
Developmental Psychotherapy). 

1.10 Aspire also has access to dedicated clinical psychology support for staff and service users, and 
an educational specialist funded by the Virtual School Heads in Bournemouth, Poole and 
Dorset.

1.11 No agency staff are employed, as all posts are filled, and any vacancies attract a high standard 
of applications across all areas of the work undertaken by Aspire. Casual staff add capacity for 
one off pieces of work in the Recruitment and Assessment Team and the Special Guardianship 
Assessment Team. There are 3 fixed term contract staff as agreed by the Management Board. 
Two are in the Recruitment and Assessment Team and the third is providing maternity cover 
in the Family Finding, Matching and Placement Team. 

2. Staff training and development

2.1 Staff in Aspire have access to training and courses run by Bournemouth as the host authority 
and access to external courses, dependent on budgetary restrictions. 

2.2 All staff have monthly supervision and annual appraisals, and monthly team case and practice 
reflection sessions are facilitated by the clinical psychologists

2.3 Informal lunchtime professional practice sessions are also held on a monthly basis.

2.4 A staff forum for all staff in Aspire is held every 4 months to update on Aspire performance 
data, local and national issues relating to the service and to develop the team service plans. 

2.5 Training for local authority staff was commissioned in October 2018 to raise standards in 
completing Child Permanence Reports.

2.6 A half day Signs of Safety briefing was held for Aspire staff in December 2019. 

2.7 A half day training on Early Permanence was commissioned from CCS Adoption in November 
2018 for staff in Aspire and in the local authorities. 

2.8 An education conference on supporting adopted and permanently placed children was 
sponsored from the training budget in October 2018 for Aspire staff and designated teachers 
and learning support assistants in the geographic area. 

2.9 There are plans for another conference in 2019-20 to make best use of the limited training 
budget by charging external attendees. 

Page 69



18

Appendix 2
Governance

The following is taken from the Inter Authority Agreement

SCHEDULE 2 – TERMS OF REFERENCE 

Governance Structure 
 

  
Part 1 – Strategic Partnership Board 

1 Name: 

The name of the Board for Aspire Adoption shall be the Strategic Partnership Board which 
is established pursuant to an Inter Authority Agreement between Bournemouth Borough 
Council, Dorset County Council and the Borough of Poole ("the Councils") for the creation 
of a Regional Adoption Agency. 

2 Role: 

The Board will provide advice, oversight and endorsement of the strategic direction of Aspire 
Adoption.  

3 The Board will: 

3.1 Provide and review the strategic direction of Aspire Adoption; 

3.2 Oversee, review and endorse budget setting and make recommendations to the 
Councils for Aspire Adoption; 

3.2.1 Oversee, review and endorse the Business Plan annually and make 
recommendations to the Councils for Aspire Adoption; 

3.2.2 Attempt to resolve disputes between the Councils under the terms of the 
Inter Authority Agreement. 

4 Accountability and Responsibility: 

4.1 Each Local Authority is responsible for ensuring that their nominated representative(s) 
(or named substitute) are available to attend all Board meetings, which will be 
scheduled in advance.  

Page 70



19

4.2 All members of the Board will be in a position to make decisions within their respective 
organisation, where appropriate.  

4.3 All members of the Board will be responsible for reporting to their organisation, 
through their respective governance arrangements.  

 
5 Meetings of the Board 

5.1 The Board will meet every six months or at a greater or lesser frequency if it so decides. 

5.2 The Board will elect a Chairperson and Vice Chairperson from amongst its members. 

5.3 The Chairperson will agree the dates, times and venues for the meetings of the Board. 
The meeting timetable will be scheduled over the year, to reflect both planned 
monitoring and evaluation requirements. 

5.4 The Chairperson shall normally preside at all meetings of the Board. 

5.5 The Chairperson will be responsible for agreeing meeting agendas and draft minutes 
for circulation. 

5.6 Agendas and papers for the meeting will be sent out at least five working days prior to 
the meeting in order to provide time for members of the Board to read them and 
identify actions for their own organisations.  

5.7 Minutes of meeting will be circulated within 5 working days after the meeting with an 
action list. 

6 Membership: 

6.1 The Board will consist of: 

6.1.1 Portfolio Holder and Executive Director for Childrens Services for 
Bournemouth Borough Council; 

6.1.2 Cabinet Member for Learning, Skills and Children's Safeguarding and 
Corporate Director for Children's, Adults and Community Services for 
Dorset County Council; 

6.1.3 Portfolio Holder and Strategic Director for Childrens Services for the 
Borough of Poole Council. 

6.2 The Board will consult (so far as it considers proper and appropriate to do so): 

6.2.1 Representatives from local Voluntary Adoption Agencies/Families for 
Children; and 

6.2.2 A representative from Stakeholders.  

6.3 Members of the Board should: 

6.3.1 Commit to attending the majority of meetings or nominate a suitable 
substitute who can attend in their place who will be expected to exercise 

Page 71



20

the powers of the Member for whom they are substituting. Only Board 
members or their named representatives can attend Board meetings;  

6.3.2 Uphold and support the Board decisions and be prepared to follow though 
actions and decisions for the Board proposals and declaring any conflict of 
interest should it arise; 

6.3.3 Be prepared to represent the Board at stakeholder events and support the 
agreed consensus view of the Board when speaking on behalf of the Board 
to other parties. 

7 Voting – Quorum 

7.1 No quorum is necessary for the routine business and the receiving of reports. However 
where the Chairperson determines that a critical decision is required there must be a 
representative from all the Councils. 

7.2 In the spirit of effective collaboration and partnership working, the Board will always 
seek to come to agreement through consensus and unanimity following debate and 
discussion where all the members will be encouraged to participate. 

7.3 The Members of the Board will be expected to subscribe to the seven principles of 
public life in their work and decision making. The principles are selflessness, integrity, 
objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. 

7.4 Members will be expected to declare any personal interests in the business of the 
Board and to withdraw from participation where such interests are prejudicial or 
pecuniary. 

Part 2 – Operational Management Board
 
1 Name: 

The name of the Board for Aspire Adoption shall be the Operational Management Board 
which is established pursuant to an Inter Authority Agreement between Bournemouth 
Borough Council, Dorset County Council and the Borough of Poole ("the Councils") for the 
creation of a Regional Adoption Agency. 

2 Role: 

The Board will provide support, advice and management to Aspire Adoption to ensure that 
statutory requirements and the Business Plan is delivered effectively. 

3 The Board will: 

3.1 oversee the implementation of the Aspire Adoption Budget and Business Plan; 

3.2 oversee the commissioning arrangements and operational performance against 
agreed local priorities and targets and in line with national priorities and targets. 

Page 72



21

4 Accountability and Responsibility: 

4.1 Each Local Authority is responsible for ensuring that their nominated representative(s) 
(or named substitute) are available to attend all Board meetings, which will be 
scheduled in advance.  

4.2 This Board will report to the Strategic Partnership Board.  

5 Meetings of the Board 

5.1 The Board will meet quarterly or at a greater or lesser frequency if it so decides. 

5.2 The Board will elect a Chairperson and Vice Chairperson from amongst its members. 

5.3 The Chairperson will agree the dates, times and venues for the meetings of the Board. 
The meeting timetable will be scheduled over the year, to reflect both planned 
monitoring and evaluation requirements. 

5.4 The Chairperson shall normally preside at all meetings of the Board. 

5.5 The Chairperson will be responsible for agreeing meeting agendas and draft minutes 
for circulation. 

5.6 Agendas and papers for the meeting will be sent out at least five working days prior to 
the meeting in order to provide time for members of the Board to read them and 
identify actions for their own organisations.  

5.7 Minutes of meeting will be circulated within 5 working days after the meeting with an 
action list. 

 
6 Membership: 

6.1 The Board will consist of: 

6.1.1 Service Director for Children’s Social Care for Bournemouth; 

6.1.2 Assistant Director – Care and Protection for Dorset; 

6.1.3 Head of Children & Young People’s Social Care for Poole; 6.1.4 

Childrens Services Commissioners from each of the three Parties; 

6.1.5 Adoption Aspire Manager. 

6.2 Members of the Board should: 

6.2.1 Commit to attending the majority of meetings or nominate a suitable 
substitute who can attend in their place who will be expected to exercise 
the powers of the Member for whom they are substituting. Only Board 
members or their named representatives can attend Board meetings;  

6.2.2 Uphold and support the Board decisions and be prepared to follow though 
actions and decisions and declaring any conflict of interest should it arise; 

Page 73



22

6.2.3 Be prepared to represent the Board at stakeholder events and support the 
agreed consensus view of the Board when speaking on behalf of the Board 
to other parties. 

 
7 Voting – Quorum 

7.1 No quorum is necessary for the routine business and the receiving of reports. However 
where the Chairperson determines that a critical decision is required there must be a 
representative from all the Councils. 

7.2 In the spirit of effective collaboration and partnership working, the Board will always 
seek to come to agreement through consensus and unanimity following debate and 
discussion where all the members will be encouraged to participate. 

7.3 The Members of the Board will be expected to subscribe to the seven principles of 
public life in their work and decision making. The principles are selflessness, integrity, 
objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. 

7.4 Members will be expected to declare any personal interests in the business of the 
Board and to withdraw from participation where such interests are prejudicial or 
pecuniary. 

Page 74



23

Appendix 3
Registered Manager/Responsible Officer and Agency Decision Maker (ADM) Role

1.1 Until 1st April 2019, the Registered Manager/Responsible Officer for Bournemouth Borough 
Council, under regulation 5 of the Local Authority Adoption Service (England) Regulations 2003, 
was one of the service managers in Bournemouth. In Poole, the role was undertaken by the 
Head of Children and Young People’s Services. In Dorset, the role was undertaken by the Senior 
Manager, Placements and Resources. All are members of the Aspire Operational Management 
Board. From 1st April 2019, the role will be undertaken for BCP Council by the Service Manager 
for Aspire Adoption, and by the Senior Manager, Placements and Resources for Dorset Council. 

1.2 In 2018-19, there were two Agency Decision Makers for Aspire Adoption and Bournemouth 
Borough Council, a service manager and the Director of Children and Adult Services in 
Bournemouth Borough Council. They were responsible for Should Be Placed for Adoption (SBPA) 
decisions for looked after children from Bournemouth Borough Council, for decisions about the 
suitability of Aspire adopters, and for all matches made within Aspire for looked after children 
who originated from the local authority areas of Bournemouth, Poole or Dorset Council. 

1.3 In Poole, agency decisions about whether a child should be placed for adoption were shared 
between a service manager and the Head of Children and Young People’s Services in Poole. In 
Dorset, the ADM role for SBPA decisions was undertaken by the Senior Manager, Placements 
and Resources . 

1.4 From 1st April 2019, the Senior Manager, Placements and Resources will continue as ADM for 
Should Be Placed for Adoption decisions for looked after children from Dorset, and 2  service 
managers and the interim Director of Children and Families in BCP Council will take on the ADM 
role for Aspire and BCP Council. All have social work and management qualifications and are 
registered with HCPC.

Page 75



24

Appendix 4

Aspire Adoption Panel

1.1 Aspire Adoption operates an Adoption Panel, constituted in accordance with legislation, 
regulations and guidance. The panel has an independent chairperson, and 15 members on a 
Central List from which each panel is drawn. There is no legal maximum number of panel 
members at each panel but in practice, a maximum of 6 or 7 attend each panel, including the 
panel chair and a social worker. The designated doctor for looked after children in the local 
authorities funding Aspire is also the agency medical adviser and is a full member of the panel. 

1.2 The panel is serviced by a panel administrator and has access to legal advice if needed. The 
professional advice to the panel is provided by the two Permanence Coordinators, one of 
whom attends each Panel to ensure the smooth running and to advise on policies and 
procedures. 

1.3 Current membership includes individuals with personal experience of adoption as adopters 
and adopted adults. It also includes experienced social workers with direct experience of 
adoption work, a psychotherapist with experience of working in a child and adolescent mental 
health setting, and panel members with experience of working in an educational setting.  

1.4 Members of the Central List from which individual panel membership is drawn reflect the 
diversity of modern society as far as possible, and include those who are single, in 
heterosexual and same sex relationships. One panel member on the Central List has personal 
experience of disability. There is some diversity in terms of age, with panel members in their 
30s and others who are retired. Although most panel members are of white British ethnic 
origin, one panel members is of black African ethnicity and another is of Indian descent. 

1.5 The functions of the panel in relation to adoption matters are 
 to recommend whether prospective adopters are suitable to adopt a child;
 to recommend whether a proposed match between a child and prospective adopters is 

a suitable one.
 In circumstances where a child is relinquished for adoption and no Placement Order is 

applied for, the panel will recommend whether the child should be placed for adoption

1.6 The panel can also give advice about the numbers and ages of children in relation to 
prospective adopters, also about post adoption contact, delegated parental responsibility and 
adoption support. The panel has a consultative role regarding the agency's policies and 
procedures, and a monitoring role regarding quality assurance and ensuring that the time 
scales set out in the Adoption & Children Act 2002 are met. 

1.7 The Aspire Adoption Panel makes recommendations based on detailed written reports 
prepared by the child's social worker and adoption social worker, and the social worker and 
team manager’s attendance at panel to clarify points if needed. 

1.8 When considering the approval or deregistration of prospective adopters or a match between 
prospective adopters and a child, adoptive applicants have the option of attending panel in 
person, to provide scope to discuss and clarify any issues relevant to the application. 

Page 76



25

Applicants who decide not to attend in person are not disadvantaged in any way and no 
judgement is made from their decision not to do so although every effort will be made to 
assist their attendance. 

1.9 The recommendations and advice of the panel are referred, along with the final agreed 
minutes of the meeting, to the Agency Decision Maker, for a decision to be made and 
conveyed to all parties within the time scales laid down in the Adoption & Children Act 2002. 

1.10 The Panel chair is independent, is an experienced chair and an adopter of 2 children. He 
attends both the Aspire Operational Management Board and the Aspire Strategic Partnership 
Board and presents a report to the Boards every 6 months in line with standard 17 of the 
Adoption Minimum Standards, on the quality of reports being presented to the panel. This 
includes whether the requirements of the Restrictions on the Preparation of Adoption Reports 
Regulations 2005 have been met, and whether there is a thorough, rigorous, consistent and 
fair approach across the service in the assessment of whether a child should be placed for 
adoption, the suitability of prospective adopters and the proposed placement. His most recent 
report is included as Appendix 5 

Page 77



26

Appendix 5 

Aspire Adoption Panel Chair’s Bi-Annual Report January 2019

Introduction

This is my third Report as Chair of Aspire’s Adoption Panel.
Panel is working very well now as an established and integrated team.  

Panel

Panel met on fourteen occasions between July 1st and December 31st 2018.  Workload has been 
consistent, but manageable.  Our priority has been, and remains, to ensure that matches are heard 
as quickly as possible. 

Use of IT to distribute papers to Panel members electronically has rolled out relatively smoothly.  
Whilst there have been some hardware issues, most particularly the operation of the iPads given the 
security settings put in place, these are being addressed and have not greatly disrupted the 
functioning of Panel.

Improved methods of working have continued to grow organically, enhancing the way by which 
recommendations are delivered by panel members.  Feedback from our Agency Decision Makers has 
been positive in respect of the format in which Panel’s recommendations are presented.

Time keeping remains a challenge particularly in respect of accommodating the detailed questioning 
of some Panel members within the time frame allotted.  ‘Asking pertinent (and tricky) questions’ has 
therefore been added as a topic at Panel’s Training Day on January 25th.

Our Vice Chairs have chaired Panels successfully during the period.

Panel Focus

Panel’s focus remains entirely on the child(ren).  

We have focussed appropriately on issues of safeguarding, particularly when considering applicants 
for approval.  This has continued to include the ability to deal with stress, applicants’ presentation 
when frustrated, stressed or angry and the ability of their support networks to assist and mitigate at 
stressful moments.  

Other common themes at approval have included the potential issues arising from obesity, financial 
arrangements and in the case of those applicants who have suffered from infertility, evidence that 
they have come to terms with and grieved appropriately for their loss of any birth child of their own.

Similarly, we continue to keep the child(ren) at the centre of our scrutiny when considering matches.  
We ensure their needs are at the forefront of the matching process and that adopters have been 
appropriately and fully prepared.  

A growing focus for Panel during consideration of matches has been contact arrangements and the 
support plan.  It has been heartening to see an increase in the number of contact plans including 
direct contact for adopted children with their siblings and extended families. 

Appraisals

All panel Members have completed appraisals for 2018, and I was appraised by the Agency Decision 
Maker in July 2018.

Page 78



27

Appraisals of Panel members have commenced for 2019, with the majority scheduled for early 
February.

Panel Business

Aspire’s Adoption Panel has undertaken the following business over the past year.

January – June 2018 July – December 2018 Total 2018
Approvals 26 16 42
Approvals deferred 0 1 1
Matches 23 22 45
De-Registration 1 5 6
Total 50 44 94

Adopters

Panel has considered 17 recommendations for approval in the six months from July to December 
2018.  All but one of those presented have been approved.  Those approved included heterosexual 
couples, same sex couples and single females.  In most cases the recommendation for approval was 
unanimous during this 6-month period although in one case the chair had to use his casting vote.  
One case was unanimously deferred for further work and has not yet been brought back to Panel. 

Matches

Panel has considered 22 matches in the second six months of 2018, involving 27 children.  The vast 
majority of matches continue to be with prospective adopters who have been approved by Aspire.  
In the second six months of 2018 there were 4 out of agency matches, in comparison to two in the 
first six months of the year.

Quality of Social Worker Reports

I am pleased to be able to report the quality of Social Worker reports has continued to improve 
overall.  

PARs increasingly contain all the information needed for Panel to make an informed decision.  APRs 
have also improved in terms of their content and it has been heartening to note a considerable 
reduction in the amount of formulaic response in these reports and more focussed and individual 
comments being made. 

The quality of CPR and continues to vary, however as I have mentioned previously many of these do 
not originate with Aspire workers. 

Panel have focussed recently on the provision of photographs of birth family members in the CPR, it 
being a document likely to be referenced by the adopted person during their exploration of their 
identity later in life. 

The use of external social workers to complete assessments is also an issue.  In general, where 
agency workers have been used the quality of their paperwork has been less good and has required 
Panel to undertake a greater degree of scrutiny when considering those cases. 

Training

No Panel Training has been held during this period.  The session booked for November having been 
moved to January due to work commitments 

Page 79



28

Regional Activity

One of the Vice Chairs has represented Aspire at the South West Adoption Consortium Panel Chairs 
meeting in Bridgwater and I have attended the London and the South East Panel Chairs meeting at 
Coram BAAF Headquarters.   

Positives

Aspire’s Panel continue to work well as a team, Panel is offering appropriate scrutiny and challenge, 
reports are of a good standard.  Our Panel Advisors offer excellent support to Panel, provide 
appropriate advice and have ensured efficient Panel operation.

Vulnerabilities

There are a number of vulnerabilities for Panel, some of which have continued since my last report.  
I believe the root cause lies with the work and time capacity of the Panel Advisors in particular.   
Given the other roles they undertake, there have not been able to prioritise anything other than 
core Panel work.

Looking back at the vulnerabilities identified in my last report:

The predominance of female members of panel remains, as does a lack of adopters.  I am not the 
only male on Panel and one of only two adopters, the other also fulfilling the role of social work 
member on occasion.  Potential new male adopter Panel members have been identified, but as yet 
interviews have not been arranged for them.  

Feedback of outcomes to Panel continues to be an issue, as does the collation of feedback in 
general.  From social workers and adopters attending panel and from Panel members about the 
quality of paperwork.  

Reporting on outcomes and feedback from adopters and social workers has yet to become an 
integral, regular part of the Panel agenda.

There has been no Panel training during this six-month period, although some Panel members have 
attended training events focused upon particular aspects of adoption work.  The postponement of 
our November session was as a result of workload preventing the Panel Advisor team being able to 
create suitable training sessions and materials for the day.

Additionally, there have been occasions when the Panel Advisors have reported pressure of 
workload prohibiting them being able to fully quality assure Panel papers.  This has created a 
vulnerability where elements of the PAR collected later in the case have not been cross referenced 
or answered within the paperwork.  

I hope that the capacity to create time to help them fulfil some of these items better will be form 
part of the consideration of job planning during staffing reviews moving forward. 

Conclusion

In spite of some increased vulnerabilities, I am pleased to report Aspire’s Adoption Panel has 
established itself well and is operating effectively.  We continue to address longer term 
vulnerabilities with the full engagement of the Panel Advisors and support of Aspire’s senior 
management.  I should be clear that we continue to work well in providing a good level of 
independent scrutiny of those adopters being approved by Aspire and the matches being made by 
the agency.

Page 80



Aspire Adoption 
Six Monthly 
Performance Update 
for Dorset Council
Corporate Parenting 
Board

Page 81



1. Introduction

1.1 This is a six monthly updating report for Dorset Council Corporate Parenting Board 
covering the first two quarters of 2019-20, providing a performance update on Aspire 
Adoption as a Regional Adoption Agency. 

1.2 Aspire Adoption was set up in July 2017 as a Regional Adoption Agency. This was in 
accordance with Government policy for all local authorities to combine in Regional 
Adoption Agencies by the end of 2020. 

1.3 Aspire was delegated most of the statutory adoption functions and some in relation to 
special guardianship by the local authorities of Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole. 

1.4 This is the first report since local government reorganisation on 1st April 2019 which 
led to the creation of two new councils, namely Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole (BCP) Council, and Dorset Council. 

2. Children in care for whom adoption is the plan  

2.1 The numbers of children in the care of Dorset Council (formerly Dorset County 
Council) with a plan for adoption, signed off by the Agency Decision Maker, have 
fluctuated between 1 and 15 each quarter since Aspire went live in 2017.  This 
important decision has remained in the local authority. It was not a function which 
transferred to Aspire. 

2.2 Since July 2017, the average number of agency decisions that a child should be 
placed for adoption (SBPA) for Dorset children in care is 7 per quarter, but with a 
drop since Q4 of 2018-19. Numbers are beginning to pick up again in Q2 of 2019-20.  

9
8

7

15

7 7

1

5
6

Jul-Sep Oct-Dec Jan-Mar Apr-Jun Jul-Sep Oct-Dec Jan-Mar Apr-Jun Jul-Sep
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

SBPA Decisions for Dorset 2017-2019

Page 82



3. Placement Orders

3.1 The agency decision that a child should be adopted is a crucial step in a child’s path 
to permanence through adoption, and a legal requirement before the local authority 
can apply for a Placement Order, the court order permitting them to place a child in 
care for adoption.  

3.2          Only 6 Placement Orders were made for Dorset children in care in Q1 and 2 of 
2019-20. This figure is lower than would be expected given the number of local 
authority decisions in that quarter and previous quarters that a child in care should be 
adopted 

3.3 This reflects a change in plan either by the local authority or the court deciding on an 
alternative permanence option for the child such as a return to birth parents, special 
guardianship or long term fostering. 

6

8

5 5

11

6

3

2

4

Jul-Sep Oct-Dec Jan-Mar Apr-Jun Jul-Sep Oct-Dec Jan-Mar Apr-Jun Jul-Sep
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Placement Order granted Dorset 2017-2019

4. Dorset children in care placed for adoption

Page 83



4.1 Since July 2017, Aspire has placed 62 Dorset children in care for adoption.  

4.2 Had these children remained in care, there would have been ongoing costs, for 
example, associated with foster care, social work time, and independent reviewing 
officer time. The University of Bristol puts these costs at a conservative estimate of 
£34,320 for each year a child remains in care, assuming they are placed in an 
inhouse foster placement not a costly Independent Fostering Agency placement. 
Using this formula, had all of these children remained in care, there would have been 
ongoing costs to Dorset Council of over £2 million pounds a year. 

10 10

7

8

3

5

6

5

8

Jul-Sep Oct-Dec Jan-Mar Apr-Jun Jul-Sep Oct-Dec Jan-Mar Apr-Jun Jul-Sep
0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Placed for adoption Dorset 2017-2019

5. Dorset children in care adopted

5.1 Children are placed for adoption by the local authority but will have lived with their 
adoptive family for six to nine months before an adoption order is made by the court. 

Page 84



5.2 At the point of the adoption order, the child ceases to be in the care of the local 
authority and the adoptive parents have full parental responsibility for that child for 
the rest of their lives. Birth parents permanently lose their parental responsibility. 
Nine adoption orders have been made in respect of Dorset children in care since 
April 2019. 

5.3 There are 17 Dorset children in care in an adoption placement where an adoption 
order is anticipated in the next few months. 

7

9

3

12

2

12

9

4

5

Jul-Sep Oct-Dec Jan-Mar Apr-Jun Jul-Sep Oct-Dec Jan-Mar Apr-Jun Jul-Sep
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Adoption Orders Dorset 2017-2019

6. Special Guardianship 

6.1 Aspire undertakes assessments for the court on behalf of the local authority as to 
whether or not someone is suitable to become a special guardian for a named child. 

Page 85



6.2 The majority of these assessments are of extended family and friends of children in 
care, where it has been assessed that the child cannot safely grow up living their 
birth parents. 

6.3 The local authority social worker undertakes an initial viability assessment of anyone 
put forward to care for the child under a special guardianship order. If that is positive, 
or upon the direction of the court, Aspire undertakes the more in depth, full 
assessment. 

6.4 There were 31 referrals for special guardianship assessments from Dorset in the first 
2 quarters of 2019-20, similar to numbers in each quarter since April 2018. 

6.5 The decision as to whether a special guardianship order is made rests with the court. 

10

7 7

20

12

17

23

21

18

Jul-Sep Oct-Dec Jan-Mar Apr-Jun Jul-Sep Oct-Dec Jan-Mar Apr-Jun Jul-Sep
0

5

10

15

20

25

Special Guardianship referrals Dorset 2017-2019

7. Non -agency adoption placements

7.1 These include partner adoption applications where a step parent applies to adopt the 
child of his partner. The application is a private one and is a direct application by 

Page 86



them to the court. The report which is required of the local authority is court ordered. 
Dorset Council and BCP Council have delegated responsibility for the completion of 
these reports to Aspire. Aspire has on average 14 enquiries about such applications 
each quarter, not all of which proceed to court. 

7.2 Intercountry adoption also falls under the category of non-agency placement. Of 
these, there are very few nowadays, with only 1 or 2 enquiries each quarter, but they 
can be complex and time consuming. 

8. Adopters approved

8.1 30 prospective adopters have been approved in the first 2 quarters of 2019-20, back 
to the levels needed to place most children in care in the 2 councils with Aspire 
assessed adopters, and to bring in income through interagency placements i.e. by 
‘selling’ Aspire approved adopters to other local authorities and Regional Adoption 
Agencies. 

8.2 At the end of September 2019, there were 44 prospective adopters in assessment. 
There were another 14 families who had attended information evenings whose initial 
interest in adopting was being followed up.  

9

12

15

11

3

12

7

16

14

Jul-Sep Oct-Dec Jan-Mar Apr-Jun Jul-Sep Oct-Dec Jan-Mar Apr-Jun Jul-Sep
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

Adopters Approved

9. Adoption and Special Guardianship Support 

9.1 The total number of open cases in the team remains at about 250 at any one time,    
including access to records, support and counselling to adopted adults and birth 

Page 87



parents. The team work with families where support is at the Early Help level, 
through to families in need of therapeutic intervention, to families at the point of 
breakdown with children back on the edge of care.

9.2 127 of the open cases at the end of Q2 2019-20 are from families living in Dorset or 
the responsibility of Dorset Council.

9.3 There were 115 calls to duty in the team during Q2, some of which were in relation to 
open referrals, some were dealt with by the duty worker, and did not go on to referral 
and allocation. 

9.4 In Q2 of 2019-20, thirty six applications have been made to the Adoption Support 
Fund (ASF) for therapeutic support to adoptive families or those created through 
special guardianship in this period for 89 individual children. Of these, only four were 
made for children subject to SGOs. Two were for children adopted overseas, and 
four were made pre adoption order. 44 of the total were for specialist assessment, 
the rest were for therapeutic interventions. The total funding requested in this quarter 
was £121,791.

Page 88



 
 

NHS DORSET CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP 

GOVERNING BODY MEETING 

LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN ANNUAL HEALTH REPORT 

Date of the meeting 17/7/2019 

Author 
P Earney Designated Nurse for looked after Children and 
Care Leavers 

Sponsoring Board member Vanessa Read Director of Nursing & Quality 

Purpose of Report To provide an executive summary report on services 
being commissioned for Looked After Children, current 
trends, and outcomes for all children accommodated in 
Dorset. 

Recommendation The Governing Body/Committee is asked to note the 
report.  

  

Stakeholder Engagement  The Designated Nurse is working closely with all 
providers and partner stakeholders, in reviewing and 
monitoring current services commissioned to meet the 
health needs of children accommodated in Dorset.  

Previous GB / Committee/s, 
Dates 

None 

Monitoring and Assurance Summary 

This report links to the 
following Strategic 
Objectives 

 Preventing ill health and reducing inequalities 

 Yes 
[e.g. ] 

Copy & paste tick 

Any action required? 

Yes 
Detail in report 

No 

All three Domains of Quality (Safety, 
Quality, Patient Experience) 

   

Board Assurance Framework Risk 
Register 

   

Budgetary Impact    

Legal/Regulatory    

People/Staff    

Financial/Value for Money/Sustainability    

Information Management &Technology    

Equality Impact Assessment    

Freedom of Information    

I confirm that I have considered the 
implications of this report on each of 
the matters above, as indicated 

 

Initials:  PE 

Page 89

Agenda Item 9



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Looked After Children & Care Leavers Annual Health  
CCG Report 
2018-2019 

Executive Strategic Summary 
 

Penny Earney 
Designated Nurse for Looked After Children 

Quality Directorate 
Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group (DCCG) 

 
 

 

Page 90



1 
 

    
1. Introduction  

1.1  This strategic summary is to give assurance to the Governing Body and wider reader 
that the Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group (DCCG) are meeting their statutory 
requirements in commissioning services in identifying and meeting the health needs 
of their Looked after Children population of Dorset. This report covers the period from 
1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. 

1.2  The provider annual health reports for 2018-19 can be found in appendix one and 
two. These reports provide an overview of health support to children looked after 
(LAC) and Care Leavers (CL). 

2. Outcomes of Key areas for Development 2018-19 

2.1  Effective partnership joint working with our providers and local authorities in tracking 
trends and impact has given us a clearer picture and focused direction for improving 
access to specialist health provision.  

2.2 The focus to improve access to emotional and mental health support with appropriate 
interventions to improve outcomes for LAC has been achieved. The innovative 
feature of commissioning unique to Dorset od all LAC receiving a three monthly 
review, improves oversight of each child’s health interventions and prevents drift 
between statutory reviews. The implementation of two Emotional &Well-being 
practitioners within the LAC Health Team and a Mental Health Pathway for LAC is 
enabling LAC to access the right support at the right time. CQC (November 2018) 
saw that this model had benefitted a number of children whose records were 
reviewed.  

2.3  The monitoring of health provider activity and performance in line with contractual 
arrangements is tracking and monitoring the trajectory of activity and quality 
indicators to measure impact and outcomes for LAC. This has been achieved and 
was noted as an area of good practice and effective leadership by CQC (November 
2018.) 

2.4  Provider visits to seek assurance that quality assurance of Initial Health Assessments 
(IHA’s) and Review Health Assessments (RHA’s) is being completed and that they 
are fit for any regulatory inspections. This was not achieved due to recruitment and 
restructuring of the nursing teams. Assurance was sought instead via quarterly 
reporting of quality assurance by providers of IHA’s and RHA’s.  

2.5 A focus in seeking assurance that health providers are meeting the physical, 
emotional-wellbeing and mental health needs for LAC transitioning to independence 
has been achieved with the implementation of new provision known as DNA “Dorset 
New Adults” Health Service for Young People Leaving Care. This provision was part 
of the new commissioning model and sits within the LAC Health Team. 

2.6 DCCG and DHC are working with Bournemouth University in creating a LAC 
practitioner’s pathway to build carer progress, sustainability and succession planning 

Page 91



2 
 

for local provision of specialist LAC services. This was not taken forward during 
2018-19 due to changes and availability within the university programme offer. 

2.7 The DCCG Children in Care Conference “Be Healthy, Build Resilience, Be Happy” 
for LAC and CL was postponed from February 2019 but took place in April 2019.  
The aim of the conference was to informing them of health provision available across 
the health economy and seek their views on what we are getting right and where we 
need to improve. A film show casing this event will be available shortly to view via the 
DCCG Website access by following this link; 
https://www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk/services/keeping-adults-and-children-safe/looked-after-
children/ 

2.8 There has been continued focus to act as a positive advocate for DCCG in promoting 
good practice for LAC & CL within Dorset. 

3. Demographics of Dorset LAC & CL Population 

3.1 The demographics have remained stable with 913 LAC under the age of 18 years 
with a further 593 CL up to the age 25 years. DCCG have a responsibility to support 
the health needs of LAC placed in Dorset by other local authorities of which there are 
307 giving a total population of 1,801 in receipt of specialist LAC health support. 

4. Performance  

4.1 Overall performance of 52.6% for 2018/19 fell against 2017/18 which was 56.5%, 
which remains significantly below the required 85% performance indicator for IHA’s 
to be completed within the 20 working day statutory time frame. Delays in receiving 
health notification with consent from Local Authority colleagues has contributed to 
this performance.  This issue remains on the DCCG risk register and is being 
escalated through the Corporate Parenting Boards. 

4.2 Following significant partnership working a revised IHA Pathway with practitioner 
guidance has been produced and agreed during 2018-19. Analyses of performance 
and practice will continue throughout 2019-20 to be able to maintain oversite of 
reasons for delays, to inform improvement.  

4.3 The specialist nursing service provided by (Dorset Health Care have met all but one 
of their performance indicators, which is in relation to obtaining consent in the 16-18-
year age group. Compliance has improved significantly and the upward trend would 
indicate that all LAC 16+ have been offered the opportunity to sign their own consent 
(a statutory requirement) will be met in 2019/20. Overall improvement in all 
performance indicators from 2016-2019 was noted as an area of sustainable good 
practice by CQC (November 2018).  

4.4  2018-19 has seen an improvement of Quality Audits for both IHA’s and RHA’s being 
completed. 100% compliance has been achieved against the set performance 
indicator. Findings from these audits are shared with DCCG and practitioners across 
the service to inform practice development of themes emerging, to ensure health 
assessments are robust, comprehensive and informative with clear time scales for 
any actions to meet health needs reviewed.     

Page 92



3 
 

4.5 Impact of improved health outcomes for LAC and CL is now being reported to DCCG 
via case studies examples, these can be seen within the provider’s annual reports.  

4.6 Feedback forms part of the DCCG Providers indicators and can be viewed in their 
2018-19 annual reports. One young person feedback their experience as: “it’s helpful 
because you have trust that someone is there to talk to and without it I would struggle 
more. It feels a lot more useful, less pressure and less stressful than other services I 
have been to.”  

4.7 The key themes from feedback from our LAC and CL is to continued improved 
access and timely support for emotional and mental health, and health support for CL 
transitioning to adulthood.  

5.  Compliments and Complaints 

5.1 No formal complaints have been received during 2018/19.  

5.2 Compliments have been received from LAC & CL, foster cares, partner agencies, 
DCCG CEO, CQC and NHSE.  

5.3 DCCG are being recognised nationally for their effective commissioning 

arrangements, with requests being made to share their model. 

6. Key areas for Development for the DCCG Designate Nurse 2019-20 

 6.1 Continue to work in partnership with providers, Dorset Council (DC), Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Corporate Parenting Boards to improve performance 
of IHA within the 20 working day statutory time frame, then seek assurance through 
performance management that once improved it is being sustained. 

6.2 Continue to build partnership joint working with providers, DC and BCP, other 
agencies and the voluntary sector in tracking trends and impact for Looked after 
children and Care Leavers to inform the focus of health provision. 

 
6.3 Seek assurance that the emotional and mental health support and appropriate 

interventions to improve outcomes for LAC are in place, accessible and timely. 

6.4 Seek assurance the new DNA “Dorset New Adults” health service for CL is fully 
embedded with positive impact for the CL population. 

6.5 Carry out provider visits to seek assurance that health provider activity and quality 
performance is in line with contractual arrangements. 

6.6 Continue to seek the voice of our LAC and CL population to inform future 
commissioning arrangements. 

6.7 Continue to act as a positive advocate for DCCG in promoting good practice 
identified for LAC & CL within Dorset, regionally and nationally. 

Author: Penny Earney Designated Nurse for LAC & CL DCCG 

Telephone: 01305 213626 

Page 93



4 
 

APPENDICES  

Appendix One 
Poole Hospital NHS Foundation 
Trust Looked After Children Annual 
Report 2018-2019 

Appendix Two 
Dorset Health Care Specialists 
Nursing Looked After Children’s (LAC) 
Health Service, Annual Report: 1st 
April 2018– 31st March 2019 

 

 

Page 94



 

                                                                       

 

                                                                                       

 

 

 

 

 

 

Looked After Children 
Annual Report 

2018-2019 
 

Dr Rachel Lachlan Designated Doctor for Looked after Children Dorset 

 
 

 

 

  

 

Page 95



1 
 

Dorset CCG Designated Doctor for Looked After Children Annual Report 2018-19 Dr Rachel Lachlan 
 

2018-19 Annual report 

Children New into care 

In the year 1st April 2018 – 31st March 2019 346 children became looked after in Bournemouth, 
Dorset and Poole.  This is very similar to the 347 children who became newly looked after in 
the previous 12 months. In Bournemouth and Poole there were increases in the number of 
children coming into care, whereas in Dorset the number continues to decline. 

Children new into care 2016-19 

 Bournemouth Dorset Poole Pan Dorset 
2016-2017  91 217 92 400 
2017-2018 95 173 79 347 
2018-2019 105 152 89 346 
% change from 
2017-18 to  
2018-19 

+ 10.5% -12.1 % + 12.7% -0.002% 

 

The medical advisers who carry out the Initial Health Assessments (IHAs) for Looked After 
Children (LAC) are employed by Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.  Appointments are 
provided at Poole Hospital and also at the children’s centre in Poundbury Dorchester, which 
reduces the travelling for children placed in west Dorset. The medical advisers work flexibly 
seeing children from all 3 Local authorities. 

Initial Health Assessments 

Statutory Guidance requires that each child new into care should have an Initial Health 
Assessment (IHA), which must include a health plan that is available in 20 working days in 
time for the first statutory review by an Independent Reviewing Officer. 

Timeliness of IHAs 2018-19 

 Bournemouth Dorset Poole Pan Dorset 
Children new 
into care 

105 152 89 346 

Children 
requiring an 
IHA 

93 137 77 307 

IHA completed 
in 20 working 
days 

54 (58.1%) 72 (52.6%) 36 (46.8%) 162 (52.8%) 

IHA completed 
in 21-30 days 

21 (22.6%) 27(19.7%) 19 (24.7%) 67 (21.8%) 

IHA completed 
after 30 days 

3 (3.8%) 0 6 (3.7%) 9 (3%) 

 

2017-18 Bournemouth Dorset Poole  Pan Dorset 
IHA completed 
in 20 working 
days 

71 (91%) 91 (56.5%) 36 (46.8%) 211 (69.6%) 

Page 96



2 
 

Dorset CCG Designated Doctor for Looked After Children Annual Report 2018-19 Dr Rachel Lachlan 
 

 

Reasons for delays: 

Bournemouth: 

In total 54 out of 93 (58%) IHAs required were completed within 20 days: 

This means 39/93 (42%) were not completed in the timeframe required 

21 (22.6%) were completed between 21 and 30 days 

18 (19.4%) were completed after 31 days  

All medicals required were completed, none are outstanding. 

Reason for delay Number 
Delay in notification by the local authority 4 
Delay in consent by local authority 9 
Young person/child was not brought to appointment 2 
Offered appointment declined by foster carer 3 
Refusal to attend by young person 2 
Child/young person placed out of area 10 
No medical adviser appointment available 9 

 

Poole: 

In total 36 (47%) of 77 required IHAs were completed within 20 days;  

41 /77 (53%) were not completed within the required time frame. 

19 (24.7%) were completed between 21 and 30 days 

10 (13%) were completed after 31 days 

All medicals which were outstanding have now been completed 

Reason for delay Number 
Delay in notification by local authority 8 
Delay in consent by local authority 16 
Young person/child was not brought to 
appointment 

3 

Offered appointment declined by foster carer 0 
Refusal to attend by young person 1 
Child/young person placed out of area 6 
No medical adviser appointment available 7 

 

Dorset: 

In total 72 (52.6%) out of the 137 medicals required were completed in 20 days 

This means 65/137 (47.4%) were not completed in the required time frame. 

Page 97



3 
 

Dorset CCG Designated Doctor for Looked After Children Annual Report 2018-19 Dr Rachel Lachlan 
 

27 were completed between 21 and 30 days (19.7%) 

20 were completed after 31 days (14.6%) 

At 31.05.19, 3 medicals are still outstanding: 2 are out of area and have been chased, one 
young person did not attend the first appointment and this will be rebooked. 

Reason for delay Number 
Delay in notification by local authority 6 
Delay in consent by local authority 9 
Young person/child was not brought to 
appointment 

5 

Offered appointment declined by foster carer 12 
Refusal to attend by young person 2 
Child/young person placed out of area 13 
No medical adviser appointment available 3 
Children inpatient in Hospital (NICU) 3 

 

ANALYSIS: 

REASONS FOR DELAY COMBINED FOR ALL 3 LOCAL AUTHORITIES 

Reason for delay Number 
Delay in consent by local authority 34 
Child/young person placed out of area 26 
No medical adviser appointment available 19 
Delay in notification by local authority 18 
Offered appointment declined by foster carer 15 
Young person/child was not brought to 
appointment 

10 

Refusal to attend by young person 5 
Other 3 

 

Notification and Consent delay: 

In the last 12 months’ delay in notification and sending consent remain the main reasons for 
delay in completion of IHAs. This has previously been the case in Dorset but has become 
more apparent in Bournemouth and Poole, possibly due to changes in staff and restructuring. 
Meetings have been held in Dorset with senior social work managers.  There was initially some 
improvement but despite the ongoing meetings the completion rate has not improved overall. 
This has been escalated to the corporate parenting board and the chief executive of Dorset 
County Council and highlighted as an area of concern. Involvement of the corporate parenting 
board officer has also helped. The numbers of IHAs completed within 20 days in Bournemouth 
and Poole have fallen from the previous year. 

In light of the concerns across all 3 local authorities, a clearer process was developed by the 
named nurse and designated doctor with clearer pathways for escalation. These are due to 
be implemented from 1st June 2019. This information was shared with senior managers from 
Bournemouth and Poole in February who have reviewed their processes for notification and 
obtaining consent. Since 1st April 2019 there have been 2 Local authorities- Bournemouth, 

Page 98



4 
 

Dorset CCG Designated Doctor for Looked After Children Annual Report 2018-19 Dr Rachel Lachlan 
 

Christchurch and Poole (BCP) and Dorset council. The new processes have been sent to 
senior manager within both these authorities for dissemination to all staff. 

This will continue to be reviewed during the next year and escalated to corporate parenting 
boards if no improvements are apparent. The formation of a new local authority combining 
Bournemouth, Poole and Christchurch may also have some effect on working practices. 

Children placed out of area: 

This has been highlighted by the CQC inspection and a new standard operating procedure 
has been developed to ensure escalation to the designated doctor when medicals are not 
happening in a timely way. 

Appointments declined/ not attended: 

These are highlighted to the local authority. As part of the new process appointments are not 
rebooked without the social worker taking requesting this and taking responsibility for the 
young person or child to attend. This happens more often in Dorset and the designated doctor 
meets with the fostering manager to discuss how foster carers can better understand the 
importance of attending the appointment. Currently all appointments are also copied to the 
fostering duty team so they can remind foster carers to attend. 

Medical Adviser Availability 

There have been several changes in medical staff resulting in reduced capacity whilst 
recruitment is undertaken.  Following retirement in May 2018, a new doctor was appointed to 
start in September, however this was only short term until March 2019. 

Delay in notification and consent put pressure on medical appointments. During the months 
of delay appointments can be unfilled, when these appointments are then booked they can 
put pressure on the following months. This results in appointments not being available for 
other young people to be seen within 20 working days. During the next 12 months the LAC 
medical team at Poole Hospital will be responsible for analysing the data of children requiring 
an IHA. This will better enable an ongoing analysis of the number of appointments available 
against the number of IHAs required and the effect of local authority delay on capacity. 

A new LAC administrator was appointed in February 2019 and this has been an opportunity 
to review and make more efficient the collection and recording of data enabling timely accurate 
reporting to the CCG. 

 Quality 

Statutory Guidance requires that the IHA must be completed by a registered medical 
practitioner, and should include assessment of:  

 The child’s physical, emotional and mental health,  
 The child’s health history and development 
 Include existing arrangements for routine checks, screening, and immunisation.  

Health Assessments should be of good quality in order for them to be seen as useful by 
children, young people, Foster Carers and social workers. 

Page 99



5 
 

Dorset CCG Designated Doctor for Looked After Children Annual Report 2018-19 Dr Rachel Lachlan 
 

Medical Advisers should have regular supervision meetings with the Designated Doctor every 
3 months. Team meetings are held regularly with peer review and discussion of any issues 
arising. 

All IHAs are sent to the LAC administrator based in Poole Hospital. This enables them to be 
saved onto the electronic patient record at Poole Hospital. This means that if the child or young 
person presents to outpatients or the emergency department some background health 
information is available. It is also important for clinical governance that a record of all 
consultations is available. The reports are also easily accessible for the Designated Doctor to 
quality assure. A dip sample of 10% of IHAs completed in each of the three Local Authorities 
between April 2018 and March 2019 were quality assured using annexe H Quality Assurance 
Tool. This is done quarterly and information fed back to medical advisers. Separated children 
seeking asylum were quality assured separately using a tool more appropriate to their specific 
health needs. 

Quality of IHAS 2018-2019 

  Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 
1. No. IHA Reviewed: 9  9 20 6 
2. IHA completed within statutory 20 

working days of being taken into care 
7 (78%) 5 (56%) 8 (40%) 4(67%) 

3. Consent obtained 9 (100%) 9 (100%) 20 (100%) 6 (100%) 
4.  Where the young person is over 16 

years has written consent been sought 
 
0 (8 N/A) 

 
0 (7 N/A) 

 
4 (100%) 
(16 N/A) 

1 (100%) 
3 (N/A) 

5. A chronology of medical health history 
including risk factors 

  
9(100%) 

  
9(100%) 

  
17(85%) 

 
6 (100%) 

6. Evidence that child or young person’s 
concern/comments have been sought 
and recorded 

 5 (100%) 
4 N/A 
 

 7 (100%) 
2 N/A 
 

10 
(63.5%) 
4N/A 
 

4 (80%) 
1N/A 

7.  Any outstanding health appointments 
recorded 

5 (84%) 
 
3-N/A 

5 (84%) 
 
3-N/A 

14 (100%) 
6 N/A 

6 (100%) 

8. Record of immunisation summary 6 (100%) 
3-N/A 

8 (100%) 
1-N/A 

16 (100%) 
4-N/A 

6(100%) 

9.  Family Health History 6 (67%) 
 

5 (100%) 
4- not 
available 
 

16 (100%) 
4- not 
available 
 

2 (100%0 
4 not 
available 

10.  Summary of child health screening 6 (75%) 
2-N/A 

7 (87.5%) 
1 not 
available 

18 (100%) 
2N/A 

5 (100%) 
1 not 
available- 
born 
abroad 

11. Emotional/behavioural assessment 8 (89%) 7 (78%) 17 (85%) 5 (83%) 
12. Life Style issues discussed and health 

promotion offered 
5 (100%) 
4- N/A 

8 (100%) 
1- N/A 

19 (95%) 
1- N/A 

5 (83%) 

13. Developmental History/ assessment 
recorded 

6 (67%) 4 (44%) 19 (95%) 5(83%) 

14.  Any special educational needs (EHCP) 6 (67%) 7 (100%) 
2- N/A 

15(100%) 
5- N/A 

6 (100%) 

15. Height and Weight recorded 9 (100%) 8 (89%) 18 (90%) 6 (100%) 

Page 100



6 
 

Dorset CCG Designated Doctor for Looked After Children Annual Report 2018-19 Dr Rachel Lachlan 
 

16. BMI recorded (if over 2 yrs.) 4/6 (67%) 
3- N/A 

6 (100%) 
3- N/A 

11 
(78.5%) 
6 N/A 

4 (100%) 
2 N/A 

17. Record of neonatal hearing screening 
or any hearing concerns 

7 (78%) 9 (100%) 18 (90%) 5 (83%) 

18. Record of vision screening 5 (100%) 
4- n/a 
 

7 (100%) 
2- n/a 
 

15 (100%) 
5- n/a 
 

3 (75%) 
2 N/A 

19. Evidence that carer’s concerns have 
been sought and recorded 

1 (20%) 2 (22%) 10 (50%) 4 (67%) 

20. Record of Dental screening / 
registration enquiry (over 3 yrs.) 

6/6 (100%) 5/7 (71%) 
2-N/A 

13 (100%) 
7-N/A 

2 (50%) 
2 N/A 

21. Record of GP registration / Name 7 (78%) 8 (89%) 16 (80%) 6 (100%) 
22. Summary Report and 

Recommendation Typed 
9 (100%) 9 (100%) 20 (100%) 6 (100%) 

23. Recommendations have clear time 
scale and identified responsible person 

9 (100%) 9 (100%) 20(100%) 6 (100%) 

24. Evidence that referral to appropriate 
services have been made 

5 (100%) 
4- N/A 

1 (100%) 
8- N/A 

16 (94%) 
3- N/A 

6 (100%) 

25. Evidence that the child/YP was offered 
the opportunity to be seen alone 

2/5 (40%) 5/8 (62.5%) 
1-N/A 

16 (100%) 
4-N/A 

4 (100%0 
2- N/A 

26. Signed 9 (100%) 9 (100%) 20 (100%) 6 (100%) 
27. Completion date 9(100%) 9(100%) 20(100%) 6 (100%) 

 

Quality assurance has identified the following areas for improvement: 

 Carer’s comments being recorded. Following advice from previous quarterly quality 
assurance, this has improved. 

 Recording of developmental history- this has improved following feedback from 
previous quality assurance. 

 Record of dental screening has not been so good in the last quarter and this has been 
fed back to Mas 

 Recording of BMI has previously been a concern but this has improved. 

The completed IHA is sent to the social worker, the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) the 
GP and the Health visitor (for preschool children). It is the responsibility of the local authority 
that each LAC has an up to date health plan based on the IHA and to take action if 
recommendations identified in the health plan are not being followed.  The IRO should, at each 
LAC Review, note any actions and updates to ensure that the health plan continues to meet 
the child’s needs. 

 It is difficult to know if the completed IHAs are being used to inform care planning.  Personal 
experience of medical advisers is that actions for the medical adviser or LAC nurse are 
completed; however, recommendations for the SW to undertake (such as requesting family 
health and birth history) are often not completed.   In discussion with social workers, it seems 
that social workers do not recognise the importance of family health history and antenatal and 
birth history for all Looked After Children. This was also highlighted in a recent inspection. The 
importance of these has been explained to senior managers and to social workers. We will be 
reviewing this area for improved practice in the best interest of the child. 

IHA venue 

Page 101



7 
 

Dorset CCG Designated Doctor for Looked After Children Annual Report 2018-19 Dr Rachel Lachlan 
 

The majority of appointments available are at Poole Hospital, either in the Child Development 
centre or Children’s Outpatients. Both areas are appropriate to see children and young people. 
One clinic a fortnight is held in Poundbury Children’s centre. This enables some children living 
in west Dorset to be seen closer to their homes. 

For some children with complex medical and learning needs attending a clinic for the IHA is 
not appropriate. The IHA can by arrangement be completed by the specialist who already sees 
these children for their medical care, which is often more appropriate for the child or young 
person. On occasion children were seen by Medical Advisers for their IHA in their special 
school.   

SEPARATED CHILDREN SEEKING ASYLUM 

An unaccompanied asylum-seeking child (UASC) or separated children seeking asylum 
(SCSA) is an individual, who is under 18, who has applied for asylum in his/her own right, is 
separated from both parents and is not being cared for by an adult who by law or custom has 
responsibility to do so.(DfE) 
 
The National Transfer Scheme (NTS) for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) 
(now known as Separated Children Seeking Asylum SCSA) was established in 2016 to enable 
the safe transfer of children from one local authority to another. The transfer protocol is 
intended to ensure that unaccompanied children can access the services and support they 
need. It forms the basis of a voluntary agreement made between local authorities in England 
to ensure a more even distribution of Unaccompanied Children across local authorities. It is 
intended to ensure that any participating local authority does not face a disproportionate 
responsibility in accommodating and looking after UASC, simply by virtue of being the point of 
arrival of a disproportionate number of unaccompanied children. The scheme is based on the 
principle that no local authority should be asked to look after more UASC than 0.07% of its 
total child population. 
 
 In Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset 0.07% of the total child population equates to 110.  The 
Designated Nurse for Looked After Children and one of the named GPs have devised a 
Healthcare Pathway for UASC who should all be offered an appointment for an Initial Health 
Assessment (IHA) within 20 working days by a Medical Adviser. In light of the complexities 
which may be involved and the need for an interpreter, a longer appointment is offered (2 
hours).  
All SCSA are seen in Poole Hospital where there are more available appointments. This 
enables the service to better manage the time needed for these medicals. This enables the 
testing for blood borne viruses, if the young person consents, to be carried out in the pathology 
department on the same day and with the interpreter present, making it a better experience 
for the young person and enabling the majority of the assessment to be completed on one 
occasion. 

All SCSA are seen for TB screening at Bournemouth Hospital and all are offered mental health 
support if they want to engage with this at the time. 

There is useful information available on the UASC health website set up by the health 
services in Kent who were originally seeing most of these children. They have designed a 

Page 102



8 
 

Dorset CCG Designated Doctor for Looked After Children Annual Report 2018-19 Dr Rachel Lachlan 
 

quality assurance tool which is more appropriate to these children’s needs. This Tool has 
been used to assess the quality of all the IHAs completed for these children. 
 
During the year 2018-19, 20 medicals were completed for SCSA, these have all been quality 
assured and the results of this fed back to medical advisers. 
 

QUALITY ASSURANCE FOR SCSA 

  YES NO Declined 
1. Child or young person’s consent for assessment (where 

appropriate) recorded 
13(65%) 7 (35%)  

2.  DOB 20 (100%) 0  
3.  Age  20 (100%) 0  
4.  NHS Number 9 (45%) 11 (55%)  
5.  Social Worker named on report 20 (100%) 0  
6. Is the child or young person registered with a GP in the area? 10 (50%) 10 (50%)  
7. GP details have been recorded 9/10 (90%) 1/10(10%)  
8. Evidence that child or young person’s comments have been 

sought and recorded 
20 (100%) 0  

9. The young person has been asked about their experience 
both in home country and on journey to UK. 

18 (90%) 1 (5%) 1 (5%) 

10. Emotional, behavioural needs have been assessed and any 
identified concerns documented 

13 (65%) 
 

5(25%) 2 (10%) 

11. Any self-care / independence or learning needs have been 
assessed and any identified concerns documented 

19 (80%) 6 (30%)  

12. Any possible safeguarding concerns have been explored 
e.g. trafficking, CSE, PREVENT 

17 (85%) 3 (15%)  

13.  Lifestyle issues discussed and health promotion information 
given 

17 (85%)  3 (15%)  

14.  Height recorded and plotted 19 (95%)  1(5%) 
15.  Weight recorded and plotted 19 (95%)  1(5%) 
17. Physical health including dental has been assessed 19 (95%)  1(5%) 
18. Handwritten document legible 20 (100%) All reports typed 
19.  Document is typed 20 (100%) 0  
 Document includes the following    
20. A summary of pre-existing health issues 17 (85%) 3 (15%)  
21. Any newly identified health issues 17 (100%)  3 N/A 
22.  Information about journey to the UK including identified risk 

factors 
17 (85%) 2 (10%) 1 (5%) 

23. An up to date immunisation summary 0 1 19- 
unknown 

24. Summary of dental health needs 19 (95%) 1 (5%)  
25. Summary of vision and hearing needs 19 (95%) 1 (5%)  
26.  Summary of child health screening unavailable   
27. Opinion re risk of BBV given 19 (95%) 1 (5%)  
28. Date for next health assessment has been recorded 16 (80%) 4(20%)  
29.  Recommendation re immunisation status 20 (100%) 0  
30.  Recommendation made re BBV and TB screening 19(96%) 1 (5%)  
31. Recommendation made re dental health needs 19 (95%) 1 (5%)  
32.  Recommendation made re any vision needs 16 (80%) 4 (20%)  
33. Recommendation made re mental health- identifying any 

risks 
16 (80%) 3 (15%) 1 (5%) 

Page 103



9 
 

Dorset CCG Designated Doctor for Looked After Children Annual Report 2018-19 Dr Rachel Lachlan 
 

34. Any other health risk has been acted upon and documented 
in the health plan 

16 (80%) 1 (5%) 3 N/A (15%) 

35. In your opinion does this IHA give a true sense of this young 
person’s needs and form a sensible plan to address these 
needs? 

16 (80%) 4 (20%)  

 

Results of the Quality assurance have been fed back to medical advisers. When reviewed 
consent was available for all young people, and medical advisers have been reminded to make 
this clear on their reports. There are still many young people who don’t have an NHS number 
or GP at the time of the medical and this can impact on their ongoing medical appointments, 
for example booking optician, dentist and blood test appointments require a NHS number and 
the GP practice usually assists with the immunisations. The reasons for this need to be 
explored. 

Discussion has been had regarding assessment of emotional health needs. There have been 
concerns that using non face to face interpreters, video links and telephone interpreters makes 
it hard to assess emotional health well. Following feedback from social workers to the 
Designated Doctor, it has been arranged with PALS that all interpreters will now be face to 
face.  

The pathway for UASC health assessments needs review now that there is more experience 
of these assessments, particularly the follow up for emotional health concerns which may not 
be apparent at the time of the IHA but present later. This has been discussed with the clinical 
psychologist. 

Feedback 

Carer feedback 

Previously anonymous feedback was sought from Foster carers following every IHA 
appointment. Only 14 forms were available. Feedback is largely very positive. 

Overall view of service Excellent:10   Very Good: 4 Good:0 
FC felt that the doctor listened to and 
respected their views 

Yes, definitely: 11, yes to some extent: 3 

Written feedback:  

Listen to our views   
Go through everything to do with health in a kind considerate way. 
Interpretation from Somali was useful.  
Involved the child and made it an easy appointment. Interested in the children. Friendly. 
Listened to my son's views.    
More parking      
Listen, explain make you feel comfortable very 
friendly - made me feel at ease      

 

Child/young person feedback 

Forms have been designed which are suitable for use by school age children and young 
people. Encouraging young people to participate in their care and feedback about the service 

Page 104



10 
 

Dorset CCG Designated Doctor for Looked After Children Annual Report 2018-19 Dr Rachel Lachlan 
 

may help them take more responsibility for their own health and engage better with LAC health 
professionals in the future. In total 12 forms were returned. 

 YES NO 
Did you know you were 
seeing the Doctor today? 

12 0 

 

 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 
Did the Doctor Explain things to you 
clearly? 

12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Did you feel listened to, respected 
and involved in making decisions 
about your health? 

11 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 

 

Written Feedback: 

Amazing, best doctor ever 

Felt good after visit 

Everything was amazing 

The interpretation system failed which reduced the certainty of accurate information 

Even though there were not many forms returned young people have responded positively to 
their experiences. Overall young people’s feedback was positive and they felt listened to, 
respected and involved, this is an important outcome for the service and for future engagement 
with the service. Ways to improve uptake need to be considered in the next year. 

The difficulties with the interpretation systems have been covered in the section ‘separated 
children seeking asylum’ 

Out of Area IHAs 

For children placed out of Dorset, the Social worker and foster carer are requested to bring 
the child back for their IHA, if safe and within 1-hour travel time. This ensures continuity for 
the child and thorough health assessment. If this is not appropriate, IHAs are requested to be 
undertaken in the area where the child is placed, and Dorset medical advisers are asked to 
complete IHAs for children from other areas placed in Dorset.  In the year 2014-2015 many 
children placed Out of Area (OOA) did not have an IHA, and those that were completed were 
not completed in a timely manner.  In the year 2015-2016 an administrator to manage the 
OOA (IHAS) was appointed. Poole Hospital Is paid for the OOA IHAs completed for other 
Local Authorities. IHAs completed elsewhere are quality assured by the designated doctor 
when they are returned. Whilst there is still improvement to be made with regard to timeliness 
of these IHAs, we are now able to evidence that children’s IHAs are being requested and 
completed. 

A standard operating procedure for organising Out of Area medicals has been produced as a 
result of the CQC inspection in late 2018. This ensures a robust escalation system to ensure 

Page 105



11 
 

Dorset CCG Designated Doctor for Looked After Children Annual Report 2018-19 Dr Rachel Lachlan 
 

children placed out of area are receiving their medicals in a timely way and are not 
disadvantaged by being placed elsewhere. 

IHAS requested by other CCGs and completed in Dorset  

IHAs requested IHAs done Completed in 20 
working days 

31 14 (17 have been 
cancelled/no longer 
required) 

3 

 

IHAS requested by Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole and completed elsewhere 

IHAs requested IHAs done Completed in 20 working 
days 

31 
 

17 (13 no longer required) 0 

 

Last year (2017-18) 29 medicals were done for Out of Area children placed in Dorset from 
other areas and 13 were completed for Dorset children placed Out of Area. This year the 
numbers are smaller and the IHAs completed by Dorset are similar to those completed 
elsewhere so this doesn’t currently have a significant impact on medical adviser workload. 

The only outstanding request from 1st April 2018 – 31st March 2019 is for an adoption medical 
for a Dorset child placed out of Area.  

Fostering 

Each prospective foster carer has a comprehensive health assessment completed by their 
GP, these are reviewed by a medical adviser who provides a type written report, including 
advice on the implication of any health problem on their ability to parent a child. If required 
additional information can be requested from the GP or hospital specialist.  Some Foster 
carers have more complex health needs and these reports require longer to write, however 
overall the average time to complete the medicals is balanced by the more straight forward 
cases enabling capacity to be maintained. 

Number adult health forms advised on: 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 
2018-
19 

Total 
2017-
18 

No of advice 
reports written 
by MAs 

89 89 87 117 265 229 

 

Adoption 

Regional Adoption Agency- Aspire Adoption 

Page 106



12 
 

Dorset CCG Designated Doctor for Looked After Children Annual Report 2018-19 Dr Rachel Lachlan 
 

The Regional adoption agency incorporating Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset Local 
authorities was launched on 1st July 2017. Since this time all approval and matching of 
adopters and children has been through this agency. Adoption panels are held twice a month 
and attended by Medical advisers. Once children in Bournemouth and Poole have a placement 
order, they are transferred to a social worker from Aspire. Dorset transfers some of its younger 
children, but some Dorset children maintain a Dorset Social worker until they are matched with 
adopters. This can result in confusion as to who is the responsible social worker and has 
resulted in lack of clarity amongst social workers about who is responsible for organising the 
adoption medical, resulting in requests for medicals to be done at very short notice, which is 
not always possible or in the best interests of the child. This has been escalated to the 
manager of Aspire who is addressing it within the organisation. 

The Designated Doctor sits on the operational Management Board of Aspire Adoption as the 
health representative and will review the issues at this meeting. 

Adults 

Each prospective adopter has a comprehensive health assessment completed by their GP, 
these are reviewed by a medical adviser who provides a type written report, including advice 
on the implication of any health problem on their ability to parent an adopted child. If required 
additional information can be requested from the GP or hospital specialist.    

Number of adult health forms advised on: 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 2018-19 Total 2017-18 
Number of advice 
reports written by 
MAs 

30 30 34 32 126 133 

 

Prospective Adopters attend a series of preparation workshops. These are held every 2 
months. One of the medical advisers speaks at the preparation workshops, presenting 
information about the health needs of children placed for adoption, child development and the 
impact of antenatal substance misuse.  Feedback from the presentations given by the medical 
advisers is very positive. 

On completion of the social work assessment each application to be approved as an adopter 
is considered by the adoption panel.  It is a statutory requirement that each adoption panel 
has a named adoption medical adviser.   The medical advisers comment on the adult health 
assessment and are able to answer questions on any questions relating to the adopters 
physical and mental health.  Feedback on the medical advisers’ contributions to panel have 
been positive. 

Children 

In England almost all adoption is of children in care.  These children will already have had an 
IHA and sometimes an RHA.  Each child for whom adoption is the plan is required to have an 
Adoption Medical Report.  This is usually produced following an additional health assessment; 
the adoption medical.  All adoption medicals are carried out by the medical advisers, who have 
available to them the previous IHA and RHAs, and also any additional health history and 
additional family health history. For children placed in early permanence placements very soon 

Page 107



13 
 

Dorset CCG Designated Doctor for Looked After Children Annual Report 2018-19 Dr Rachel Lachlan 
 

after their IHA, it is possible to provide an adoption medical report based on the IHA and any 
additional information provided. 

The Adoption Medical Report forms part of the Child Permanence Report that is presented to 
the Agency Decision Maker and to Court. 

In the year 2018-19, 82 adoption medicals have been completed in Bournemouth, Dorset and 
Poole. This has increased from 66 in the year 2017-18.  Since 2018 all adoption medicals 
have resulted in the production of a type written report for prospective adopters, summarising 
the child’s family history, birth history, physical and emotional health, development and 
experiences to date as well as any possible implications of these.  

Prior to matching with a new family all adopters are offered a consultation with the medical 
adviser to inform them of the child’s health and family health history and any implications.  The 
match is presented to the Adoption Panel, where the medical adviser will advise panel 
members on any medical issues for the adults or the child. 

Children Adopted (Adoption Orders granted) 

 2018-19 2017-18 2016-17 
No.  Children 
Adopted  

74 (+17%) 63 (+5%) 60 

Male 43 (58%) 52%  
Female 31 (42%) 48%  
Age at adoption 
order 

   

Under 12 
months 

7 (9%) 4 (6%) 0 

1-4 years 49 (66%) 37 (59%) 40 (67%) 
5-9 yrs 16 (22%) 21 (33%) 20 (33%) 
>9yr 2 (3%) 1 (2%) 0 

 

Nationally (England) the number of looked after children ceasing to be looked after due to 
adoption increased between 2011 and 2015 to a peak of 5360. In 2016 and 2017 the number 
of adoptions fell for the first time since 2011, by 12% and in 2017 by 8% to 4350. In 2017-18 
the number of looked after children adopted nationally fell again to 3820, a decrease of 13%. 

During this time the number of adoptions in Dorset has continued to increase. Whilst this is a 
positive outcome for these Looked After Children. It does mean an increase in the number of 
adoption medicals, meetings with prospective adopters and length of time attending adoption 
panel. Currently there is only one medical adviser available to attend panel due to timing. This 
is being reviewed by Aspire to ascertain whether there is any flexibility with regard to which 
day panel is held. 

Medical Adviser Supervision 

Each Medical Adviser should have clinical supervision with the designated doctor every 3 
months, a written summary is provided to the Medical Adviser following the meeting for their 
records. Medical Advisers are able to contact the Designated Doctor by telephone or e-mail 
for advice on any difficulties encountered.  Regular meetings of all medical advisers every 2 
months and regular supervision and review of reports. 

Page 108



14 
 

Dorset CCG Designated Doctor for Looked After Children Annual Report 2018-19 Dr Rachel Lachlan 
 

Continual Professional Development (CPD) and Teaching 

The medical advisers are expected to attend 10 hours each year of CPD, specific to the health 
needs of LAC and children adopted.  Each of the medical advisers is up to date with medical 
appraisal and revalidation including safeguarding, PREVENT and child Sexual Exploitation 
training 

Medical advisers meet twice a year with South West Adoption Consortium (SWAC) Medical 
advisers to discuss best practice, present audits and discuss issues arising. 

Medical students from Southampton University receive a teaching session on Looked After 
Children from the Designated Doctor as part of the initial teaching during their attachment. 
They are also able to attend IHA appointments to observe.  

The Designated Doctor delivers a teaching session to the Community Paediatric department 
at Poole Hospital at least once a year on a topic related to Looked After Children. Doctors in 
training attached to the community paediatric department are also encouraged to attend IHAs, 
adoption medicals and to observe adoption panel as part of their training. 

Inspections 

In December 2018 the Care Quality commission carried out an inspection of the health care 
provided to Looked After Children in Bournemouth as part of a CLAS inspection. 
Unfortunately, the inspectors didn’t meet with the Designated Doctor so weren’t able to clarify 
current processes. 

The main outcomes related to Looked After Children Medical Advisers were:  

1. Ensure more robust action is taken to ensure initial health assessments for those 
children and young people placed out of area are undertaken in a timelier manner 
and that where this is not done then the reasons are explored in more detail and 
findings acted onto reduce repetition.  

2. Review and implement improved processes of quality assurance to ensure that both 
initial and review health assessments undertaken across all ages are of consistently 
good quality. 

3. Ensure that all practitioners undertaking both initial and review health assessments 
are aware of the importance of examining, understanding and recording both the 
child’s voice and lived experience so that those assessments more accurately reflect 
the wishes and needs of the children to who they pertain. This process must be 
assured by robust quality assurance processes. 

4. Ensure that all avenues are explored to obtain and record as much parental history 
information as possible to inform both the initial and review health assessment 
process and that this information is recorded in service user records. 

6. Ensure faith and culture preferences are captured and recorded in both initial and 
review health assessments to reflect the child or young person’s important 
preferences. 

5.  Explore with multi-agency partner’s ways to implement and improve information 
gathering process to ensure both initial and review health assessments undertaken 
are complete with as much detailed information as is required. 

Page 109



15 
 

Dorset CCG Designated Doctor for Looked After Children Annual Report 2018-19 Dr Rachel Lachlan 
 

 

These are being addressed by the LAC health team 

A more robust process is in place for organising Out of Area medicals and escalation to the 
Designated Doctor when this has not happened. A new Quality Assurance template is being 
developed for use in 2019-20, covering issues including recording the child’s voice, and 
exploring lived experiences for preschool children as well as faith and cultural preferences. 
This information has also been discussed with medical advisers so that they can incorporate 
this into their assessments. 

The new IHA process and clearer timeline includes collection of more parental health 
information and background as well as reasons for being in care. 

SUMMARY  

AREAS OF GOOD PRACTICE: 

1. MEDICAL ADVISER SUPERVISION: 
Supervision of Medical Advisers happens consistently every 3 months with a written 
report summarising the meeting. Between these meetings medical advisers can 
contact the Designated Doctor for advice. 

2. QUALITY ASSURANCE OF IHAS: 
IHAS are quality assured quarterly and this information is fed back to medical advisers, 
this has resulted in improvement throughout the year and therefore better health care 
for LAC 

3. DEVELOPMENT OF NEW IHA PATHWAY: 
The Designated Doctor and Named nurse have worked together to produce a clearer 
one-page pathway for the local authorities to improve their understanding and 
timeliness of notification and consent. This also highlights the information expected 
from the local authority for the IHA. 

4. OUT OF AREA STANDARD OPERATING PROCESS: 
A clearer process has been developed for the admin staff to ensure these children’s 
IHAs take place in as timely a manner as possible and they are not disadvantaged by 
being placed away from Dorset. 

5. LOCATION OF CLINICS: 
Regular IHA clinics are continuing to be held in Dorchester enabling some west Dorset 
children to be seen closer to home. 

6. ADOPTION MEDICAL REPORTS: 
Adoption medical reports are produced in a standardised format including clear 
implications for all children where the plan is adoption. 

7. RECORD KEEPING: 
All reports are saved on the child’s electronic record enabling access by other medical 
practitioners when appropriate to provide background information. 

8. IMPROVED RECORDING OF CSE (CHILDHOOD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION RISK): 
Looked after children are at increased risk of CSE. The short seraf questions are now 
incorporated in the IHA, enabling clinicians to complete CSE screening as part of the 
assessment. Medical advisers have been trained in the use of this tool. 
 

Page 110



16 
 

Dorset CCG Designated Doctor for Looked After Children Annual Report 2018-19 Dr Rachel Lachlan 
 

CHALLENGES: 

1. DELAY IN NOTIFICATION AND CONSENT BY LOCAL AUTHORITY  
2. REDUCED COMPLETION OF IHAS WITHIN 20 DAYS COMPARED WITH 

PREVIOUS YEAR 
3. STAFFING ISSUES- changes in medical adviser staff have impacted on capacity and 

required increased training and supervision, changes in admin staff have required 
increased supervision. 

4. INCREASED DEMAND FOR ADOPTION WORK 
5. OUTCOME OF CQC INSPECTION 
6. LOW RATES OF FEEDBACK FROM CARERS AND YOUNG PEOPLE FOLLOWING 

IHAS 

KEY AREAS FOR DEVELOPMENT 2019-20 

1. IMPROVED NOTIFICATION AND CONSENT BY LOCAL AUTHORITIES: 
A new process and clearer pathway will be introduced from 1st June 2019. The 
designated doctor and named nurse have offered to meet with social work teams to 
discuss this. The impact of this will be reviewed in the quarterly reports 

2. IMPROVED INFORMATION PROVISION PRIOR TO THE IHA: 
As part of the clearer process, local authorities have been asked to provide more 
information at the time of requesting the IHA including reason for coming into care, 
parental health history from and mother and baby form. This will be reviewed in the 
quarterly reports 

3. NEW QUALITY ASSURANCE PROCESS: 
A new format has been developed for quality assuring IHAs including the areas 
outlined in the CQC report. 

4. IMROVED JOINT WORKING WITH LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN’S NURSING 
TEAM: 
Following the CQC inspection, a template of what should be included in an IHA is being 
developed to better able the nurses who read the IHAs initially to challenge medical 
advisers if they feel something is missing or could be done better. This will further help 
improve quality. 

5. DEVELOPMENT OF CLEARER ADMINISTRATIVE PROCESSES: 
Clearer processes will be developed to support the administrative staff at Poole 
Hospital. The information database for all children new into care will be held by Poole 
Hospital enabling clearer understanding and more efficient escalation on a day to day 
basis. 

6. DEVELOPMENT OF NEW PROCESS FOR ARRANGING ADOPTION MEDICALS: 
A new process for arranging adoption medicals will be introduced allowing more 
efficient use of administrative staff and a clearer pathway for social workers. 

7. REVIEW OF FEEDBACK TOOL FOR IHAS: 
Feedback rates are currently low, so the tools used will be reviewed with medical 
advisers to see how we can improve this, enabling us to gain greater feedback from 
young people and carers as to how the service can best meet their needs. 

 

 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
THE SPECIALIST NURSING LOOKED AFTER CHILDRENS 

(LAC) HEALTH SERVICE 
 

 ANNUAL REPORT:  
1ST APRIL 2018– 31ST MARCH 2019 

Dorset and Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Author:  
Jill Warn Named Nurse & Service Manager 
Looked After Children 
Children, Families &Young People Directorate 
Dorset Healthcare 

Page 113



 

1 
 
 
 
 

CONTENTS  

 
 

 
SECTION 

 

 
CONTENT 

 
PAGE 

1.0  Executive Summary 
 

2 

2.0  Introduction 
 

3 

3.0 The Specialist Nursing LAC Service 
 

3 

4.0  The Voice of the Child and Carer 
  

4 

5.0 Looked After Children Entering and Leaving Care 
 

5 

6.0 Key Performance Indicators 
 

7 

7.0 
 

Sharing information and referrals 11 

8.0 
 

Quality Assurance 15 

9.0 Compliments and complaints 
 

16 
 

10.0 Positive outcomes for Children and Young People 
 

18 

11.0 Key challenges in 2018-2019 
 

20 

12.0 Key Areas for Development in 2019-2020 
 

22 

13.0 References 
 

23 
 

Appendix  A: Statistical Data 
 

24 

Appendix  B: Emotional Health & Wellbeing Pathway v2 
 

26 

Appendix C: School Immunisations Pathway 
 

28 

Appendix D: Sexual Health Pathway 
 

30 

Page 114



 

2 
 
 
 
 

THE SPECIALIST NURSING LOOKED AFTER CHILDRENS (LAC) HEALTH 
SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT 2018 - 2019 

 
          
 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
 

1.0.1 This year has seen the implementation of Year Two of the three year project 
plan for the LAC Health Team which focused on quality following Year one 
which focused on performance. Improved quality in the review health 
assessments (RHA’s) has been shown through the Quality Assurance Audit 
undertaken in Q4 2018-2019 

 
1.0.2 Partnership working remains an area of great importance and this year has 

seen an increase in the LAC Health Team proactively working alongside other 
health and social care colleagues. Learning events have taken place for other 
health teams such as Speech & Language, Audiology etc to highlight the 
need to prioritise Looked After Children and Care Leavers and to encourage 
creative thinking about how their service can deliver an enhanced services. 

 
1.0.3 There has been a focus on the emotional and mental health of LAC this year 

which resulted in the production of the Mental Health pathway. The LAC Health 
team in conjunction with CAMHS and Psychology have created this Pathway 
which aims to guide Social Workers through the referral criteria and result in 
robust and appropriate referrals being received by CAMHS.  
 

1.0.4 The LAC Health team have expanded as per the three year project plan to 
incorporate a Care Leaver service. This expansion has seen the recruitment of 
two dedicated Care Leaver Nurses who will deliver both physical and virtual 
clinics to address health inequalities that Care Leavers can face such as 
access to health services. A scoping exercise has been completed and the first 
report from this scoping is due in April 2019 
 

1.0.5 The scorecard agreed between Dorset CCG and Dorset Healthcare continues 
to be a valuable tool in providing evidence and assurance to the CCG of the 
performance of the LAC service. It is reported on monthly and is shared with 
the Local Authorities on request.  
 

1.0.6 Performance remains good in the three areas of health assessments, dental 
access and uptake of immunisations. Consent in the 16-18 year age group has 
been an area that has required targeted work by the LAC Health team as the 
levels of written consent available in the childs records was low. This figure has 
now improved significantly and the upward trend would indicate the KPI will be 
met in Q1 of 2019-2020. 

 
 
 
  

Page 115



 

3 
 
 
 
 

2.0       INTRODUCTION  
 

2.1 This report provides an overview of the quality, performance, challenges and 
areas of achievement for the specialist nursing LAC health service during the 
year 2018-2019 provided by Dorset HealthCare University Foundation Trust 
(DHC).  

 
2.2 The specialist nursing LAC health service aims to support the local authorities 

to meet statutory health assessments and to enable looked after children and 
young people to achieve healthy lives. The corporate parenting responsibility 
of local authorities includes having a duty under Section 20(3) (a) of The 
Children’s Act (1989) to safeguard and promote the welfare of the children 
they look after.  This includes the promotion of the child’s physical, emotional 
and mental health and acting on any early signs of health issues (DfE 2015). 

   
 

3.0  THE SPECIALIST NURSING HEALTH SERVICE 
 

3.1 The specialist nursing LAC health service is a Pan Dorset service and the 
three teams are co-located within the 3 local authorities: Bournemouth, Dorset 
and Poole. As of 1st April 2019 there will be two new Local Authorities Dorset 
Council and Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Authority (BCP). This re-
organisation has been planned throughout 2018-2019 and has created 
challenges for the nursing team regarding numbers of children moving 
between councils and ensuring the correct staffing levels are achieved to 
meet the change within each team. Due to these changes being implemented, 
the Pan Dorset team has had to consider the most effective way of working 
and revise the current co-location arrangement. Co-location remains the 
preferred option however staff support and availability of experienced staff in 
the office for ad-hoc supervision is extremely important in a specialist team 
such as the LAC Health team therefore the way forward is likely to be two 
bases (East and West). A briefing paper and consultation period for the LAC 
Health team in Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole teams being merged is 
currently in place and a decision will be made in Q1 of 2019-2020 

          
3.2 The team use a skill mix model to meet the intercollegiate document (RCPCH 

March 2015) expectations. The team have seen a number of changes due to 
staff leaving the service and new posts being created to allow for the 
expansion of a Care Leaver service. Evaluation of the team structure is 
ongoing and will continue to be discussed between the CCG and Dorset 
Healthcare. (Team organisational chart in Appendix) 

 
3.3  The service has one role out to advert currently for a Band 6 Specialist Nurse 

in the Dorset area. Interviews scheduled for April 2019  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 116



 

4 
 
 
 
 

4.0  THE VOICE OF THE CHILD AND CARER 
 

4.0.1   The voice of the child is paramount in the Review Health Assessment process    
and when listened to properly Looked After Children Nurses can become 
advocates for children and empower them to shape their own healthy futures. 
It is imperative that children are central to any care planning and they are 
engaged with the process rather than being told what to do through a 
document 

 
 

4.0.2   The team use the Gather system to collate feedback from children and carers 
and in 2018-2019 there were over 600 responses to the service received. 
Overwhelmingly these responses were positive with the majority (85%+) of 
service users happy with: 

 
 The nurse who saw them  
 The place they chose to be seen 
 The information they received 
 The support they received following the assessment 
 Access to the nursing team in general 

 
On Gather the responses below were given to questions asked of 197 children: 
 
 
Question asked via Gather 
  

 
2017-2018 

 
2018-2019 

 
I feel listened to and respected  
 

 
77.8% 

 
96.1% 

 
I was involved in making decisions about my 
health 
 

 
75.8% 

 
88.3% 

 
I am happy with the care I have been given 
 

 
60.9% 

 
94.3% 

 
 

 
4.0.3    In the recent CQC inspection it was felt that while the voice of the child was 

evident and feedback was good, it could be improved within the Review Health 
Assessment and Initial Health Assessment documentation. Following this 
recommendation collaborative work between Dorset Healthcare and Poole 
Hospital has begun to ensure children’s views, wishes and aspirations are 
clearly documented and remain the focus for future planning. This will shape the 
basis of the health assessments in 2019-2020. 

 
4.0.4    The views of Care Leavers have seen a focus in 2018-2019 with the expansion 

of the health team to include Care Leavers. The Care Leaver nurses have 
engaged with young people through Participation events and attending Children 
in Care councils. This helped formulate the way forward for the Dorset New 

Page 117



 

5 
 
 
 
 

Adults service (DNA) and young people will be instrumental in shaping the 
service with the use of digital technology and drop in clinics.  

 

 
 
 
 
5.0 LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN ENTERING & LEAVING CARE 

 
 

5.0.1  Pan Dorset there has been an overall increase of 1% of children in care in 2018-
2019 

 
5.0.2 The data for children and young people entering and leaving care is detailed 

in Appendix A. Analysis of this information would indicate there have been 
more children coming into care in 2018-2019 compared with the previous 
year but there is also a rise in the amount of children leaving care. This 
increased flow of children in and out of the care system present challenges 
for the health team in terms of ensuring accurate notifications from the Local 
Authorities are received in a timely manner, increased Initial Health 
Assessments completed by the Paediatricians (commissioned through Poole 
Hospital) and the production of Health Passports on leaving care. 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 118



 

6 
 
 
 
 

5.1 Adoption 
 

5.1.1   For children who are to be adopted, adoption notifications are received from the 
local authority. The LAC health team ensures the current and new health visitors 
are informed as soon as the notification is received. The current health visitor 
(HV) is asked to make contact with the new HV and give a verbal handover. This 
ensures that the information is shared as soon as possible and that the new HV 
is mindful of the need to maintain confidentiality at this sensitive time.  

 
5.1.2 100% of LAC placed for Adoption, receive ongoing health access either through 

specialist health LAC provision, the Aspire Adoption Service or primary care 
universal services, until the Adoption Order is granted. 

 
5.1.3 Primary care is notified once an IHA or RHA is completed through the electronic 

shared system to review the record and by post if the record is not shared.  On 
leaving care the GPs are routinely notified of their change of status in order to 
amend their records. 

 
  5.2  Care Leavers 
 

5.3.1 The Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 states that a care leaver is someone who 
has been in the care of the local authority for a period of 13 weeks or more 
spanning their 13th birthday. 

 
5.3.2 While most young people make a gradual transition to independence supported by 

their family, care leavers often experience multiple, overlapping changes in their 
living circumstances all at once. In 2014, nationally only 5% of care leavers were 
still living with their previous foster carers under staying put arrangements (DoH, 
DfE 2013), the rest were in semi-independent accommodation, supported lodgings 
or living independently. 

 
5.3.3 There are currently 581 care leavers. This can be broken down into Bournemouth 

196, Poole 80 and Dorset 305. 
 
5.3.4 The LAC health team have expanded in 2018-2019 to offer a Care leaver service. 

This was implemented in Q3 following successful recruitment of two dedicated 
Care Leaver nurses. A scoping exercise has taken place and a robust plan for the 
following year has been created to ensure expectations are clearly set out.  

 
5.3.5 For young people aged 17-18yrs in 2018-2019, the LAC Health team offered 91 

young people a health passport which details their own health, across 
Bournemouth, Poole and, Dorset which is an increase of 50% on the previous 
year. 

 
            5.4    Separated Children Seeking Asylum (SCSA)  

 
5.4.1 From 1st July 2016 the interim national transfer protocol for separated children 

seeking asylum (SCSA) was created to enable the safe transfer of 
unaccompanied children from one UK local authority to another UK local 
authority.  

 

Page 119



 

7 
 
 
 
 

5.4.2 100% of SCSA and/or non-English Speaking LAC have access to an appropriate 
interpreter where this is required at IHA and RHA appointments; this process is 
now fully funded by Health Services.  

 
5.4.3 The SCSA figures for 2018-2019 are slightly raised from 2017-2018 (55 as 

opposed to 47) and this accounts for 6% of the overall caseload for Looked After 
Children. However in 2016-2017 the figure was 51 which indicates a consistent 
number of SCSA over the previous 3 years. 

 
5.4.4 The current health offer for SCSA includes access to full immunisation schedule, 

routine TB screening, access to sexual health and support registering with a 
local GP.  Emotional Health is also prioritised and referrals into CAMHS or the 
Emotional Health and Wellbeing Practitioner can be undertaken as early as the 
Initial Health Assessment if required. 

 
 
 
 
6.0  KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 
 

Looked After Children 
scorecard 

2016 2017 2018 Change over 2 
years  

     
 
% of Review Health Assessments 
completed  
 

73% 84% 90% 17% 

 
Dental checks up to date  
 

69% 86% 94% 25% 
 

 
Immunisations up to date  
 

61% 85% 89% 28% 
 

 
Consent up to date  
 

21% 93% 100% 79%


 
16-18 year olds consent up to date 
 

5% 56% 87% 82%

 
3 month reviews completed 
 

68% 89% 100% 32%

 
Health Passports completed 
 

59% 94% 100% 41% 

 
Total contacts with children 
 

1820 3721 4808 2988 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 120



 

8 
 
 
 
 

6.0.1  The total % completion for children up to date with Review Health Assessments 
for 2018-2019 is 90% which meets the target of 90%. There has been a notable 
and consistent improvement in the performance of the Review Health 
Assessment in the last 2 years achieved by changing the way in which work has 
been allocated on a monthly basis and also future planning of workload.  

 
6.0.2 The total % completion rate for children up to date with dental checks for 2018-

2019 is 94% which has exceeded the target of 80%. The provision of dental care 
is generally good across the Pan–Dorset area, with clear referral pathways into 
the community dental service.  
 

6.0.3 Evidence from the Quality Assurance of the Review Health Assessments indicates 
that 100% of RHAs discussed dental health, including oral health sugar intake, 
drinks, diet, tooth brushing and the importance of attending dental reviews. 

 
6.0.4 The total % completion rate for children up to date with immunisations for 2018-

2019 is 89% which has exceeded the target of 85% 
 

6.0.5 The LAC Service have worked alongside the school nursing team to ensure 
consent is obtained for routine immunisations that take place in schools across the 
county. In previous years this has proved problematic and delay was being 
experienced due to consent not being available on the day. The team have now 
set up an Immunisation Pathway which will target the children due for routine 
immunisations such as Flu vaccine, HPV etc. and ensure consent forms are 
completed and returned to the school nursing team in time for the immunisation 
session in school. The team are also communicating with foster carers and social 
workers when children are due immunisations.  

 
6.1 Consent  
 

6.1.1 At the time of a child or a young person becoming looked after consent to 
medical assessment and treatment is sought by social care. This consent covers 
the period of time that the child or young person is looked after.  

 
6.1.2 All Looked After Children ≥16yrs are presumed in law to be competent to give 

consent. At the time of the review health assessment, consent is discussed and 
explained to the young person allowing them to give their informed consent and 
understand the purpose of the health assessment and how the information is 
shared. The amount of signed consents for 16-18yr olds is monitored on a 
monthly basis and has significantly increased in 2018-2019 from a figure of 
59.4% to 98.1% having now met the target of 98% in Q4. 

 
6.2 Exception reporting 
 

6.2.1   During the course of 2018-2019 exception reporting remained a very useful tool 
in understanding why RHAs were not completed within timescales.  Exception 
reporting happens monthly and is reported on the CCG scorecard.  This has 
enabled the nursing team to understand where the barriers are to achieving 
KPI’s and to work with these areas to improve outcomes  

 
 
 

Page 121



 

9 
 
 
 
 

 
Total number of exceptions for RHAs not completed in the month due by 
quarter and year end 2018/2019 
 

Exception reason Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 
number 

Late return from HV   1 2 3 
Late return from Out of County 3 3 1 6 13 
Decliners 7 5 5 9 26 
Delayed in best interest of the 
child 

 1 2 2 5 

Other including placement 
change 

7 3 6 2 18 

Cancelled by the service     0 
Cancelled by the carer 1  2  3 
Service error  2 1  3 
Total exceptions 
% of RHA’s due 

18 
11.1% 

14 
8.1% 

18 
10.2% 

21 
9.9% 

71 
9.8% 

 
 
6.2.2  The highest number of exception reasons reported relates to an RHA being 

declined by the young person which overwhelmingly tends to be in the 16-18 
year olds. A Decliner’s Pathway has been devised and will be used  in Q1 2019-
2020 the aim of which is to ensure  young people receive the information they 
require to keep them healthy even if they have declined to meet a nurse. This 
will be through signposting to relevant websites and apps and age appropriate 
information shared with the young person and carer. 

 
6.2.3  The second highest exception reason is due to placement changes and/or 

agreement with the Social Worker that delay is requires in the RHA to allow time 
for the child to settle in a new placement. 

6.3  Children and Young People Placed out of area.  
 

6.3.1   The children and young people placed out of Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset LA 
areas continue to be some of the most complex and challenging young people in 
care. Many are placed within specialist residential units or residential 
educational settings with a smaller number placed with independent fostering 
agencies. 

 
6.3.2  Capacity of other area health teams to carry out Dorset RHA’s has been 

problematic in 2018-2019 which led to more travel outside of Dorset to ensure 
an equitable service to all Dorset LAC. Service Level Agreements are routinely 
used between areas however this year has seen a decline in the number of 
these being completed which has had an impact on the capacity of the team.  A 
third of RHA’s for children placed out of county were completed by the pan 
Dorset Health team which is a rise from previous years. 

 
 6.3.3 The delayed completion of RHAs by other area LAC health teams  has had a 

significant impact on compliance with a number of teams reporting that they 

      

Page 122



 

10 
 
 
 
 

have capacity issues and are unable to complete additional requests even with 
an SLA.  

 
             6.4 Children placed by other local authorities. 

 
6.4.1 The data from across Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset indicates a slight 

decrease in the number of Review Health Assessments completed for children 
placed in county by other areas in 2018-2019. However the number of known 
children placed in Dorset by other Local Authorities is much higher than the 
requested RHA’s. This requires analysis in 2019-2020 and a greater 
understanding of who is providing a service for these children needs to 
understood. This work will be carried out in Q2 of 2019-2020 

 

Number of RHA requests and number/% RHA completion for children and 
young people from other local authorities 2018/2019 

 Bournemouth Dorset Poole Total 
Number completed 
2018/2019 

27 67 30 124 

Number completed 
2017/2018 

41 61 29 131 

Number completed 
2016/2017 

38 51 14 103 

Number completed 
2015/2016 

30 13 17 60 

Number completed 
2014/2015 

27 No data available 9 36 

 
 
6.5   Three  monthly review of Action Plans   
 

6.5.1 In the recent CQC Children Looked After and Safeguarding inspection in 
October 2018, the 3 month reviews were recognised as innovative new practice. 
They prevent drift within an action plan and their implementation has proved a 
valuable tool in improving outcomes  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 123



 

11 
 
 
 
 

7.0 SHARING INFORMATION AND REFERRALS 
 
Number of referrals made by the LAC Specialist Nursing Team  2018/2019  

     

Service 
Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

2018/2019 2018/2019 2018/2019 2018/2019 

SALT         

CAMHS         

Enuresis service 3 3 2   

Substance misuse 1   1   

School nursing 2 3 3 1 

Community dentist 3 7 3 3 

Sexual health services 10 19 6 5 

Psychology 8 7 4 2 

GP 10 22 11 5 

Community paediatrician         

Physiotherapy         

Orthoptist         

Learning Disability 
services 

2 1     

Adult social care     1   

Steps to wellbeing         

Health visiting   1 2 1 

Specialist Service 8 10 4 8 

EHWB Practicitoner     2   

Total 47 73 39 25 

 
 
7.1 Emotional Health & Wellbeing 

 
7.1.1 Promoting the Health and Well-being of looked after children (2015) indicates 

that the majority of children become looked after as a result of abuse and 
neglect, almost half of children in care have a diagnosable mental health 
disorder and two-thirds have special educational needs. Delays in identifying 
and meeting their emotional well-being and mental health needs can have far 
reaching effects on all aspects of their lives, including their chances of reaching 
their potential and leading happy and healthy lives as adults. 

 
7.1.2  There are two Emotional Health and Wellbeing Practitioner posts within the 

Health Team structure. Their role is to oversee the provision of Mental and 
Emotional Health support for LAC. The work they do face to face with children 
and young people is in line with the “Getting Help” and “Getting More Help” 
stages of the Thrive Model and they support children who may not meet the 
threshold for CAMHS or who are being discharged from a CAMHS intervention 
and require additional emotional support.  

Page 124



 

12 
 
 
 
 

 
7.1.3 The Emotional Health & Wellbeing Practitioners currently hold a caseload of 

between 12 and 16 children that they are actively working with at any one time. 
There have been 97 referrals to this service over the previous year and this is 
now monitored on the monthly CCG scorecard alongside the open CAMHS 
cases and Psychology in order to provide a better overview of the emotional and 
mental health provision being offered by Dorset Healthcare. 

 
7.1.4  Scoping exercises Pan Dorset have been done by the Local Authorities to explore 

other emotional health services that are available through community or 
education provision and this will be invaluable in enhancing the access to 
services for LAC going forward into 2019-2020 

  
7.1.5   Development of the Mental Health Pathway has been led by the LAC Health 

Team and is currently out for consultation to the Local Authorities. The focus of 
the Pathway is to provide a robust and appropriate referral into CAMHS from the 
Social Worker. Currently referrals are received from a number of professionals 
such as GP’s, teachers etc and this has led to many referrals not meeting the 
threshold for a CAMHS service. In order to improve access to CAMHS in a 
timely manner they will now only accept a referral from a Social Worker who has 
followed the Pathway and engaged with relevant partners in the team around the 
child.  

 
 

7.1.6 The team continue to use the Strength and Difficulty (Goodman 1999) 
questionnaire as a brief emotional health screening tool for 4-17 year olds. Each 
questionnaire includes 25 items which focus on: 

 
- emotional symptoms 
- conduct problems 
- hyperactivity/inattention 
- peer relationship problems 
- prosocial behaviour 

 
 

7.1.7 Evidence from the Quality Assurance of the Review Health Assessments 
indicates that the return rate for SDQ’s is lower than the previous year. This is a 
Local Authority Key Performance Indicator and the process is facilitated by the 
Health team in terms of asking carers and young people to complete the 
questionnaire. The score is then sent to the Social Worker with the RHA. An 
understanding of the scoring system is required and what each score means in 
relation to the child however, this needs further work by the Psychology team 
and Social Workers.  The nurses do not have access to the reporting 
mechanism within the SDQ system as this has not be commissioned via the 
Local Authorities. This limits the effectiveness of the SDQ as no meaningful 
report is produced that could direct professionals when seeking further support 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 125



 

13 
 
 
 
 

Examples of feedback received from foster carers : 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Feedback from foster carer about 
EH&W Practitioner: 
 
“I have been working closely with X 
from June 2018 until January 2019 
to  support a young person looked 
after by Dorset County Council, with 
significant and complex mental health 
needs. X was able to swiftly  build up a 
positive rapport with my young person 
and later a relationship based on trust 
and mutual respect.  I believe that this 
positive therapeutic relation has been 
a key factor for H and his transition to 
adulthood as she enabled him to 
reengage with key  health services ie. 
CAMHS,  GP and substance misuse 
services and to  be transferred to adult 
mental health services on his 18th 
birthday.  
  

I also enjoyed working with X and 
finding many opportunities with her to 

engage in meaningful conversations 
aimed to reflect on practise and 

identified possible successful 
strategies of intervention” 

 

Feedback from foster carer about EH&W 
Practitoner: 
 
“I thought I would contact you following 
your session with R last evening.  When 
you called me into the room I could see R 
holding back his emotions.. it took me 
back to those facial expressions when he 
first came.  The comforting factor, 
however, was that you were there to 
help him cope.  I understand you are now 
trying to help him deal with the past and 
I feel sure that as the weeks go by you 
will be able to let R address this abuse 
May I just take this opportunity to thank 
you for this invaluable work with R.  I 
have been a Carer for many years and I if 
there had been a ‘you’ to help the 
youngsters it would have been amazing.  
We, as foster carers, can only do our best 
to provide the warm, nurturing 
environment these young people 
desperately need.  We work alongside 
good social workers but the expertise 
your role brings is giving me an insight 
into how vitally important it is to address 
the emotional damage at a nearby stage.  
For my part, your role makes the work 
we do complete.  These young people 
cannot move on without addressing the 
past.    It is very sad - I just wish there 
were more of ‘you’ to help our young 
people at the earliest opportunity. 
 
Anyway, thank you .  It is a real pleasure 
working alongside you”. 

 

Page 126



 

14 
 
 
 
 

 
7.2 Sexual Health & Child Sexual Exploitation 

 
7.2.1 Dorset HealthCare’s sexual health service is well established across the county 

providing drop in/advisory centres and sexual health workers that all young 
people in care can access or be referred to. 

 
7.2.2 The protection of children and young people in care who are identified as being 

at risk of child sexual exploitation (CSE) is central to the role of the nurses within 
the health team. Individual support can be provided by the nurses and where 
appropriate, referrals can be made to sexual health services who also offer a 
targeted outreach service for vulnerable children including LAC 

 
7.2.3  In May 2018-2019 there was a Joint Area Targeted Inspection in the Dorset 

County Council area around Child Sexual Exploitation and Criminal Exploitation 
including County Lines. The outcome showed that all partner agencies required 
improvement in this area and culminated in restructuring of the CSE/CE system 
and processes. The lead for this within Dorset Healthcare is the Safeguarding 
team and a new way of multi-agency working has been co-produced by health, 
police and the local authority. This is being rolled out in Q1 of 2019-2020. The 
Health team currently continue to identify children at risk of CE/CSE/county lines 
and raise this with the social worker directly. The CSE matrix is completed and 
submitted to the MASH.  

 
7.2.4 It is not possible to definitively report the number of conceptions amongst young 

people in care because many young people access confidential support through 
sexual health services, Young people may actively choose not to discuss this 
with the health team, Social Worker or their carers. If young people do disclose 
early pregnancy the nurses will work jointly with their social worker (if consent 
given) to ensure the young person is supported to be able to make an informed 
choice whether to continue with the pregnancy.  

 
7.2.5 Evidence from the Quality Assurance of the Review Health Assessments 

indicates that 98% of reviewed RHAs contain an overview and analysis of sexual 
health where sexual health is relevant to developmental age. 

 
 

7.3 The Number of LAC with an Educational Health Care Plan (EHCP)  
 

 
7.3.1 At 31st March 2019 there were 154 children and young people in care with an 

EHCP. This remains consistent with 2017-2018  
 

7.3.2 The RHA should support the EHCP and to date this has not been the case. 
Links between the health team and the Virtual Head teachers became 
embedded within 2018-2019 and regular meetings are now in place. This 
improved communication has highlighted a gap in that neither agencies are 
being routinely involved in the assessment for EHCP’s or having sight of the 
EHCP once produced. This is key to ensuring the EHCP is successful therefore 
work with the CCG and the SEND teams has been planned for 2019-2020 

 
 

Page 127



 

15 
 
 
 
 

 
8.0  QUALITY ASSURANCE AUDIT 
 

8.0.1 The Specialist LAC Team Leads quality assure completed Review Health 
Assessments via peer review using an agreed benchmarking tool (Dorset CCG 
2015).The benchmarking tool provides evidence of health assessment quality 
indicators and is also used to quality assure RHAS completed by health visitors 
and other health teams across the country. The tool is used to ensure that 
children and young people have their needs assessed, their care goals identified 
and their care planned and delivered in accordance with guidance and best 
practice.  

 
8.0.2 An average of 30% of RHA’s were quality assured over 2018-2019. The amount 

being quality assured rose throughout the year from 19.6% in Q1 to 38.4% in 
Q4. Dorset Healthcare and Dorset CCG agreed that a target of 25% of all RHA’s 
completed within Dorset would be Quality Assured. Alongside this, all OOA 
RHA’s and RHA’s completed by the Health Visitors would also be Quality 
Assured.  

 
8.0.3   Analysis of the data provided from systmOne showed that the LAC Health Team 

provided 55% of their work as face to face contacts and 45% as non-face to 
face. 

 
8.0.4 The areas of compliance against the agreed tool are listed below. 

 
 Brief chronology of health need / previous health history is provided 
 Evidence of assessment of Physical Health 
 Assessment of emotional health:  At least 3 indicators i.e. Attachment, SDQ 

score or alternative clinical measure. 
 Evidence that health promotion/ healthy lifestyle has been discussed 
 Evidence that dental health has been discussed, such as oral health 

discussion re sugar intake, drinks, diet and tooth brushing 
 The Child/young person’s personality has been reflected. 
 Height and weight has been done 
 Lifestyle issues such as smoking, alcohol and drug taking have been 

explored (age appropriate) 
 
                 Themes that emerged from the Annual Audit that will inform practice next year: 
 

 Nightmares were a topic that children referred to frequently with 40% saying they 
experienced recurring nightmares and problematic sleep.  Work around will be 
considered by the Emotional Health & Wellbeing Practitioners 
 

 Obesity was cited in 50% of the cases audited. Targeted work will be required by 
all staff undertaking the RHA’s in 2019-2020 
 

 Gym membership was requested by 30% of the cases audited. These were all 
teenagers. This can be fed back to the Local Authorities to explore this request. 
 

 With 2 cases audited there was a clear link to reduced smoking,alcohol and 
cannabis use when being supported by the Emotional Health and Wellbeing 
Practitioner which led to engagement with CAMHS. 

Page 128



 

16 
 
 
 
 

 
 

9.0  COMPLIMENTS AND COMPLAINTS 
 

9.0.1 No formal complaints have been received by the service in 2018-2019 
 
9.0.2 The team receive compliments from a variety of sources. A couple of examples 

below 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Foster carer feedback: 
X made the children feel very relaxed. 
They enjoyed her visit. It was brilliant 
how she involved them in the 
conversation’. 

Foster carer feedback: 
X was really good with the children, 
patient and kind and gave them really 
good information’. 

Social worker feedback: 
very impressed with the detail of your 
RHA’s and how you were able to 
engage and gain the trust of a young 
person in the short period you are 
there with them.  I work in the 13-25 
team and the bulk of my caseload is 
16+ and some of the hardest to reach 
YP.  

Feedback from young person: 
it’s  helpful because you have trust 
that someone is there to talk to and 
without it I would struggle more. It 
feels a lot more useful, less pressure 
and less stressful than other services I 
have been to. 
 
 

Feedback from young person: 
" X is friendly and approachable 
person who helped me a lot with 
improving my sleep. I learnt a lot 
about how to improve my sleep for 
example I was drinking Red Bull in 
the evening and didn’t realise how 
bad it was. I will remember all of the 
relaxation techniques taught and can 
use the methods in my future life. I 
would like to thank X for all his help 
and time". 
 

Page 129



 

17 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Feedback from foster carer: 
The work that you have provided some of my young people has been 
invaluable as well as myself. You are always able to offer time and support for 
myself and the children. You have provided clear times and dates to when you 
are going to see the young people and build good strong relationships where 
the young people trust you . 
You are supporting one of my young people to talk about his history and how 
this affects him, he has not been able to do this to date. He is very proud of all 
the work that you do with him and he shows me and talks to me about this on 
my visits. He feels that you are helping him. He looks forward to your visits, 
what you will be doing and your bag of amazing resources. 
You have supported two carers working with challenging children feel that 
they are being supported and listening to. This is invaluable in placement 
stability moving forward. 
 
The difference to these children futures will be incredible has they have been 
offered time and space to have the feelings and journeys supported and 
understood and how this impacts them emotionally.  
 
This is a resource that I feel that we have not had before. You keep me in the 
loop and updated on any significant information.  
 
You have been there in times when this YP is really struggling and helped him 
pick up the pieces which meant he had a positive day the following day.  
 
Children warm to you instantly and trust you. 
 

Page 130



 

18 
 
 
 
 

 
 
10.0   POSITIVE OUTCOMES FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

 
 The flu uptake for children who are LAC was 78%. The general population in 

Dorset uptake was 68%  
 

 Feedback from children who are engaging with the Emotional Health and 
Wellbeing Practitioners is overwhelmingly positive and the referrals to the service 
have been growing. One success recently has been a young person who did not 
want to attend their own LAC Review as they found it too stressful with everyone 
talking about them and hadn’t attended in two years. Following some sessions 
with the EH&W practitioner they decided they wanted to attend and be an active 
part of the process. They said the sessions had given them some confidence and 
they felt “a little more in control of things” which emotionally had equipped them to 
be involved rather than being told what was happening to them. 

 
 The Care Leaver service is supporting young people to engage with other 

agencies and is beginning to show better access to health services. An example 
of this was a young person who had been sexually exploited and only recognised 
this after talking with the Care Leaver nurse. They worked through this together 
over a couple of sessions and the young person asked the nurse to attend the 
police station with them to talk to the police about what had been happening, they 
also talked to all other relevant professionals in order to ensure the young person 
received the support they needed following this.  

 
 Relationship building between the nurses and young people has enabled more 

young people to engage with services they were previously reluctant to engage 
with such as dental services (significant rise in attendance this year). This is also 
true of sexual health services with the introduction of the Sexual Health Outreach 
workers who work closely with the LAC nurses. 

 
 Immunisation uptake has improved and this has in part been due to the close 

working relationship between the LAC nurses and school nursing team. Planning 
the immunisation schedule and ensuring consent is received for the LAC cohort 
has improved uptake within schools as happens with the non-LAC cohort and 
reduced the need for attendance at follow up clinics. This is important because in 
the past Looked After Children were treated differently due to simple mistakes 
such as consent not being received in time, this singles children out in the 
classroom through no fault of their own and it has been important to the LAC team 
and school nurses that everything is done to prevent this happening. 

 
 Young people are actively  engaging in their health planning and the transition to 

adulthood is being supported from 16 years + 
 

 Use of the annual audit is beginning to show trends which will enable the nursing 
team to target specific areas such as obesity, emotional health etc. This will 
improve year on year as information increases. 

 
 
 
  

Page 131



 

19 
 
 
 
 

Case study  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
11.0 KEY AREAS OF ACHIEVEMENT 2018-2019 
 

 
 Performance improvement with Review Health Assessments, Dental and 

Immunisation uptake. All KPI’s were met in Q4 of 2018-2019 which is the first 
time  
 

 The CCG scorecard has now been embedded and is used to provide 
assurance to the CCG that performance is reviewed and achieved on a 
monthly basis by the LAC service. The Designated Nurse and Named Nurse 
for LAC meet regularly to review progress and to ensure the overall plan for 
improvement is being met.  
 

 Production of the Mental Health Pathway has taken time over the past year due 
to a shift in focus of how best to support children who require a mental health 
service. Originally it was thought that reducing the timescale for referral to 
assessment and also from assessment to treatment was the most effective way 
of “fast tracking” a LAC however in consultation with CAMHS and Psychology  
this focus changed and it was decided that the focus should be on improving 
the referral process. This Pathway now guides Social Workers in how to 
provide a robust and appropriate referral following consultation with other 
relevant professionals. This is due for launch in June 2019 
 
 

Referral: 
Nurse contacted via pathways team Social worker concerned regarding a LAC aged 17. History of low 
mood and possible PTSD symptoms, CAMHs threshold not met, attended ED department for help with 
emotional health and wellbeing. Also concerns due to recent loss of weight, CSE risk and confusion 
surrounding sexuality. 
Assessment: 
Nurse met with YP and was able to build an instant rapport and map out main areas of concern for the 
young person. 
Discussed areas of frustration and need for support. 
Reviewed current low mood and that is linked to situational issues such as bullying at work and current 
trauma of foster carer being ill. 
Supported to re-attend college and liaise with pastoral care at college to support around education and 
issues around sleeping that affect attendance at college. 
 
Care Leavers Health service support Outcomes were:  
Young person continued to attend college 
Liaise with GP and able to stop taking anti-depressants as no longer required or useful.  
 Work around grief and loss was commenced 
Reviewed sleep issues and sleep hygiene plan to improve sleep pattern as was currently in day nigh 
reversal 
Discuss sexuality and areas of confusion or need for support and education. 
Supported applications to join Armed Forces – also advocated for young person and appealed when  
initially refused on health reasons, stating that YP had diagnosis of depression which was incorrect. 
YP took initial entrance exams and passed with score of 97% 
YP contacts care leavers nurse via email or text when requires support which is now usually fortnightly 
and attends the weekly Fusion youth club to attend DNA health care drop in clinic. 
appropriate ways to seek support and or advice 
Has expressed CSE risk has reduced and when does require relationship advice etc intents to continue to 
engage with care leavers when turns 18 in May 2019. 
 

Page 132



 

20 
 
 
 
 

 Exception reporting on the Immunisation Pathway is now embedded which enables 
the nurses to understand why an immunisation is outstanding and the best way to 
address this if possible. 

 
 Improved communication between health and education has been achieved in 

2018-2019. Regular meetings are now scheduled and this has enabled both 
agencies to work together in a cohesive manner. The first joint project has been to 
improve access to EHCP’s following discussions where both agencies identified 
difficulties in using EHCP’s to inform the statutory reports required.   

 
 Signed consent for 16-18 year olds has achieved the target of 98% in Q4. This has 

taken a year to achieve and required targeted work by the nursing and business 
support team. It is good practice to give young people the opportunity to sign their 
own consent and to fully engage in the planning of their own health which has now 
been achieved. 

 
 The Emotional Health and Wellbeing Practitioner roles are both now recruited to 

following improvement in the job description available. The service now being 
offered is evolving and the Pathway has been restructured to include a formal 
referral and the service no longer uses RiO electronic records. This has released 
some practitioner time as they only record on systmOne now rather than both 
systems.  Measuring outcomes is an area that is being discussed with Psychology 
but the feedback this year has been overwhelmingly positive. 

 
 The development of the Decliners Pathway is now complete and will be launched in 

Q1 of 2019-2020 
 

 The central phone line number and email address for the team has seen a very 
positive response from other professionals. This is a duty line and is managed by 
the business support team. This is further supported by using instant messenger via 
Skype for business support to the nurses to look at their availability should a call be 
received that requires urgent attention. 

 
 Training for the team has been very successful this year and has included a days 

training on Self Harm and Resilience Building from Young Minds, joint training with 
Sexual Health on Transgender Issues from Mermaids, a full days training on the 
Prevent campaign and a joint Away Day with the nursing team from the Youth 
Offending Team. 

 
 BT Global webex video conferencing has been introduced into the team in order to 

begin reducing travel within the team in line with the Trust Priorities. This is 
currently being used for meetings for staff and has proved successful.  

 
 
 
11.0  KEY CHALLENGES IN 2018-2019 

 
 There have been various challenges and points of learning in 2018-2019 for the LAC 

service. These are summarised as: 
 

 Staff turnover has been higher than expected. The reasons cited for leaving in the 
Exit Interviews have consistently shown that staff feel they are working with children 

Page 133



 

21 
 
 
 
 

with challenging behaviour that can at times be overwhelming for staff to deal with. 
This is an area that will require addressing in 2019-2020 through robust supervision 
and peer support. This also has implications for future recruitment and the need for 
candidates to understand about adolescent risk taking behaviour and childhood 
trauma and how attachment difficulties can display in children through behaviour. 

 
  The re-structuring of the Local Authorities has proved challenging in that 

preparation work for this in 2018-2019 has been required which has at times 
created obstacles in working practice. This has been necessary for the Local 
Authority staff however making decisions about processes that may then require re-
negotiation on the 1st April resulted in delay to improvements that health have 
recommended. This should improve in 2019-2020 once both new Authorities are 
launched.  

 
 Data inputting and historical business support arrangements with the Local 

Authorities have required assessment in 2018-2019. Re-aligning the responsibilities 
of both agencies has taken time but has now been achieved. The business support 
team have had to prioritise the work required by them to fulfil the CCG service 
specification and no longer offer support to the Local Authorities business support 
as this was having a negative impact on core delivery of service for the Health 
team. 

 
 Growing demand for the service has had an impact on the team with other areas 

not being able to carry out Dorset RHA’s even with an SLA in place. This has 
resulted in increased travel for the health team to outlying areas which have been 
further than previous years.  Staff are required to travel for the RHA if KPI’s are to 
be achieved. Also, as the service becomes known to other teams they are asking 
for support with LAC in their teams and to be kept abreast of developments in 
regards LAC. This is a positive move but also requires a lot of time meeting with 
teams and talking about why LAC are vulnerable and require a targeted service. In 
2018-2019 links were made with the CAMHS team leads, Youth Offending Service, 
Speech & Language and Audiology and going forward IAPT and Adult services will 
be approached.  

 
 Adolescent risk taking behaviour within the LAC cohort is increasing. Very complex 

behaviour is continuing to challenge the multi-agency teams across Dorset. The 
outcome of the JTAI highlighted the need for better multi-agency working and 
earlier intervention and this is being planned with forums being considered to 
manage the most complex children. One of the difficulties arises when Social 
Workers refer to CAMHS and the referral is rejected due to the issue being 
behavioural rather than a mental health issue. This causes frustration as there does 
not seem to be the support network available for children in this situation.  

 
 The implementation of a Dental Pathway has not been possible due to dental 

working practice. Clients receive a package of treatment and if they change dentist 
the information is not shared. To date this is not something that would be easy to 
implement and dentists do not think this is necessary so has been postponed. 
Currently dental uptake is very good in Dorset so the provision is accessible and 
being used by children and referral into the specialist community dental service is 
already embedded therefore this is not a priority need but may be re-considered if 
uptake reduces in the next few years. 

 

Page 134



 

22 
 
 
 
 

 
12.0 KEY AREAS FOR DEVELOPMENT IN 2019-2020 

 
 Embedding the Care Leaver Offer and managing expectation of the service. 

 
 The Mental Health Pathway to be launched in Q1 of 2019-2020 and be formally 

evaluated in Q3 
 

 Improved communication between health, education and EHCP caseload co-
ordinators in order to triangulate reports for the benefit of the child. 

 
 Production of videos, podcasts and information for young people using digital 

technology such as Zappar and You Tube 
 

 Scoping of the Children placed in Dorset from other Local Authorities to ensure the 
health team are aware of the majority of children within the county and they are 
receiving the correct level of service. 

 
 Implement the recommendations from the Joint Area Targeted Inspection and the 

CLAS inspections from 2018.  Also, Serious Case Review 31 will be published in Q1 
of 2019-2020 and learnings from this will be considered and Action Plans developed 
on publication of the report. 

 
 Retention of staff through robust supervision and peer support. The offices currently 

being used to be reduced to two (East and West) to reduce Lone Working and 
provide easier access to the Psychologists and Independent Reviewing Officers for 
ad hoc supervision. 

 
 Engagement with children and young people. Invite the Young Inspectors to visit the 

team. Improved methods of quality assurance and hearing from young people how 
we are doing and what we could do to improve 

 
 Support for Poole Hospital to improve the IHA process  

 
 Improve how the voice of the child is written into care planning and referenced at 

every 3 month review 
 

 Ethnicity and culture to be documented and discussed at every RHA. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 135



 

23 
 
 
 
 

13.0  REFERENCES 
 
Department for Education (2015) Promoting the Health and well-being of Looked 
after Children 
 
Department of Health/NHS England (2015) Future in Mind 
 
Dorset CCG (2015) Quality Assurance Benchmarking tool 
 
Goodman, R. (1999) the extended version of the Strengths and Difficulties 
Questionnaire as a guide to child psychiatric caseness and consequent burden. 
Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 40, 791 -801. 
 
RCN, RCGP, RCPCH (2015). Looked after children: Knowledge, skills and 
competencies of healthcare staff. Intercollegiate Role framework. 
 
SCIE Social Care Institute for Excellence (2017)  Improving mental health support for 
our children and young people. 
  

Page 136



 

24 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A   Statistical Data 
 

 
Number of children in care 2018 - 2019 split by age range and local 
authority  
      

Average number of 
children in care 

Under 5 
years 

5-16 years 
Young 

people aged 
16-17 years 

Care 
Leavers 

Total 
Number 

Bournemouth 50 122 81 196 449 

Poole 25 110 63 80 278 

Dorset  50 293 119 305 767 

* includes Care Leavers       

 
Number of children in care 2018/2019 by quarter   
     

Average number of 
children in care 

Q1 
2018/2019 

Q2 
2018/2019 

Q3 
2018/2019 

Q4 
2018/2019 

30-06-18 30-09-18 31-12-18 31-03-19 

Bournemouth 247 258 257 253 

Dorset  465 452 448 462 

Poole 199 205 203 198 

Total in 2018/19 911 915 908 913 

Total in 2017/18 903 911 896 901 

*not including care leavers 
 
  

Page 137



 

25 
 
 
 
 

Number of children coming in to care 2018/2019 by quarter compared to 
2017/2018 
  

Q1 
 

Q2 
 

Q3  
 

Q4  
 

Total 
 
2018/2019 
 

 
98 

 
89 

 
90 

 
69 

 
346 

 
2017/2018 
 

 
86 

 
84 

 
93 

 
84 

 
347 

 
Number of children leaving care 2018/2019 by quarter compared to 2017/2018 

 Q1  Q2  
 

Q3  
 

Q4  
 

Total 

 
2018/2019 
 

 
56 

 
59 

 
59 

 
44 

 
218 

 
2017/2018 
 

 
55 

 
47 

 
25 

       
       41 

 
168 

 
2016/2017 
 

 
90 

 
53 

 
93 

 
63 

 
299 

 
Number of RHAs due and completion rate Pan Dorset per quarter for 2018/2019 
 
 Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Total 

 
 
RHAs Due 
 161 173 176 211 721 
RHAs 
Completed in 
month due 143 159 158 190 650 
% completion 
in month due 
2018-2019 
 89% 92% 90% 90% 90% 
% completion 
in month due 
2017-2018 71%  83% 91% 92% 85% 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 138



 

26 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B   EHWB Pathway 
 
 

Pan Dorset Emotional Health & Wellbeing Pathway 
for Looked After Children & Young People

Identification of Emotional Health and Wellbeing need via:
- Foster Carer, Social care, Health, education or other agency / professional
- Contact with LAC Health Team at any point; IHA with Medical Advisor, RHA or 3 month review by LAC Health Team

Referrer to consult with LAC Health Team Lead or EHWB Practitioner to discuss referral.  If it does not meet criteria for 
service, signpost using thrive model to alternative service.

Referral made to EHWB Practitioner using referral form
Acknowledge email to referrer with the date of the next referral screening meeting

Open a referral on SystmOne.
Add note to RIO that case has been opened in SystmOne LAC Module to EHWB practitioner

Referral screened by EHWB Practitioner and LAC Health Team Lead in line with 
Thrive Model and Getting Help section (Thrive Model attached)
- Liaise back with referrer regarding outcome of the screening

- Document outcome of the screening on SystmOne
- Document review date in plan

- Log on spreadsheet

REFERRAL ACCEPTEDREFERRAL NOT ACCEPTED

 

Page 139



 

27 
 
 
 
 

REFERRAL ACCEPTED

Introductory session with CYP –
Getting to know you

Complete RCADS, consent & goal planning with CYP

Brief evidence based intervention provided by 
EHWB Practitioner based on the goals & 

needs of the CYP
Consider completion of RCADS on or before 4 sessions 

and review intervention as required.
Review with LAC Health Team Lead & 

LAC Psychologist

REFERRAL NOT ACCEPTED

Discussion held with referrer offering guidance and 
signposting using the Thrive Model and getting advice as 

required.

Close referral on SystmOne with closure letter to referrer and CYP as necessary.  
Add note to RIO that case has been closed in SystmOne LAC Module to EHWB practitioner

AT ANY POINT IN THIS PROCESS
Referral to CAMHS if reaching 

“Getting More Help” or “Getting Risk Support” from the Thrive Model

Review and evaluation of intervention by EHWB Practitioner, completion of RCADS and feedback to referrer and team 
around the CYP.  Consider further needs of CYP and if a referral to other services is appropriate.  

2019 Version 1

 
 
  

Page 140



 

28 
 
 
 
 

Pan Dorset School Immunisation Pathway 
For Looked  After Children and Young People 

 
 
 
 
 

 

  

Band 6 Nurse to gain Pan Dorset schedule from School Nursing 
along with forms and leaflets, both in hardcopy and electronically 

Team Nurse & Business Support to use Social Care System/S1 to 
ascertain cohorts & produce spreadsheet, removing COLAs 

 

Legal status, Social Worker and school to be added to spreadsheet 
for each CYP and CYP at non-Dorset schools to be separated out 

Consent form to be delivered to relevant Social Care Management.  
This can be done by delivering hardcopy to them to be signed in 

accordance with the legal status or emailed to Social Care 
Manager. 

Consent form must be signed by relevant person relating to the 
CYP’s legal status as per the below: 

 S20 should be signed by birth parent  
 Delegated authority can be used but it is good practice for the social 

worker to check with the birth parent where possible.  This delegated 
authority should be attached to S1 

 CO, ICO or PO can be signed by the social worker but it is good 
practice for the social worker to check with the birth parent where 
possible 

If responses are not received within a week, request should be 
escalated to social care management. 

 

Once signed forms are received, LACHT to review & add black triangle to bottom right 
hand corner to show signature has been checked. Put line through Do Not Consent 

section.  Form to be sent to Foster Carer to complete health information & CYP to take 
form into school. LACHT to complete Quick Note on S1 

DO NOT scan to SystmOne as the school nurses will scan on with the final details 
completed and this will cause confusion as to who has had immunisations. 

 
 

Page 141



 

29 
 
 
 
 

POST IMMUNISATIONS  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

CHILDREN PLACED OUT OF AREA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

After immunisations due in school, LAC nurses to check S1 to 
ensure immunisation has been given.  Report also available 

through Performance 

If not given, contact carer to advise of catch up clinic’s and provide 
carer with school nursing contact details. 

Nurses to make call to carers for children placed out of area.  If 
the child is attending a school in Dorset, above pathway will apply. 
If child is not attending a Dorset school, advise the carer that when 
they receive the form, they should refer to the social worker if they 
do not have delegated authority to sign for immunisations.  If they 
want further information on the immunisations themselves, refer 

them to NHS Choices 

Page 142



 

30 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pathway for referral of looked after children / care leavers  
 

GUM contacts: 
West Dorset: The Park Centre for Sexual Health, 
Melcombe Avenue, Weymouth DT4 7TB 
 01305 762 682 (ask to speak to a health adviser) 
gumreception@dchft.nhs.uk 
 
East Dorset: Department of Sexual Health, Royal 
Bournemouth Hospital, Castle Lane East, 
Bournemouth BH7 7DW  
 01202 704 536 (ask to speak to a health adviser) 

Genital symptoms 

Telephone to book 
appt, followed by 

e-mail or letter 

Looked after child / care leaver with a sexual health need 

Contraception STI screening 

Emergency 
contraception 

Sexual assault  

Pregnancy test 

See www.sexualhealthdorset.org for pathways 

Key worker needs 
expert advice  

Clinic attendance 
needed  

Abortion 

Contraceptive and Sexual Health contacts: 
 0300 303 1948 (ask to speak to a doctor or senior 
nurse) 
dhc.cash.admin@nhs.net 
 
West Dorset: 20 Trinity St, Dorchester, DT1 1TU 
 
East Dorset: The Junction, 235 Holdenhurst Rd, 
Bournemouth BH8 8DD  
 

E-mail or telephone 

Wherever possible, arrange for the young person to be 
accompanied to the clinic appointment by their key worker  

High risk sexual 
behaviour 

Include  
• Name, date of birth, address, phone contact (state 

whether patient’s or carer’s number), GP 
• Contact details for sending appointment 
• Reason for the referral 
• How the child would attend the clinic  
• Assessment of capacity to consent 
• Safeguarding concerns 
• Name of child’s social worker and key worker 

Targeted outreach service contacts 
 01202 646 384 / 07887 831 553  
Clinical lead: Joanne.Goodman1@nhs.net 
Targeted outreach service  
 

Young person needs 
input from Targeted 

outreach service  

Contact service (details 
below) or complete  
on-line referral form 

Page 143



 

31 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 144



 
Date of Meeting: 14 November 2019 
 
Portfolio Holder:  Cllr A Parry, Children, Education and Early Help 
 
Director: Jonathan Mair, Corporate Director, Legal & Democratic  
 

Executive Summary: 
 
This annual report provides an update on the numbers, types and outcomes of 
complaints made against services that sit within the Children’s Directorate.  It 
represents a close out report for former Dorset County Council    
 
Key messages for this quarter are: 
 

 There have been 122 complaints relating to Children’s Social Care matters  
69 of which were managed as formal complaints; 

 There have been 95 complaints relating to Non Social Care matters, 64 of 
which were managed as formal complaints 

 There were 19 complaints escalated to the Local Government Ombudsman 
where maladministration was found in 9 – Relating to SEN matters.  
Unusually the Ombudsman published a formal public interest report in 
relation to the former County Council which was the subject of separate 
report to the Cabinet and the People Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 Only 16% of the Social Care complaints received were found to be fully or 
partially justified; and 12% of Non Social Care complaints  

 
Numbers of complaints generating learning for the organisation are currently low.  
The vision of the new central team will be to work with services to ensure greater 
organisational learning. 
 
 

Equalities Impact Assessment: 
 
None.  The Corporate Complaints policy has been subject to an EQIA 

Budget:  
£14,416.00 in LGSCO maladministration charges, mainly in relation to issuing draft 
EHCPs  
 
In 2018-19 £15,961.75 was spent on independent investigators for the more 
complex complaints case.  This compares to £12,678.11 2017-18 
 
 

 

Corporate Parenting Board 

Annual Complaints Update – People 
Children’s  

Page 145

Agenda Item 10



Risk Assessment:  
 
Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been 
identified as: 
Current Risk: LOW 
Residual Risk LOW  
 

Climate implications: 
 
None 
 

Other Implications: 
 
None 

Recommendation: 
 

1. Note the outcomes of complaints made against functions within the 
Children’s Directorate. 

2. Support the future focus of the new central team in working with services to 
ensure greater organisational learning from complaints. 

 

Reason for Recommendation: 
 
To have an awareness of the numbers and types of complaints and the 
organisational learning.  

Appendices: 
 
Appendix A – Total Summary of Complaints to Dorset County Council 
 
 

Background Papers: None 

Officer Contact: 
 
Name:  Tony Bygrave, Senior Assurance Officer (Complaints) 
Tel: 01305 225011 
Email: antony.bygrave@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Name:  Marc Eyre, Service Manager for Assurance 
Tel: 01305 224358 
Email: marc.eyre@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

Page 146



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 149



Background  

The purpose of this report is to highlight key issues from the Annual Report for Complaints 2018/19. There is 
a full annual report to support this execu ve summary a ached to the original email. This includes an overall 
report on council complaints for the last financial year and more detailed reports in Appendices for the indi-
vidual service directorate. 
 
Introduc on 

The corporate complaints team was established in 2016 to manage the council’s complaints. There have been 
some structural changes at the end of 2017 to facilitate a more robust service with built in business con nui-
ty. The team has been at full strength since February 2018, and con nues to improve its opera ons and sup-
port to opera onal managers, focussing on complaints resolu on and learning from complaints. It has again 
been a very busy year for complaints.  
 
At the end of 2017, we held a seminar for Members on complaints management in the council to explore 
councillors’ roles in complaints and to raise the awareness of the complaints team and its func on. These 
messages are s ll relevant to Complaints opera ons going forward 

 Improved repor ng and recording of complaints – have we captured everything?   
 Communica on – a need to improve the clarity and tone of verbal & wri en communica on   
 Early Resolu on – priori sa on of effort to avoid lengthy process and associated   
 Being be er at listening - a more empathe c manner and approach   
 More direct contact – ac vely engage, don’t hide behind process   
 Ac ve management of expecta ons – don’t over promise, be realis c!   
 Reduce bureaucracy – challenge and remove unnecessary process  
 Ensure the transparency of informa on – don’t simply use regula on as an excuse to say no   
 Insufficient feedback advising stakeholders of progress/ac on taken – keep people informed   
 Assess the adequacy & deployment of staffing resource – right people, right place, right me   
 Ownership and Ac on - clarity of roles / responsibili es – who does what and when?  
 An effec ve escala on process – refer issues early when necessary, but by excep on   
 Ensuring an appropriate independence in the process – objec vity is key  

These outcomes con nued to inform the complaints team’s improvement action plan for the year 
ahead, as they are s ll relevant and hopefully the swing from formal to informal complaints figures indi-
cate that these messages have been received and acted upon. The team’s focus for this coming year is: 
 
Team development – establishing the corporate team and ensuring staff are trained to manage and 
process complaints effec vely for the new council.  This will need to include resource iden fied in the 
historic local authori es. 
IT developments – there are a number of improvements to processes which will streamline and auto-
mate the opera ons of the team and link on line complaints forms to the database. 
Reporting/Learning – produc on of quarterly reports that show trends and learning from complaints 
and highlight to opera onal managers areas requiring a en on and colla on of learning points from 
complaints to ensure the necessary improvements are made to services to reduce repeat complaints 
wherever possible. 

Developments since 2017/18 report 

In last year’s report we outlined that we would be working closely with services to address the 
following areas: 

Agreed Ac on - Implemen ng a new system for recording, monitoring and managing 
feedback. 
Progress - this is a work in progress and significant developments con nue to be 
made with the Share Point database to streamline opera ons and capture data. 
Agreed Ac on - Improving meliness of responses to complaints 
Progress – The Complaints team are happy to report significant strides in mescales 
with only 14% of cases exceeding the agreed mescale, as opposed to 45% 2017-8.  
Work to do s ll, but encouraging signs 
Agreed Ac on - Improving standards of communica on in DC by informing service 
managers of issues in their teams 
Progress- this has been achieved through the quarterly complaints reports 
Agreed Ac on - Building an infrastructure to ensure learning from complaints is cap-
tured and acted upon. This will include gathering feedback from complainants a er 
closure on their experience of the process and how it was handled. In addi on, dash-
boards will be available to managers so they can analyse their service area’s com-
plaints. The effec veness and update of dashboards needs to be evaluated. Quarter-
ly reports provide informa on on learning. The team is working with opera onal 
managers to ensure the dissemina on of learning and to capture changes made by 
directorates to complete the learning circle. 
Progress - The Senior Assurance Manager is actually working with leadership teams 
to highlight areas of concern to enable them to iden fy and implement required 
improvements. This is par cularly the case in highligh ng and discussing recurrent 
themes and iden fying solu ons to avoid con nuing issues. We have also redesigned 
our ‘Referral to Manager’ le ers and templates to focus less on process, and more 
on learnings 

Dorset Complaints End of Year 2018/2019 

Execu ve Summary for Audit & Governance Commi ee  

P
age 150



Numbers  

Out of the 646  contacts to the complaints team, only 232 of these were 
considered as formal complaints. The focus on early resolu on of issues seems to be 
working for the council and it is very posi ve that this approach is resul ng in  
Service users’ issues being resolved quickly. Although the overall number of contacts has 
increased by 95, the formal complaints have fallen by 31%.   
 

 

We have seen a decrease in the numbers of formal complaints from 336 to 232 for 
2018/19. This can be due to a variety of reasons, but largely underlining the appe te of 
counsellors, members and the directorates to employ a common sense, outcomes-based 
approach to complaints handling when possible, as informal complaints have risen great-
ly. 
 

We have been working closely with senior managers so we can agree what methods 
they have used to sort out service users’ issues so we can deploy best prac ce across 
the council.  In general terms, there has been an increase of 9% on complaint related 
correspondence.   

Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman Complaints 

Members should be aware that 10 of the formal complaints we have received 
last year have resulted in upheld decisions from the ombudsman. This is from a total of 
46 approaches at a cost of £13,216 to the council.  These financial penal es related to 
SEND delays. 

Learning 

We are pleased to report that the complaints team is collec ng 81 learning points 
from opera onal managers. However this is a reduc on from the 119 collected in 
17/18 despite the increase in numbers of complaints.  It would appear that the infor-
mal approach is at a possible cost to learnings across the directorates and more work 
is required to ensure complaints have meaning to the Council.   

Jus fica ons 

The number of partly and fully jus fied complaints are shown 
by Directorate. However, the numbers of partly jus fied    
complaints far outweigh the number of fully jus fied ones, 
with the main reason for the par al jus fica on being related 
to communica on issues i.e. staff returning calls or being late 
for mee ngs with service users. It is intended that quarterly 
reports will highlight learning and areas for improvement so 
that opera onal managers can target resources, training and 
changes to opera ons to bring about changes to reduce the 
number of jus fied complaints. The Environment Directorate 
however have the lowest number of (partly) jus fied          
complaints at 2% which is posi ve but there is work required 
with service directorates to bring about an improvement on 
the numbers of jus fied complaints. 

End of year summary infographic for 2017/18 

Timescales 

The complaints procedures operated by the Council vary in mescales for 
responses. The Whole Authority procedure is 20 working days, the         
Children’s Services Social Care procedure is 20 working days (with auto-
ma c escala on to an independent inves ga on if not met. This can be 
costly). The Adult Social Care procedure does not specify exact mescales, 
and we are now looking to establish these on a case by case basis            
depending on the gravity and risk of the complaint and the me need to 
inves gate it. For last year, the mescale for these cases was set at 20 
working days, which was not always achievable.  The 14% of complaints 
exceeded the deadline of 20 working days is a tremendous improvement 
from 2017/18 where 45% were overdue.  This improvement is largely due 
to a be er rapport between complaints team and the directorates.  These 
close rela onships and weekly reports ensure more deadlines are met. The 
complaints team has already refined its escala on process to ensure     
complaints are being responded to on me and the evidence from that 
should come be demonstrated in quarterly and next year’s annual report. 
In addi on, the complaints process has been improved so that managers 
are clear on what is required of them. Complaints are allocated for          
inves ga on within 3 working days of receipt and we have clear infor-
ma on to managers on their expecta ons on their role in the process. Sup-
port and advice is available through the complaints team on  

P
age 151



Page 152



Page 153



Annual Complaints Report 2018‐19 
 
 

1 
 

Complaints Annual Report for the period 2018‐19. 

Introduction 

This annual report summarises customer feedback for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. 

This report is for staff, Members, the relevant local authority committee and will be made available to 
regulatory bodies and general public.  It provides information about feedback received, learning and 
service improvements that have been made and details of any that have not been implemented and why.  
It also highlights any matters of general importance arising from complaints or the way in which they were 
handled.   

Since the introduction of a central team in late 2015 we have been developing operations with a customer 
focussed culture, one that works towards the best possible outcomes for our customers. We are 
committed to being a ‘listening and learning organisation’ that takes the positive steps to propose 
solutions to issues through review and development.  If something does go wrong we need to be able to 
put it right quickly, and take action to ensure that it does not happen again.  To this end, Dorset Council’s 
complaints process operates to ensure transparency to the complainant, without losing the option of 
resolving matters swiftly and informally.  We will also be working to gather feedback from complainants on 
their experience of the process and how it was handled. 

Perhaps the most important development in 2018‐19 was galvanising the restructure of the team since 
November 2017, and the further developments to Sharepoint that make reporting clearer and easier.  This 
has enabled the team to produce more robust quarterly reports to inform change. 

We will be working hard with our colleagues across Dorset to ensure a smooth transition and robust 
service continuity for complaints following the establishment of the 2 councils from April 2019. 

          

 Total Complaints –2018‐19  

Total Contacts 646 ‐ Formal Complaints 232 (former DCC)  
We received and managed 646 contacts of which 232 were considered as formal complaints during 2018‐19 as 
opposed to 336 in the previous year. The complaints team receives comments, complaints, representations and 
compliments. These are all currently managed by the central team, except for former DCP that remain with the 
sovereign authority. 

The council operates 3 complaints procedures. The Council’s own – which is a one stage process with a review 
process as necessary and Children’s Services and Adult Services Social Care have their own legal procedures. Full 
details of these procedures are found in Appendix 1 and 3 as full reports which are required to satisfy legislation.   In 
addition, we receive representations from our service users. These still require a response and/or the issues raised 
need to be resolved and we arrange with operational managers to do this. Should this approach be unsuccessful, we 
then consider the matter as a formal complaint.  

 

 

 

Page 154



Annual Complaints Report 2018‐19 
 
 

2 
 

Children’s Service Statutory Reporting Requirements 

Representations made to the local authority and the number of complaints at each stage and any that were 
considered by the Local Government Ombudsman 

Children’s Social Care  2018‐19  2017‐18  2016‐17 

Representations  53  31  24 

Stage 1  69  94  101 

Stage 2  2  4    5 

Stage 3  1  0  1 

LGSCO approaches  6   2  3 

Children’s Whole Authority       

Representations  31  33  50 

Formal Complaint  64  86  19 

Stage 2  0  1  0 

LGSCO  13  3  7 

 

2 cases were accepted at Stage 2 and formally investigated as they could not be resolved by the first line manager.  
One proceeded to Stage 3, and is ongoing, and the other is also ongoing 

One complaint was in relation to alleged insufficient consideration being given to parents with undiagnosed autism 
during care proceedings, and the other is a prolonged case relating alleged lack of support in a shared custody case 

The Local Government Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) investigates complaints from the public about councils and 
other bodies providing public services in England. It also investigates complaints about registered social care 
providers. 19 Children’s Services cases were considered by the LGSCO with 9 cases of maladministration.  This is 
largely associated with SEN provision 

Complaint  Outcome  Costs to DC
Delay in issuing draft EHCP  Fault Found  £1,666.00 
Delay in providing EHCP and placing child  Fault Found  £0.00 
Delay in producing EHCP  Not investigating  £0.00 
Problems obtaining a school place for son  Fault Found  £3,400.00 

Son has an EHCP which specifies 2 hours per week therapy support in 
Part F.   This is not taking place 

Fault Found  £0.00 

Complaint straight to LGSCO re removal of school transport  Draft Decision 
received 

£0.00 

Delay in issuing draft EHCP  Fault Found  £1,200.00 
Delay in issuing draft EHCP  Fault Found  £6,750.00 
Delay in issuing draft EHCP  Not investigating  £0.00 

Page 155



Annual Complaints Report 2018‐19 
 
 

3 
 

Delay in issuing draft EHCP  Fault Found  £200.00 
Delay in issuing draft EHCP  Fault Found  £1,200.00
Complaint about SEN Transport  Investigating  TBC 
Complaint about SEN Team  Investigating  TBC 
Complaint about SEN Team  Investigating  TBC 

 

Which customer groups made the complaints; 

There is work for the Sharepoint and Complaints Teams to do to accurately report on Customer Groups.  Current 
defaults in the recording software has led to some missing data in 2018‐19.  We can however report that ‘other 
family members’ are equally if not more active than the parents for Children’s social care issues.   

The types of complaints made; 

Most complaints fall under sub categories of Service Provision, largely around delays of perceived failures to deliver 
a service 

Themes  Children's Social Care  Children's Non Social Care 

Communication  2%  10% 

Data  1%  2% 

Finance  1%  1% 

Policy ‐ Disagreement with Decision  7%  6% 

Service Provision ‐ Delay   6%  1% 

Service Provision ‐ Professional Practice            2%  27% 

Service Provision ‐ Quality of Service  6%  20% 

Service Provision ‐Attitude of Staff  19%  10% 

Service Provision ‐Failure to provide service  34%  13% 

Service Provision ‐Inadequate Service  22%  10% 

 

The outcome of complaints; 

Of the complaints received for Children’s Social Care in 2018‐19 only 11% were considered Fully Justified by 
operational managers shows there is some level of justification as outlined below: 

Fully Justified            4% 

Partially Justified         14% 

Not justified (or information not provided) 82% 

Details about advocacy services provided under these arrangements 

Page 156



Annual Complaints Report 2018‐19 
 
 

4 
 

This service is commissioned by Dorset Council with Action for Children. The details of the service are published on 
their website https://services.actionforchildren.org.uk/dorset‐services/for‐young‐people/advocacy‐for‐children‐and‐
young‐people/  :‐  

Advocacy is a service which helps children to access their rights and express their point of view with the support of a 
professional advocate.  An advocate will work with children on a one‐to‐one basis to make sure their views are heard 
and considered when decisions are being made about their lives. 

An advocate can help if: 

something needs to be started, changed or stopped, for example, if the child is unhappy about their treatment by 
children’s social care or there are worries about plans being made, such as a move 

a child needs support during meetings to make sure their voice is heard 

children need advice and want to know their rights 

a child needs support to make a complaint 

Children/Young People are able to raise a complaint against the Local Authority and are supported to do so if they 
wish 

Children are fully aware of the advocacy services available to them and can easily access the services should they 
wish to 

For period December 2018 to March 2019 – referrals to advocacy 

Child/Young Person Status  No. of Referrals 
Looked After Children  0 ‐ 12  133 
Looked After Children  13 ‐ 25  98 
Child Protection  31 
Children in Need  7 
Special Educational Needs   6 
Total  275 

 

During March & April the LA have worked with 19 Children/Young People (CYP) as a result of early notification of 
CHILD PROTECTION processes where Social Workers successfully responded to our offer of service 

During March & April have worked with 12 CYP's as a result of early notification of NEW LAC where SW successfully 
responding to our offer of service. 

Therefore in a 2 month period 31 CYP's have received advocacy in addition to those accessing services through 
traditional referral routes. 

The results of the satisfaction survey were shared with Dorset Council in April 2019. Participation People have been 
working with the Care Leavers Forum to produce “Report Cards” for the key services based on the data.  

The user satisfaction survey is an ongoing piece of work.  It should inspire change, influence decision making and 
transformation across services. The Care Leavers Forum plan to run this survey every year with children in care.  

The first draft service report card was shared with the Independent Reviewing Officer Service in May and similar 
report cards have been shared with Fostering, the Looked After Social Work, Advocacy, Virtual Schools and 
Complaints Teams.  

Page 157



Annual Complaints Report 2018‐19 
 
 

5 
 

The table below demonstrates a breakdown of Children in Care complaints.  All complaints by young people are 
coming to the Complaints team via an advocacy service.  There is some suggestion in these figures that the 
accessibility of the complaints process is improving  

Children in Care 2018‐19  20 

Children in Care 2016‐17  17 

Children in Care 2017‐18  12 

Complaints from Children in Care 2018‐19 are outlined below: In each case, every effort was made to 
resolve matters informally with meetings, telephone calls or (if required) full Stage 1 investigations.  No 
Child in Care case escalated to Stage 2.  They are listed below by Quarter 

Identifier  Gender/Age  Relationship  Nature of Complaint  Current Status  Justification 

M re GM  M 14  Parent  Service Provision  Stage 1  Partly Justified 

McC  M 13  Service User  Service Provision  Stage 1  Partly Justified 

O'D   M 10  Parent  Service Provision  Representation   Not Confirmed 

L re L  F 12  Parent  Service Provision  Stage 1  Not  Confirmed 

H  M ?  Service User  Service Provision  Representation   Resolved Informa

P  F 13  Service User  Service Provision  Stage 1  Withdrawn 

B  F 17  Service User  Service Provision  Stage 1  Partly Justified 

K re T  F 17  Service User  Service Provision  Stage 1  Partly Justified 

B re K  M 11  Service User  Service Provision  Stage 1  Full Justified 

MW  F 12  Service User  Service Provision  Stage 1  Full Justified 

H  F 14  Service User  Service Provision  Representation   Resolved Informa

G  M 17  Service User  Service Provision  Representation   Resolved Informa

H  M 6  Service User  Service Provision  Stage 1  Not Justified 

W  F 1  Service User  Service Provision  Stage 1  Not Justified 

W  M 15  Service User  Service Provision  Stage 1  Partly Justified 

B  M 16  Service User  Service Provision  Stage 1  Not Justified 

C  M 15  Parent  Communication  Representation   Not Confirmed 

E re C  M 17  Service User  Communication  Representation   Not  Confirmed 

B  M 18  Service User  Service Provision  Representation   Not Confirmed 

P re GP  M 11  Service User  Policy/ Procedure  Representation )  Partly Justified 
 

 

Page 158



Annual Complaints Report 2018‐19 
 
 

6 
 

Closer analysis of the timescales revealed that of the 20 cases 9 have exceeded the Statutory 20 day window for 
investigation and response.   Although a concern, these delays were largely due to efforts to resolve the complaints 
informally 

The table above shows an increase in service provision complaints.  This is usually a delay in providing a service, or 
the perceived quality. 

 

 

Compliance with timescales, and complaints resolved within extended timescale as agreed; 

The table below show the majority of all Stage 1 cases for Children’s Services Social Care were over the 20‐day 
statutory timescale.   

Timescales  2018‐19  2017‐18  2016‐17 

0‐20 Working Days  74%  48%  46% 

20+ days  26%  52%  54% 

The complaints team have worked hard to ensure timescales improved and had put escalation protocols in place for 
2018‐19.  With the engagement of senior staff, earlier in the process we were confident this would improve.  This is 
encouraging 

learning and service improvement, including changes to services that have been implemented and details of any 
that have not been implemented; 

Learning points are collected at all stages of the complaints procedure. At stage 1, Operational Managers identify 
learning from complaints and learning actions. At Stages 2 and 3, action plans are compiled based on the 
recommendations of the investigator’s or panel chair’s report. In addition, the LGSCO will include recommendations 
to remedy complaints, and actions are monitored by the complaints team to ensure that they are completed. 

How we disseminate learning 

Quarterly reports to Children’s Services Leadership Team produced by the Complaints team 

Dissemination of the quarterly report to Operational Managers to be discussed at Service Team Meetings 
How we learn from complaints 

Improvement in Stage 1 responses ‐ Additional Training to be provided to Team Managers on how to complete and 
present and stage one investigations. The Complaints Team Manager will be attending meetings to advise and 
update 

Improvement in communication, sharing of Assessments and CIN Plans ‐ Practice issue raised. Notes from Meetings 
to be completed in a timely manner and a copy sent to the attendees, including the family. Operational Managers to 
ensure that Team Managers and Social Workers are clear about the need to record meetings. Robust quality 
assurance processes put in place. 

Improved use of complaints as a measure of performance and quality control:  

Evidence of sharing of quarterly reports and using to track individual team performance.  The Senior   Assurance 
Officer will be leading on this 

Examples of learning from Complaints: 

Page 159



Annual Complaints Report 2018‐19 
 
 

7 
 

Standard and correctness of mail to be checked ‐Outgoing Mail to be checked by Decision maker Team 
Managers 

Team Manager to consider any further training to support Social Worked in developing assessment writing 
skills 

Team to be reminded of need to ensure assessments are shared with parents and their view as on the 
assessment are recorded at the end of the assessment document 

There needs to be closed liaison between the different teams involved with the family. There has been 
improved liaison between the two social work teams involved with the family, and this is ongoing. The 
roles of each team are now quite clear. 

Awareness of the council's expectations or professional conduct ‐ TM to discuss with team about policy on 
professional conduct in next POD meeting 

That SWs should proof read documents for quality purposes before sending them out. But I think we 
already knew this 

 
The lesson to learn is for the need for improved communication 

Assessments should not be sent out to families unless complete and signed off by the appropriate 
manager  

STAR outcomes to be sent to parents by letter when cases transfer ‐MA to discuss and put in place with 
the STAR Team Manager within two weeks (MA) 

Staff Training SW to be able to identify behaviour of young person more appropriately Discussion in 
supervision n. 

Only M’s version of events in the report. Although the voice of the child is very significant the versions of 
events from other involved parties need to be recorded.   

Staff to be made aware that DLA and filling in applications is not a primary job role and that they are to 
complete the one corporate parenting page, sign and send tracked posted within 5 working days of 
receiving a completed form from the carer. All action taken in completing this is to be clearly recorded 
with a copy of the posted document attached as a document for future reference. 

To ensure that the needs of the child are at the forefront of planning meetings 
To do our best to ensure childcare arrangements are made or to postpone the meeting until a more 
appropriate time 

Amendment to Working Practices 
Work harder to ensure that we have involved all relevant parties, with particular care to be taken to 
ensure that we have involved the non‐resident parent. 
      
Staff Training 
More explicitly explore issues of consent for information sharing, particularly when working with young 
people over the age of 13. 
    
Reminder to staff of Policy / Procedure / Working Practices 
Ensure that we have adequately reflected all of the views expressed by the family within the case record.  

Page 160



Annual Complaints Report 2018‐19 
 
 

8 
 

 

Case Study 

Complaint 1 H 

Mr and Mrs H had agreed to offer a room and provide support to a young person. They said that they had been 
advised that a Social Worker would accompany the child to their home,  but this did not happen. Mr and Mrs H then 
overheard a conversation between a Social Worker and the young person, which led them to believe that they had 
not been given full information about the young person and the potential risks they might pose prior to agreeing to 
offer a room. This left the couple feeling that they had been treated badly by Children’s Social Care. They also were 
then unable to feel comfortable about leaving the young person in their home when they went out and so had their 
lives restricted and felt vulnerable within their home in a way which they felt was inappropriate and they would not 
have agreed to if they had been properly informed. 

Resolution 

Julie Taylor, Senior Assurance Officer and Jonathan Wade, Service Manager, visited Mr and Mrs H in their home. 

They offered and apology, explanation and a payment of £60.00 as a goodwill gesture. 

The complaint was resolved informally.  Mr and Mrs H were happy with the outcome and impressed that Dorset 
Council managers had visited them, in their own home, to resolve the complaint 6 

Complaint 2 L 

Complainant reported problems with the service received by their son from the CWAD Team, which they felt were 
not being resolved. After a failed attempt to resolve the matter informally, the complaints team manager and senior 
manager from Children’s Social Care agreed a meeting would prove more productive than a complaint escalation. 

The meeting proved very positive after a difficult start, and it was clear that the complainant wanted to feel listened 
to. Learning points and actions will be disseminated to operational managers and suggested improvements to 
practice implemented across the service as a result. 

A summary of statistical data about the age, gender, disability, sexual orientation and ethnicity of complainants 

All complainants to Dorset Council are sent an equality and diversity monitoring form as part of the complaint 
process. Complainants are asked to complete this form but it is completely voluntary.  If complainants contact us via 
the online form, we currently collect any information offered.  We will need to introduce manual collection for 
postal complaints in future 

                        % 

Female  35  British  70 

Male  25  Mixed Ethnic Background  4 

Prefer not to say  40  Prefer not to say  26 

25‐34  10  None/no religion  28 

35‐54  28  Buddhist  0 

55‐64  25  Christian (including Church of England, Catholic, 
Protestant and other Christian denominations) 

28 

Page 161



Annual Complaints Report 2018‐19 
 
 

9 
 

65 and older  37  Learning disability  4 

Hearing 
impairment 

0  Mental health illness  4 

Prefer not to say  92 

 

 

A review of the effectiveness of the complaints procedure (see section 5.7 on Monitoring and Quality Assurance). 

The  Complaints  Team  send  out  forms  to  gather  feedback  from  complainants  about  their  experience  of 
complaining in order to continually improve the service.  Regrettably there has been very little uptake on this 
and there is no reportable data of any value established.  
 

 Monitoring the effectiveness of the Complaints Procedure 

We need to improve on current arrangements for collecting this information and the Complaints Team are aware that 
customer feedback on the complaints process is important 

           

Page 162



Date of Meeting: 14 November 2019

Lead Member:  Cllr Andrew Parry - Lead Member for Children, Education and Early 
Help

Lead Officer: Sarah Parker - Executive Director for People - Children

Executive Summary:

The committee are asked to consider the Annual Fostering Service report which sets out 
the activity and performance of the service including matters relating to the recruitment and 
retention of Foster Carers, Foster Carer training and the training and development of the 
teams. The report also contains a summary of the activity during Foster Care Fortnight, a 
national event celebrating foster care and raising awareness. 

Equalities Impact Assessment:

Not applicable as the report is for information.

Budget: 

Not applicable as the report is for information.

Risk Assessment: 

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been 
identified as:
Current Risk: HIGH/MEDIUM/LOW (Delete as appropriate)
Residual Risk HIGH/MEDIUM/LOW (Delete as appropriate)

Other Implications:

Report is for information

Recommendation:

The committee are asked to consider the content of the report and Foster Care Fortnight 
addendum.

Reason for Recommendation:

It is a regulatory requirement that an annual report for a local authority fostering services is 
presented to elected members. Fostering Standards and Regulations 2011 (England)

 Corporate Parenting Board

 Annual Fostering Service Report

Page 163

Agenda Item 11



Page 2 

Appendices:

Foster Care Fortnight Addendum Report to the Main Report

Background Papers:

Fostering Standards and Regulations 2011 (England)

Officer Contact 
Name: Tim Wells
Tel: 01305225738
Email: Tim.wells@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Page 164



Page 3 

3

Fostering Service Annual Report April 2018-March 2019

1. Introduction

1.1 It has been another busy year for the Fostering Team, embedding the modernising 
fostering changes and continuing to improve our processes and procedures.  The 
highlights include: development of an improved spreadsheet to capture our 
performance management data and enable us to complete the annual Ofsted dataset 
more quickly and easily; the team move from Monkton Park to County Hall; working 
with the MOSAIC team to ensure that we have the forms and workflows needed to 
enable the work of fostering; the introduction of aids to practice (crib) cards to our 
Fostering Social Workers; the introduction to our foster carers of the new skills based 
fees scheme and all-inclusive age-related allowances; improvement in our training 
and development offer to foster carers; revision of the annual review process; 
paperless panels;  working with our recruitment company Whitehead Ross (WREC) 
on the marketing plan and delivering assessment-ready people to our Pre-Approval 
Team.

2. Fostering Service Infrastructure and Processes

2.1 Working with our Data Analysis Team, we built an extensive spreadsheet to capture 
the information needed for performance management and the dataset upload to 
Ofsted.  We are planning to achieve the upload for 2018-2019 in record time as a 
result.  

2.2 The Safeguarding and Standards (SaS) Team took on the role of undertaking the 
annual reviews on our foster carers to ensure independent scrutiny and quality 
assurance.  Two interim Fostering IROs were appointed – one covering East and one 
covering West.  We are continually improving the process of reviews, including on 
MOSAIC.  We have introduced a three-yearly cycle of reviews being presented at the 
Fostering and Permanence Panel, to tie with foster carers renewing their DBS and 
medical checks.  In the intervening years, the annual review is conducted by the 
Fostering Service and SaS, then signed off by the Agency Decision Maker as an 
internal process rather than being presented at panel, unless the review is for a 
change in approval or following a managing allegations process. 

2.3 In July 2018 the Fostering Service moved from Monkton Park into County Hall.  One 
of the positives is being co-located with the Placements Team to enable easier 
updates on our foster carers’ availability, and aid matching of children to placements. 
Being closer to other Children’s Services Teams, including the LAC Teams, enables 
improved working together.  

2.4 In April 2018, Whitehead-Ross Education and Consulting (WREC) began their 
contract with Dorset Council, to recruit new foster carers.  They have been working 
closely with DC’s Communications Team and the Fostering Service throughout the 
year to deliver publicity and marketing activities and undertake initial enquiries.  In 
the Autumn, their remit was extended to complete the initial assessment visits and 
provide our Pre-Approval Team with people who are ready to undertake the full 
assessment to become mainstream foster carers.    WREC, together with the 
fostering service, have been contracted to deliver 70 new foster carers over a two-
year period, from April 2018.  Monthly review meetings are in place to monitor 
delivery to the contract.

Page 165



Page 4 

4

2.5 The Fostering Panel became paperless during 2018.  Savings to staff time and 
postage costs will be is estimated to be in the region of £37,000.  Further work on 
modernising the Fostering and Permanence Panel is planned to be undertaken 
during the 2019-2020 year.

3. Learning and Development for Fostering Social Workers and Managers
3.1 All of our Team Managers and most of our social workers, completed the 

Reinvigorating Social Work (RSW) programme over the last year. This programme 
was aimed at empowering social workers and team managers to improve outcomes 
for children first time around. The programme consisted of some externally delivered 
training, action learning sessions and workshops delivered by Dorset Council staff.  
At the end of the course, social workers submitted portfolios containing reflective 
learning logs and examples of application of learning in current casework.  The RSW 
programme has afforded the team opportunities to develop their social work practice 
and embrace current models of relationship building and strengths-based delivery. 

3.2 The Fostering Service has quarterly team training and development away half days 
for staff on a variety of topics associated with fostering.  As well as attending the 
range of learning and development courses provided internally, members of the 
Fostering Service have gained qualifications at Bournemouth University in Risk 
Assessment and Decision-Making Practice and to become Practice Educators to 
support social work student placements in the Fostering Service.  Staff have also 
attended external conferences and are linked toto the South West Fostering 
Managers Forum (lead by Fostering Network), the South West Recruitment Forum 
and the South West Learning and Development Forum for Fostering. The knowledge 
gained at these events is disseminated across the fostering service.

4. Learning and Development Programme for Foster Carers

4.1 We worked closely with L&OD to produce a training brochure for foster carers for 
April 2018-March 2019 (and one for April 2019-March 2020), with a wide variety of 
training programmes, some of which were specially commissioned, to suit all carers 
from those who are newly approved, to those who are more experienced.  Our 
training courses are offered to all foster carers, mainstream and connected persons.

4.2 Our preparatory course for prospective foster carers was revised during the year and 
is now known as Journey to Foster and includes a session delivered by Participation 
People.

5. Recruitment and Retention Strategy

5.1 The recruitment side of the strategy is being delivered by an externally commissioned 
organisation, Whitehead Ross Education Consultancy (WREC). WREC liaises with 
the Communications and Fostering Services to implement the marketing plan which 
is continually updated.  New banners, a stand, posters and fliers were printed 
featuring a range of images of children and adults.  Activities over the last year 
included radio campaigns with Heart FM and Wessex FM.  WREC maintained social 
media accounts and promoted fostering via talks to various community and 
professional groups, alongside general campaigns in public venues such as coffee 
shops, supermarkets, libraries etc.  When the film ‘Instant Family’ was released, 
WREC took their stand to Weymouth Cineworld to engage the cinema goers and 
promote fostering.  They also ran webinars (both live and recorded).  Campaigns are 
tied into national and local events, times of year and themes e.g. Foster Care 
Fortnight, the seasons, ‘empty nesters’ in September, Christmas, famous people who 
were fostered etc.  The themes are constantly refreshed so they feel new and not 

Page 166



Page 5 

5

‘the same old message’.  WREC also launched a ‘Fostering 500’ campaign – the 
idea being to recognise 500 companies and individuals who support and promote 
fostering.  They are photographed being given a certificate and this is put on social 
media – both our social media and theirs - giving us an increased reach. 

 
5.2 A Facebook page, local radio interviews and editorials in local newspapers (free), 

telling a personal story alongside video clips of foster carers, their children and 
looked after children works well in promoting fostering.  Live face chats and having 
the recorded webinar which people can view at any time has also been successful.  
What has not worked so well is paid for advertising in newspapers, magazines, and 
on the radio.  It is a lot of money for little return.

5.3 Several measures were employed during last year to aid retention of our existing 
foster carers.  The new fees and allowances scheme was introduced on 1st April 
2018.  This saw a move away from fees being based on the needs of the child to 
being based on the evidenced skills and experience of the foster carers.  Fees are 
set at four levels, with clear criteria at each level, to enable a career progression for 
foster carers who wish to pursue this.  Foster carers need to evidence at their annual 
review that they continue to meet the skills level they are paid at or that they meet a 
higher skills level.  Our new training and development offer to foster supports the 
fees and allowances scheme.  Stability meetings have been instituted and have 
taken place regularly throughout the year to support continuation of placements or to 
enable a planned move for a looked after child where this is needed.  

5.4 The format of support groups was changed to provide evening and day time support 
groups which, although geographically located across Dorset, are open to all foster 
carers across the county, rather than just those in that local area. The Awards 
Ceremony held at Bryanston on 6th October 2018 recognised foster carers with long 
service and those who had gone ‘above and beyond’ their role.  We also gave 
awards to foster carers sons and daughters who had been particularly supportive of 
the foster children in their home and foster carers’ children receive an annual £10.00 
token during Sons and Daughters month every October.  Feedback from the foster 
carers at our Foster Carer Forum on 13th March was very positive about the new 
fees and allowances scheme and the developments in the Fostering Service 
generally.  Carers stated that they felt valued, clear about the expectations of them 
and part of a more professional service.   

5.5 Our annual Fostering Fair and Picnic planned for 29th July 2018 unfortunately had to 
be cancelled due to bad weather.  This event is planned this year for 28th July 2019 
and will include a climbing wall, swimming pool, rounders, bouncy castle, bungee 
run, arts and crafts, face painting, story-telling and, for the first time, a children’s 
bake-off competition!   

6. Staffing 

6.1 We were fully staffed, and our staff group remained stable throughout last year with 
one person retiring.  Sadly, our panel adviser, Ann Craft, died in service in August 
2018 following a short illness.  Teresa Millard, one of our Fostering Social Workers, 
was recruited to the panel adviser post and started in October 2018.  We 
successfully recruited to Teresa’s vacant post within the Fostering Service. 

 

Page 167



Page 6 

6

7. Data April 2018 - March 2019

Number of Enquiries -243
Number of Initial Assessment Visits -140
Number of Application Packs Issued - 72
Number of Closures following Application Pack being issued – 48*
Number of Mainstream Foster Carers Approved - 21
Number of De-registered Mainstream Carers - 17**
Total Number of Mainstream Carers as at 31st March 2018 - 144
Number of Connected Persons Assessments Commenced  - 49
Number of Connected Persons Assessments Closed - 24
Number of Connected Persons Approved - 19
Number of Approved Connected Persons Closed after Approval - 2
Total Number of Connected Persons Carers as at 31st March 2018 - 53

* Reasons for closures following application packs being issued:

12 No longer wish to pursue fostering
8 No response from applicant despite several attempts to contact
7 Applicant stated that it was not the right time for them
4 Having/trying for a baby
3 Personal reasons
3 Health reasons
3 Closed at Stage 1 due to concerns in references/DBS/application
2 Chose to foster for another service (I chose Bournemouth as they live closer 

and 1 chose an IFA)
2 Currently foster for another service and decided not to transfer
1 Not enough availability to foster
1 No spare bedroom
1 Moved out of area
1 Decided to pursue adoption instead

** Reasons for de-registrations:

8 Retired from fostering (one carer continuing to offer Staying Put 
arrangements)

3 De-registered following management of allegations process
2 Foster to adopt foster carers and subsequently adopted the child(ren)
1 Resigned as she moved out of the area
1 Resigned due to being awarded an SGO for the child
1 Resigned due to family commitments and state they will reconsider when 

situation settled 
1 De-registered due to long period of not taking placements or engaging with 

their social worker
j

Data for April 2019 to 08.10.2019

Approvals

• 11 sets of MAINSTREAM Carers approved 

Page 168



Page 7 

7

• 9 sets of CONNECTED PERSONS Carers approved 

De-registrations

• 11 sets of MAINSTREAM Carers have deregistered for a number of reasons 
– 

1. 2 have gone over to Staying Put 
2. 2 have deregistered because of an allegation 
3. 1 has deregistered as they have adopted another child so have no spare 

rooms (Cornwall/Hedges)
4. The remaining 6 have deregistered for either personal reasons or retirement 

• 10 sets of CONNECTED PERSONS Carers have deregistered because – 
1. 3 have transferred to BCP 
2. In 4 cases, the child has left their carer 
3. In 1 case, the child has turned 18, now Staying Put Carer 
4. In 1 case, an SGO was awarded 
5. In the final case, there was an allegation 

 It’s difficult to predict how many we’ll have by March, but we currently have 19 
Temporary approved Carers and 14 Mainstream Carers being assessed at 
the moment. 

8. Summary

8.1 The year has seen us continue in our journey to modernise the Fostering Service.  
This has been achieved in a climate of changes in Children’s Services, most notably 
within our senior management and leadership arrangements.  We are working 
proactively to reach our target of increasing the number and range of in-house 
placements to offer to our Dorset looked after children, alongside continuing 
measures to aid retention of foster carers. The coming year offers the opportunity to 
consolidate the contractual arrangements and fully evaluate the effectiveness.  We 
are looking to form a focus group of foster carers to work with us on developments to 
the Fostering Service and will continue with our close links to Participation People to 
obtain the views of our looked after children and young people. 

8.2 Currently the demand for foster carers outstrips supply. Successful recruitment and 
retention within Dorset is being developed in conjunction with Whitehead Ross, who 
have been commissioned to recruit a diverse range of foster carers, utilising images, 
which are reflective of our current society, incorporating age and social trends to 
enable us to deliver an effective fostering service. 

We have concern within the fostering service, that our Fostering population is largely 
made up of people over the age of 50, is losing experienced carers through 
retirement, this being not just a local issue, but nationally.

The lack of high-quality carers also means that as a service we are struggling to 

Page 169



Page 8 

8

support children and young people with complex needs, as well as older children and 
those with behavioural issues.   

Foster Carers are volunteers who receive an allowance to cover their costs. This is 
augmented by a fee, based on training and level of experience. Foster Carers are 
paid, to reflect the skills and experience utilised to care for children and young people 
with complex needs. It is difficult for a foster carer to hold down another job, given the 
unpredictable nature of a placement, but income from fostering after expenses is 
modest, and uncertain. Placements can end suddenly, and it may be several weeks 
before another begins, during which no allowance is paid. 

Record numbers of children are being taken into care but changes to the way we live, 
and work mean the fostering workforce is shrinking 

A typical foster carer is in their mid-50s, and there is a distinct lack of younger 
families coming forward to take their place. 

Why is this? I have no doubt that they are at least as generous and caring as 
previous generations. But demographics are conspiring against foster care, bringing 
change to the way we live and work. 

Families are having children later, and those children remain in the family home for 
longer, dependent on their parents well into their 20s. Their parents are increasingly 
responsible for the care of their own mums and dads in old age. The period of years 
that might have been devoted to the care of foster children is getting squeezed. 

Many women who would have fostered in the past now have careers. There are far 
fewer stay-at-home mothers than there used to be. Nowadays those women (and 
indeed most women at every level of the social scale) are juggling careers alongside 
their birth children, needing dual incomes.

Fostering for many women is now a far bigger commitment than having birth children, 
because women largely expect to return to work after having a child. With fostering, 
that's would prove extremely difficult. There are so many meetings, many children 
not in full time education. Most families simply cannot afford this.

Employment trends are unhelpful. The shift to self-employment and zero hour 
contracts creates financial instability at home, which is not conducive to foster care. 
Paradoxically, the “national living wage” is reframing the conversation about paid 
employment. It is a test of a carer’s 24/7 commitment to vulnerable children when 
you know that there probably is a part-time job just around the corner that will make a 
meaningful contribution towards the household bills. Just as nurses and care 
assistants are rethinking their career options, so too are foster carers. 

The cost of housing is another significant factor. Having a spare bedroom has 
become an unaffordable luxury for many. Those lucky enough to have one may need 
to rent it out to help pay the mortgage or rent. Few families can afford not to 
downsize once grown-up children eventually fly the nest. 

Page 170



Page 9 

9

Renting a home, as more families now do, is no reason not to foster. But it is more 
difficult without long-term security of tenure. Landlords can be picky with tenants, and 
unconventional families with an assortment of children don’t tick the right boxes. In 
any case, families obliged to move every couple of years are less likely to set down 
roots in the local community, which are important for fostering. 

Our homes are getting smaller. Typically, new builds are some 10 sq m smaller than 
those built at the turn of the century. Larger, older houses are being repurposed as 
flats. Given the housing shortage, all this makes good sense. But it doesn’t help 
foster care. 

Generally, the changes to the political economic landscape is having a major impact 
upon us to recruited and retain carers.

Rebecca Holmes
Operational Manager - Permanency

Please see attached Addendum report regarding Foster Care Fortnight 2019

Page 171



Page 10 

10

Addendum to Annual Report re Foster Care Fortnight 2019

Foster Care Fortnight is The Fostering Network's annual campaign to raise the profile of 
fostering and to show how foster care transforms lives. It is the UK's biggest foster carer 
recruitment campaign. Foster Care Fortnight 2019 is taking place from 13th to 26th May.  
Please see Dorset’s attached plan of activities for this year.  The WREC Team have been 
joined in their activities by foster carers and members of the Fostering Team.  On Tuesday 
14th May the Fostering Service, alongside the Placements Team, held a day long pedal-a-
thon and a cake and craft sale.  We raised £250.00 for the Dorset Care Leavers charity.  So 
far Foster Care Fortnight has generated 8 enquiries from people interested in learning more 
about fostering.  Foster Care Fortnight is just one in a number of campaigns as part of our 
building relationships with members of the community to raise the profile of fostering and 
generate wider public interest.  We would anticipate therefore that the impact on numbers of 
enquiries will more likely be seen following Foster Care Fortnight rather than during it.

Page 172



Foster Care Fortnight 2019
13th – 26th May 2019

Day Fostering Network Focus Local Location Event Activity Who

Monday 13th May A welcome to FCF from Fostering 
Network Chief Executive – highlighting 
why have a FCF campaign and what do 
we hope to achieve

 

Blandford
Job Fair at the Corn Exchange 

Sherborne 
Oliver’s Café – drop in session 
for enquirers and existing FCs

Dorchester
Keep 106 – Radio Interview 

Share on social Media

Local welcome to FCF – 
overview of plans for week – 
Facebook live 

Check in on Facebook

Information stand

Check in on Facebook

Foster Friendly and placard 
photos

Share on Facebook

Jo/ Fiona

Jo

Jo & Laura

Catherine & Sarah

Jo

Jo

Tuesday 14th May What is Fostering? – Basic information 
about the different types of fostering as 

Share Fostering Network info Jo/ Fiona

P
age 173



Page 12 

12

well as the differences between fostering 
and adoption

County Hall
Pedal-a-thon

Cake and Craft Sale

Weymouth 
Coffee #1 - drop in session for 
enquirers and existing FCs

Facebook live – Q&A session 

Photos and support on 
Facebook

Check in on Facebook

Foster Friendly and placard 
photos

Jo

Fostering and Placement Team

Fostering Team

Jo

Jo

Wednesday 15th 
May

Local Focus Interview with Sarah Parker – 
Director of Children’s Services 
& Foster Carer 

Dorset Council Preparation for 
Retirement 

Share on Facebook

Fostering Presentation

Live webinar Info Sessions
 2pm
 7pm

Fiona/Jo

Jo

Jo

Thursday 16th May The Process of applying and approval – 
timescales from first enquiry, types of 
questions prospective Foster Carers can 
expect, and the nature of support and 
assessment throughout the process

Share Fostering Network info

Share recording from live 
webinar

Foster in Dorset Facebook Live 
– 1. Making an enquiry

Check in on Facebook

Jo/ Fiona

Jo

Jo & Catherine

P
age 174



Page 13 

13

Verwood
The Hollow - drop in session 
for enquirers and existing FCs

Foster Friendly and placard 
photos

Jo

Jo
Friday 17th May Local Focus Interview with Bridport based 

Foster Carer

Bridport
Chocolate Café - drop in 
session for enquirers and 
existing FCs

Share on Facebook

Check in on Facebook

Foster Friendly and placard 
photos

Jo/ Fiona

Catherine

Catherine

Saturday 18th/ 
Sunday 19th May

Why foster – over the weekend we will 
be putting out success stories or positive 
quotes on social media from Foster 
Carers and young people

Share Fostering Network info Jo

P
age 175



Page 14 

14

Week 2

Monday 20th May Local focus Interview with North Dorset 
based carer 

Shaftesbury
High Street Bakery and Café - 
drop in session for enquirers 
and existing FCs

Share on Facebook

Live webinar Info Session
 8pm

Check in on Facebook

Foster Friendly and placard 
photos

Jo/ Fiona

Jo

Catherine

Catherine

Tuesday 21st May Who needs fostering? We will highlight 
the need for more carers for children with 
SEN, sibling groups and teenagers across 
the UK.  It’s a great opportunity for 
services to discuss their specific 
requirements.

Wimborne
Cloisters - drop in session for 
enquirers and existing FCs

Share Fostering Network info

Share Dorset specialist 
interviews/ videos

Foster in Dorset Facebook Live 
– 2 Initial Call and Home Visit

Check in on Facebook

Foster Friendly and placard 
photos

Jo/ Fiona

Fiona

Jo & Catherine

Jo

Wednesday 22nd 
May

Local Focus Latest Blog from Swanage FC 
Amanda

Swanage
Love Cake - drop in session for 
enquirers and existing FCs

Share on Facebook

Check in on Facebook

Jo/ Fiona

Jo

P
age 176



Page 15 

15

Foster Friendly and placard 
photos

Jo

Thursday 23rd May What to expect once approved – we 
will talk abut the practicalities of having 
your first placement

Bovington
The Hive - drop in session for 
enquirers and existing FCs

Share Fostering Network info

Interview with newly approved 
carer

Check in on Facebook

Foster Friendly and placard 
photos

Jo/ Fiona

Jo

Jo

Jo
Friday 24th May Thank you to Foster Carers – although 

the campaign has a strong recruitment 
element it is obviously vital that the 
existing workforce of Foster Carers feels 
valued, so we’ll be sharing pictures of 
thank you events and writing a thank you 
message.

Share Fostering Network info

Foster in Dorset Facebook Live 
– 3. Application & Beyond

Dorset ‘Thank you’ from CE 
and Director?

Jo/ Fiona

Jo & Catherine

Fiona
Saturday 25th/ 
Sunday 26th 

Can I foster if – we will be sharing our 
Can I foster if short films on social media

Share Fostering Network info Jo/ Fiona

P
age 177



Page 16 

16

PLUS – HALF TERM WEEK – after Foster Care Fortnight ………….

P
age 178



Date of Meeting: 14th November 2019

Lead Member: Cllr Andrew Parry Lead Member for Children, Education and Early               
                                                                                                                          Help

Lead Officer:    Sarah Parker – Executive Director for People - Children

Executive Summary:
This report updates members of the CPB on looked after children placed in 
unregistered and unregulated arrangements. Members are asked to consider the 
content of the report and the impact of the use of an unregistered placement for a 
child or young person and the measures in place to ensure the child’s safety and 
wellbeing whilst in such a placement.  Members are asked to note and consider the 
intention to progress actions to ensure registration of the current arrangements.  

Equalities Impact Assessment:
There are no equalities implications arising from this report

Budget: 

N/A

Risk Assessment: 

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been 
identified as:
Current Risk: MEDIUM
Residual Risk MEDIUM

Climate implications:

N/A

Other Implications:

N/A

Recommendation:
This report is for information

Corporate Parenting Board
Unregistered Placements Update Report

Page 179

Agenda Item 12



Page 2 

Reason for Recommendation:
This report is for information. 

Appendices:
Appendix A – Flowchart – application process for full application. 

Background Papers:
None

Officer Contact:
Name:Tim Wells 
Tel: 01305 225738
Email: tim.wells@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Page 180



Page 3 

1.0Introduction

1.1 We continue to have a small number of children who require unregistered
Placements whilst a more appropriate resource is identified for their care. A weekly 
report is maintained on any such placements including monitoring of professional’s visits 
and statutory reviews. 

1.2 An unregistered placement is a placement which is legally required to be registered 
under the Children’s Home Regulations (2015).

1.3 An unregulated placement is one which is not required to be registered with a regulatory 
body; e.g. a home offering accommodation but not care for those over sixteen, a 
language school or activity holiday base. The arrangements referenced in this report do 
not fall into the category of unregulated placements. 

1.4 Ofsted have very recently published a helpful blog article regarding the differences 
between Unregulated and Unregistered settings.
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2019/07/08/unregistered-and-unregulated-
provision-whats-the-difference/

2.0Progress since last meeting 

2.1Since the last meeting two children have been moved to registered placements 
and two additional children have required unregistered placements. As reported 
to the last meeting we have identified 

2.2Three foster placements to be retained for emergency placements however each 
currently has a child in placement and will take some time for them to be freed up 
to take on this new responsibility.  

3.0 Current position

3.1 At the time of writing we have 4 children in unregistered placements. 29/10/2019)

3.2Child A is placed in a long-standing arrangement which is very much liked by the 
child and who has stated their preference for remaining where they are. They 
have experienced a sustained settled period that previous arrangements could 
not achieve. We are currently working with the provider to take over responsibility 
for this placement and commence the registration process. 

Child Age Period in 
placement 
as at 
07/10/2019

Accommodation Date of last 
SW visit 

Date of last 
statutory 
review

Case 
review

A  15 455 days Agency property 23/10/2019 16/10/2019 29/10/2019
B 17 59 days DC Property 29/10/2019 02/10/2019 10/10/2019
C 15 104 days DC Property 29/10/2019  26/09/2019 09/10/2019
D 14 27 days Holiday Lodge 28/10/2019 17/10/2019 Tbc early 

Nov

Page 181

https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2019/07/08/unregistered-and-unregulated-provision-whats-the-difference/
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2019/07/08/unregistered-and-unregulated-provision-whats-the-difference/


Page 4 

3.3Child B has very specific care needs, and we will be maintaining his current 
placement pending agreed Adult Services provision being made available in 
January 2020. It is intended that the registration of this premises be completed as 
soon as possible. This being to secure and sustain the placement for the young 
person currently accommodated and for the future use as a children’s home 
beyond the existing arrangements.

3.4We are currently in discussion with a private residential provider for Child C. This 
if successful will provide a registered care and education setting. Outcome of 
these discussions likely to be known by mid-November. It is intended that 
registration of this premises be completed to secure the future use of the 
bungalow as a children’s home beyond the existing arrangements.

3.5Child D has become looked after recently and placement searches commenced 
immediately. There been two potential offers of a registered care and education 
setting for this child. One provider has subsequently withdrawn during their 
assessment due to matching issues. The second provider who has came forward 
more recently is due to visit Child D and begin an assessment on the 1st of 
November. At the time or writing children’s services have approached two further 
providers and are awaiting their response. This is a temporary arrangement not 
expected to be registered given the time scale and nature of the property.

3.6All children being accommodated in unregistered placements are visited at least 
weekly by their SW and reviewed monthly by LAC Review and by a Senior 
Manager convened case review. Where indicated in a child’s care plan, 
placement commissioning and searching will continue.

4. Progress Regarding the Registration of Dorset Council owned Properties 
as Children’s Homes

4.1Children’s Services have secured the use of two Dorset Council owned 
properties which have been designated to be used as short-term accommodation 
for young people. 

4.2Both properties are currently in use providing accommodation, care and support 
whilst more suitable longer-term care options are found. The Care and support to 
the young people accommodated is provided by care agency staff and are 
unregistered placements. These arrangements are referenced earlier in this 
report. Child B and Child C. 

4.3 It is Children’s Services intention that there should be no young person placed in 
an unregistered setting. Therefore, Children’s Services are embarking upon a 
strategy to register the Bungalow premises as Children’s Homes and manage 
these within the parameters of the Children’s Homes Regulations 2015 (and 
amendments 2018). This would provide a) regulated settings for the two young 
people currently using the accommodation b) the future use of the premises as 
children’s homes to provide accommodation for any other young person. 

Page 182



Page 5 

5.0Wimborne (DC Property):

5.1The home comprises of three bedrooms (one doubling as an office), a wet-room  
with WC and a further separate WC. There is a fully fitted kitchen, a spacious 
living/dining room and a large enclosed garden laid to lawn, there is hardstanding 
for parking of up to 3 cars outside the home. The home is in an affluent 
residential area close to shops and leisure facilities.

5.2  Remedial building works, garden and surrounds have all been completed. The   
building has been completely redecorated and furnished to provide a suitable and 
homely living environment.

5.3 Fire system installed tested and operational. Health and Safety Assessment has 
been undertaken and completed and all recommendations met. The building 
would meet the regulatory requirements for safety and environment.

6.0Weymouth (DC Property): 

6.1The Weymouth property comprises of four bedrooms (one doubling as an office), 
a wet-room with WC, a large living room and fully fitted kitchen with a small dining 
area in the kitchen. The home is surrounded by garden laid to lawn with a raised 
area and two sections of decking and a patio area. There is parking for two cars 
outside the home and an application has been made to put in a drop kerb for off 
road parking making the section of garden at the front of the home hard standing 
for two vehicles.  It is at the end of a residential road and has good access to 
local facilities. 

6.2A complete redecoration has been undertaken and the property suitably and 
comfortably furnished. A fire system has been installed, tested and is operational. 
The required Health and Safety Assessment has been completed, and all 
recommendations met. The building would meet the regulatory requirements for 
safety and environment.

6.3  Further remedial work was required due to significant damage to the property 
caused by the young person living there. This has now been resolved and the 
environment made more suitable for the young person’s specific needs. 

7 7.0 Further Work required to register both properties

7.1Planning permission for change use is being sought. Non-contested planning 
permission can take around 3 months to be achieved.

7.2To meet the requirements for legal operation as a children’s home both premises 
will need an individual appointment of a Registered Manager. To achieve this 
children’s services will need to recruit to these positions (Enhanced DBS Check 
will be required) and undergo a “fit person” interview with Ofsted. This process is 
likely to take up to 12 weeks.

Page 183



Page 6 

7.3As these posts do not currently exist new Job Descriptions and Context 
Statements will need to be formulated and agreed through usual council 
recruitment policy. 

7.4When a Registered Manager has been appointed and designated a suitably fit 
person to carry on a children’s home the application to register the premises can 
be submitted to Ofsted. This process will usually take between 12 to 16 weeks 

7.5During the 12 to 16-week registration process Ofsted are likely to visit several 
times in order to track progress of the recruitment of suitable staff, the formulation 
of policies and procedures relevant to the home and the council as employers.

7.6 In parallel to the registration process a staff will be recruited and trained to the 
standards required in the Children’s Homes Regulations 2015. To fully cover 
the hours needed to provide care and supervision to a young person in a 
children’s home environment up to ten (full time equivalent) care staff would 
be required. 

7.7  Good progress has already been made in completing the statutory 
paperwork, policy and procedure required for Registration. This schedule of 
documents will be inspected prior to completion of registration.

7.8 A Responsible Individual (RI) will also need to be appointed to oversee the 
activity of the homes. The RI is a statutory designation and who acts on behalf 
of the organisation to ensure the legal responsibilities are effectively 
discharged. The RI is ultimately accountable for ensuring the effectiveness of 
the Registered Manager’s practice. An RI is usually a manager within the LA 
(or organisation if independent) and the role part of their other duties.

8.0 Bridgewater Home (Agency Leased Property): 

8.1 The house in Bridgewater is currently home to a young person who has lived 
there for some time and who has made very clear their wish to remain there 
(Child A). The house is leased to a care agency who provide the care and 
support to the young person. This is a three bedroomed terraced house in a 
residential area close to the town centre and amenities. It is in good repair 
and decorative order

8.2 To regulate the arrangement, it is intended that Dorset Council register the 
premises as a children’s home. To start this process Children’s Services have 
already requested that the tenancy for the building be transferred to Dorset 
Council. The landlord for the property has agreed to this and the lease 
agreement is currently with Dorset Council Property Services who are seeking 
legal advice to ensure that transfer satisfies regulatory requirements. 

8.3 Proposals to retain the current support team working with the young person 
by Dorset Council employing them as agency staff are underway. Dorset 
Council will assume line management responsibility and ensure registration 
standards are met. Paula Bates (Dorset Council Residential Services 
Manager) is currently working with the agency director in planning for this to 
be completed.  

Page 184



Page 7 

8.4 Issues currently being followed up:

Planning permission for the building needs to be sought for approval as a 
children’s home from the relevant body in Somerset.  Further Health and 
Safety Risk Assessments will be undertaken by Dorset Council. Staff will 
require additional training to be compliant with Children’s Homes Regulations. 

8.5 Thought will need to be given to the role of Registered Manager who will need 
to be permanently engaged in the running of the home. Ofsted are likely to 
challenge any appointment of a Registered manager who has other roles 
outside of the home. This will be clarified at point of application.

8.6 As above (section 7.0) the consideration of registration of the home will take 
approximately 16 weeks following application by the Registered Manager. A 
Responsible Individual will also need to be appointed to oversee the activity of 
the home. (see section 7.8 above).

9.0 Timescales for Registration:

9.1 While it is difficult, given the key dependencies to give exact dates for 
completion of Registration and the stages to achieve this, the following is an 
estimated timescale;

 Planning Permission status and activity agreed by end November
 Tenancy and staffing arrangements for Bridgewater Home agreed end 

November
 Agree Registered Manager Status for all homes end November
 Agree parameters of any recruitment matters end November
 Registered Manager Applications submitted to Ofsted by December 13th

 All policies and procedures in place for all homes (inc. Bridgewater) end 
November

 Agree visiting schedule for Registration purposes with Ofsted end November.

9.2 It is expected that close liaison with Ofsted will be maintained to ensure pace of 
progress, clarity of expectations and avoid any delay. 

Appendix A   The attached is a flowchart of the application process for full 
application:

Page 185



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A   The following is a flowchart of the application process for full application: 

 

 Applicant (RM) submits full application as outlined in guidance 

Application team checks if complete (within two working days of submission) 

Yes 

Request for fee payment sent to applicant Application team returns form and 
explains why 

Applicant pays 
fee 

(Within two working days of payment) Application team accepts application for processing and references 
and checks requested. 

 Manager allocates inspector to application 
 Inspector makes initial contact and requests the fit person 

questionnaire form(s) if not already received 

(This timescale is dependent on receipt of requested information) 
 All references and checks received (and if required, all relevant 

planning documentation) and uploaded by application team 
 Application team contacts inspector and their manager to confirm 

all references and checks returned 

(Completed within 40 working days) 
 Inspector reviews all documents 
 Inspector calls to update applicant and arrange date for visit and 

interview(s) 
 Interview(s) and site visit completed 
 Any actions completed by the applicant 
 Inspector forwards interview records to the manager 

(Completed within seven working days of visit/interview) 
A decision is made 

 Decision to register is made and certificate and notice of decision 
to grant registration is sent to applicant 

Or 
 Decision to refuse is made and notice of proposal to refuse 

Stage 2 

Stage 1 

Stage 3 

No 

Page 187



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 189

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 203

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 207

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 223

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 225

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 227

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 229

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	6 Quality Assurance  and Audit Update Report - 2.45 pm
	CPB 141119 Audit Report Appendix

	7 IRO Annual Report - 2.55 pm
	8 Aspire Adoption Agency Annual Report - 3.10 pm
	CPB 141119 - Aspire Annual Report 1st April 2018 to 31st March 2019
	CPB 141119 - Aspire Updating Report October 2019

	9 CCG Annual Report including Emotional Health and Wellbeing - 3.25 pm
	Appendix 1 PH
	Appendix 2 DHC

	10 Annual Complaints Update - People Children - 3.50 pm
	Childrens Services Annual Complaints Report 2018-19
	complaints annual report 2019
	Annual report notes
	Summary by quarter (Childrens Services -Social Care) text Q4 FINAL
	Summary by quarter (Childrens ServicesNon Social care) text Q4 FINAL
	NEW Full Annual 2018-19 Complaints Report FINAL


	11 Fostering Service Annual Report - 4.05 pm
	12 Unregulated Placements Update - 4.15 pm
	CPB 141119 Appendix A Unregulated Placements

	16 Joint Health and Dorset Council Briefing Report - 4.35 pm
	17 CLiCC - Review of Satisfaction Survey and Receive 4 Challenge Cards - 4.40 pm (require approx 20 mins)
	Satisfaction Survey - Young People Aged 11-18
	Challenge Card 1
	Challenge Card 2
	Challenge Card 3
	Challenge Card 4


